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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHE

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present, as the chairman of the board (the “Board”)
of directors (the “Directors”) of GR Life Style Company Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), the report
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

During the Year, the Group principally engaged in (i) the provision of
property management services in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"), and (ii) property development and investment worldwide.

In recent years, the Group’s (i) property development and investment
projects including Guorui Square Block B in the PRC, Juxon House
in London, the Santa Monica project and Culver City project in
Los Angeles; and (i) property management business in the PRC,
brought significant contributions to the development of the Group.
The management team demonstrated a dynamic and professional
business style. The main direction for the management team is
to build on the Group’s longstanding experience and excellent
track record in property development and investment industry
worldwide, in order to channel its capabilities in new directions that
will create greater value for the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).
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During the pandemic period in previous years, the Group worked
relentlessly to maintain effective operations and provide quality
services, succeeding in minimising impact on tenants, customers
and staffs. To ensure long-term sustainable business growth and
value creation, the Group will continue to engage prominently
in property development and investment, and relevant asset
management services. However, the Group would be more
cautious in considering investments in the international markets
such as the United States of America (the “USA”) and Europe in
accordance with the future development strategy of the Group.
This should allow diversification and provide a hedge against the
future domestic businesses of the Group with a reasonable return
to the Shareholders. Other than capturing investment opportunities
to establish the position and engage in the property market in
Los Angeles and London for income generating real estates with
potential of capital appreciation in the long term and re-development
in future, the Group’s focus will also be on the execution of existing
projects, including but not limited to enhancement of operating
performance as well as facilitation of projects developments.
Besides, the Group will not rule out any possibilities to divest its
investment with decent return. After the acquisitions in the past
few years and execution of existing projects, the Group will be
able to broaden its income base through the stable rental incomes
generated from the properties. Apart from the Group’s core
businesses in property development and investments in the PRC,
the USA and the United Kingdom, and the provision of property
management services in Beijing, the Group will continue to focus
on searching for suitable investment opportunities which may
strategically fit into its diversification strategy and generate a steady
source of income.

Apart from the Group’s property investments in the PRC, the USA
and the UK, the Group will increase its investment in property
management services as well as focus on other opportunities in the
health, green energy and elderly care industries in the future, and will
continue to focus on searching for suitable investment opportunities
which may strategically fit into its diversification strategy and achieve
the integrated development of “Habitat, Health and Life”.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHE

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude
to the fellow members of the Board, and on behalf of the Board,
the management and entire staff of the Group for their diligent work
and contribution in the past year. Last but not least, | would like to
extend my sincerest appreciation to the investors and Shareholders
for their continuing confidence in and support for the Group over the
years. In 2024, the business portfolio of the Group will continue to
be optimised and rationalised in order to motivate the Company’s
future development and business growth. We will devote our best
efforts to generate encouraging returns for our supportive investors
and Shareholders.

Yours faithfully,
WEI CHUNXIAN

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”), the operations
of the Group were organised into business units based on the nature
of their products and services. There were two reportable operating
segments, including (i) the property management segment; and
(ii) the property development and investment segment. The first
segment was carried out in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) whereas the second segment was carried out in the PRC,
the United States of America (the “USA”) and the United Kingdom
(the “UK").

Property management segment

Beijing AOCEAN Property Management Company Limited* (3t =
SEEYEEEBR AR, (‘(AOCEAN”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, provides property management services for
office buildings, residential properties and car parks. As at 31
December 2023, AOCEAN managed 17 major residential and
commercial property projects, which were located in the PRC.
The services provided by AOCEAN under the management
agreements thereof include, inter alia (i) provision of heating supply
and maintenance services of heat exchange stations and pipeline
network; (i) provision of management services to car parks such as
maintenance of various facilities and equipment in the car parks; and
(iii) provision of property management services to vacant properties
and general management services such as repair and maintenance
of buildings and fire safety equipment and facilities for residential
and commercial property projects.

Adhering to the principle of being human-oriented, and perceiving
the market from the perspective of customers and market needs,
AOCEAN has been improving and perfecting its management
system and continues to provide professional services to its
customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERR AT

Property development and investment segment
During the Year, the Group carried on its property development and
investment business in the USA, the UK and the PRC.

o Santa Monica project

The Santa Monica project, located in Santa Monica, the
County of Los Angeles, State of California, the USA, has a
total site area of approximately 40,615 square feet (the “US
Complex”). According to the land title, the development
for the site is a mixed-use three stories development.
Total rentable/saleable floor area is approximately 25,000
square feet for commercial use and 38,000 square feet
for residential use and there are 190 on-site subterranean
parking spaces. Approximately average of 91% of the
commercial area and average of 92% of the residential
area have been leased out, respectively, during the Year.
The plan for the Santa Monica project is to lease out all the
commercial units and the residential units.

° Culver City project

Culver City project is a 36,319 square feet redevelopment
site located at the south corner of Washington Boulevard
and Motor Avenue in Culver City, Los Angeles County,
California, the USA. The land title allows for the development
of 139 residential units, of which 14 units would be income
restricted for residents at the extremely low income level,
and 1,969 square feet of ground floor would be commercial
space. Its construction started since September 2021.

The Directors consider the Culver City project to be an
attractive investment opportunity to diversify the Group’s
property development operations in the USA, as this land
is located within walking distance to the heart of Culver
City, Los Angeles, which is the hub of a number of motion
pictures and other production studios and is within well-
established transportation network. Culver City project is
expected to further cement the Group’s foothold in the
western USA and enhance the Group’s overall geographical
diversification of business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Juxon House

Juxon House is located at 100 St Paul’s Churchyard,
London, the UK. It is situated in a prominent location on
the northwest side of St Paul’s Cathedral, with St Paul’'s
Churchyard at its south, Ave Maria Lane at its west and
Paternoster Square to the east, which is a prime professional
and financial district with the London Stock Exchange and
some multinational organisations having offices in the near
vicinity. Juxon House is a grade A commercial building with
a net lettable floor area of approximately 123,781 square
feet, among which the office accommodation, the retail
accommodation, and the ancillary and storage area have
a net lettable floor area of 100,774 square feet, 20,083
square feet and 2,924 square feet respectively. Juxon House
comprises a lower ground floor, a ground floor and five
upper floors, basement storage and 20 car park spaces.
Juxon House was let to three office tenants and four retail
tenants, which contributed approximately £5.4 million rental
income to the Group for the Year.

Guorui Square Block B

The Group holds all units with a gross floor area of
approximately 68,685 square meters in Building No. 2 of
Kingdom Guorui (B e< &), No.1 Ronghua South Road,
Daxing District, Beijing, the PRC (“Guorui Square Block B”),
which are for office use.

The Company planned to sell or lease certain units of Guorui
Square Block B, subject to market conditions in Yizhuang (71
41, Beijing, the PRC. Currently, certain units were leased out
to tenants under medium or long term leases.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENRRSIT
FINANCIAL REVIEW At#% o
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
BE-Z-=F BE_T__F
+=—BA=+—H +=-A=+—H
IEEE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
Turnover X 352,640 352,276
Loss for the year AFERIE (129,307) (320,126)
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
R-IBZ=F R-E——F
+=BA=+—H +=-—A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total assets BEEE 6,412,623 6,240,058
Total liabilities BEEE 3,310,331 2,991,429
Net assets BEFE 3,102,292 3,248,629
Net debts” B 2,658,490 2,315,239
Capital liquidity ratio** BARmEN &= 0.26 0.63
Gearing ratio* BEAGER 85.7% 71.3%
" The amount represented trade payables, bank and other * A IEERNE SRR - RITREMER
borrowings, other payables and accruals and amounts due to E b FE A R R EET B R DA K R B 75 3K
related parties, less cash and cash equivalents ERBEEMBEEED
b The ratio represented cash and cash equivalents divided by current ~ ** U ERERS KRS SEYRUTBAE
liabilities
# The ratio represented net debts divided by total equity # AL R IR E S F AR A R 4R R

10 GRLIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial analysis

During the Year, the Group generated revenue of approximately
HK$352,640,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$352,276,000 ). The property management segment reported
segment revenue of approximately HK$204,622,000 (31
December 2022: approximately HK$218,608,000). The property
development and investment segment reported segment revenue of
approximately HK$148,018,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$133,668,000), contributed by the rental income from the
operating leases of certain portion of units in the US Complex,
Juxon House and Guorui Square Block B. The Group recorded a
loss for the Year of approximately HK$129,307,000 (31 December
2022: approximately HK$320,126,000). The decrease in loss was
mainly attributable to the combined effect of (i) the increase of
remeasurement gain upon transfer of certain properties held for sale
to investment properties of approximately HK$142,237,000; (i) the
decrease of other expenses, net of approximately HK$16,987,000;
(iii) the decrease of utilities, repairs and maintenance and rental
expenses of approximately HK$8,297,000; and (iv) the increase
of other income and gains, net of approximately HK$16,642,000
during the Year.

As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding balance of bank and
other borrowings was approximately HK$2,650,828,000 (31
December 2022: approximately HK$2,328,510,000), of which the
balance mainly consisted of (i) two bank loans of approximately
HK$1,572,637,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$1,573,973,000) secured by Juxon House, certain portion
of Guorui Square Block B and lease receivables; (i) other loans
of approximately HK$1,075,105,000 (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$750,214,000) secured by the US Complex and
its lease receivables and rights to future lease receivables over the
Culver City project; and (iii) lease liabilities balances of approximately
HK$3,086,000 (31 December 2022: approximately HK$4,323,000).

For details of bank and other borrowings, please refer to note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements in this report.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had available cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$305,556,000 (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$349,182,000).

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2023 was 85.7% (31
December 2022: 71.3%). The increase in the gearing ratio was
mainly due to the decrease of net assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERR AT

Foreign currency exposure

During the Year, the Group’s business operations were principally
located in the PRC, the UK and the USA and the main operational
currencies are Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Renminbi (“RMB”),
Pound sterling (“€”) and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group’s
transactions were mainly denominated in RMB, £ and US$. The
majority of its assets and liabilities are denominated in HK$, RMB,
£ and US$. Any significant exchange rate fluctuations of foreign
currencies against HK$ may have financial impact to the Group.
The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy at
present. However, the Group will closely monitor the exchange
rate movement trend and take corresponding measures in a timely
manner to reduce foreign currency exchange risk and exposure.

Human resources and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of employees of the
Group (excluding Directors) was 315 (31 December 2022: 300).
Most of them were located in the PRC.

The total remuneration of the employees of the Group for the
Year was approximately HK$73,376,000 (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$63,491,000).

The emolument of each of the Directors and the employees of the
Group was determined on the basis of their merit, qualification,
competence and experience in the industry, the profitability of the
Group as well as remuneration benchmarks from other local and
international companies and prevailing market conditions. Executive
Directors and employees also participate in bonus arrangements
which are determined in accordance with the performance of the
Group and the individual’s performance.

Treasury Policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained an appropriate
liquidity position throughout the Year. The Group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit evaluation of
the financial condition of its customers. To manage liquidity risk,
the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Final dividend

The Board resolved not to declare any final dividend for the Year (31
December 2022: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had investment properties
and properties held for sale amounting to approximately
HK$5,483,381,000 in total (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$5,485,368,000) to secure bank and other borrowings and
financial guarantee contracts. Such bank and other borrowings
comprise of loans presented in the section headed “Financial
analysis” of this report on page 11.

As at 31 December 2023, certain trade and lease receivables of
approximately HK$49,216,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$42,134,000) in total were pledged to secure bank and other
loans granted to the Group.

To secure a bank loan and a loan from a financial institution
granted to the Group, bank deposits amounting to approximately
HK$184,693,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$4,324,000) has been classified as restricted cash and
a principal-protected deposit amounting to approximately
HK$17,261,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$11,496,000) has been maintained.

Capital and other development related commitment

and contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2022: Nil). As at 31 December 2023,
the Group had contracted but not provided for commitments for
construction in progress for an investment property amounting to
approximately HK$70,301,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$169,279,000). The details of the information of the Group’s
contingent liabilities are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERR AT

Significant investments and material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures

The Group had not made any significant investments, acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the Year.

Share Option Scheme

30,000,000 share options were granted to an employee on 28 April
2023 under the Company’s share option scheme, which will be
vested after 1 year on 28 April 2024 and can be exercised within 3
years by 27 April 2026. The exercise price of the share options is
HK$0.922 per share. Further details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 April 2023 and note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

Future plans for material investments
There is no plan for making material investments or acquiring capital
assets as at the date of this report.

* for identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PROSPECT

Twenty-two years of steady development leads to infinite
possibilities in the future. During the pandemic period, the Group
worked relentlessly to maintain effective operations and provide
quality services, succeeding in minimising impact on tenants,
customers and staffs. As the gloom from the COVID-19 pandemic
gradually faded in the second quarter of 2023, the Group will
continue to focus on property development and investment, as
well as relevant asset management services, to create value for the
shareholders. As in the past, when considering investments in the
international markets such as the USA and Europe, the Group will
continue to follow the development blueprint and maintain a prudent
attitude in capturing investment opportunities so as to provide a
reasonable return to the shareholders. In the past few years, other
than capturing investment opportunities to establish the position
and engage in the property market in Los Angeles and London for
income generating real estates with potential for capital appreciation
in the long term and re-development in the future, the Group’s focus
also continued to be on the execution of existing projects, achieving
goals including but not limited to enhancement of operating
performance as well as facilitation of project development. Besides,
the Group will not rule out any possibilities to divest its investment
with decent return. The Directors believe that after the acquisitions
in the past few years and through execution of existing projects, the
Group will be able to broaden its income base through the stable
rental incomes generated from the properties.

Apart from the Group’s property investments in the PRC, the USA
and the UK, the Group will increase its investment in property
management services as well as focus on other opportunities in the
health, green energy and elderly care industries in the future, and will
continue to focus on searching for suitable investment opportunities
which may strategically fit into its diversification strategy and achieve
the integrated development of “Habitat, Health and Life”.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold, redeemed or cancelled any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has reviewed the annual results and has
no dissenting view on the accounting policies of the companies
adopted by the Group and on the Group’s internal controls and risk
management, accounting and financial reporting functions.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR - HERERERS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the eighth Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report (the “Report”) of GR Life Style Company Limited (formerly
known as GR Properties Limited) (“GR Life Style” or the “Company”),
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “we”) issued to
stakeholders, which aims to provide a balanced representation of
the efforts made by the Group on corporate social responsibility and
sustainable development during the year ended 31 December 2023
(the “Year” or “2023”). This Report is prepared in accordance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”).

REPORTING BOUNDARY

The Group has two major operating segments based on the
nature of its products and services, which include: (i) the property
management business in the mainland (“Mainland China”) of
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”); and (i) the property
development and investment business in Mainland China, the United
Kingdom (the “UK”) and the United States of America (the “US”).
The reporting scope has been determined primarily by the Group’s
management based on its assessment of the operating performance
of Group’s segments and its allocation of resources, which includes
the entities that represent the Group’s major source of revenue
during the Year. Therefore, this Report covers the entities involved
in the Group’s property management business in Mainland China
and the property development and investment business in Mainland
China, namely the Fortune Street project* (Bfm#& I8 H), the Yigou
project* (58&I8 ), the In Beijing project* (N1t I8 H), the Golden
Tower project* (%K% RH), the North Garden project* ({1t TEEE
B), the Kingdom Guorui project* (El§{ e 1878 H), the Guorui Plaza
project* (4% E5TE H), and the ChengJianManTi project* (iiE4e
4218 B) (the “Reporting Scope”).

The English name is an unofficial translation for identification purpose
only.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This Report summarises the ESG performance of the Group.
Information set out in this Report is derived from the official
documents and statistics of the Group, as well as monitoring,
management and operational data compiled by its subsidiaries in
accordance with the Group’s relevant systems. This Report has
complied with the mandatory disclosure requirements and “comply
or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide. A complete index
is provided in the last section of this Report for easy reference. In
the process of preparing this Report, the Group also attaches great
importance to the reporting principles of “materiality”, “quantitative”,
“balance”, and “consistency”, and has applied them in accordance

with the ESG Reporting Guide as follows:

Materiality: Material ESG issues identified have been made the
focus of the preparation of this Report. The materiality of various
material ESG issues has been reviewed and confirmed by the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) and the ESG
working group of the Company (the “ESG Working Group”). For
further details, please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholders
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” in this Report.

Quantitative: This Report compares the quantitative key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) as appropriate, and sets out the
standards, methods, assumptions used in calculating the relevant
data and the sources of key conversion factors in the explanatory
notes.

Balance: This Report provides an unbiased picture of the Group’s
performance and avoids selections, omissions, or presentation
formats that may inappropriately influence a decision or judgment
by the reader.

Consistency: The approach adopted for the preparation of this
Report is basically the same as last year. Any changes in the factors
affecting the actual comparative results or any of the calculation
methods are specifically explained in this Report.

CONTACT US

We highly value opinions of each stakeholder and treat them as
the cornerstone for the development of the Group. If you have
any opinions or suggestions on this Report and our sustainable
development performance, please send us your comments via email
at info@grlifestyle.com.hk.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HEREAHRS

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
(“CSR”) VISION, STRATEGY AND
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board assumes full responsibility for the Group’s ESG issues,
and sets out ESG management approach, strategy, priorities and
objectives. The Board is diverse in its composition and the members
are equipped with the appropriate technical capabilities, experience,
knowledge and perspectives required to oversee and supervise the
ESG matters of the Group. In order to better manage the Group’s
ESG performance, the Board discusses ESG issues collectively,
evaluates and determines ESG-related risks and opportunities
of the Group, reviews the materiality of ESG issues, as well as
reviews the Group’s performance against ESG-related targets at
least once a year. To demonstrate its commitment to transparency
and accountability, the Group has established the ESG Working
Group, which has clear terms of reference that set out the powers
delegated to it by the Board.

The ESG Working Group consists of senior management and
general staff members from various departments of the Group such
as operation, human resources and finance. The ESG Working
Group reports at least annually to the Board and is responsible
for implementing the ESG measures of the Group, collecting and
analysing ESG data, advising the Board on ESG issues, as well
as reviewing ESG-related issues of different departments in the
Group. On the other hand, the Board is responsible for ensuring
that the management is provided with all the appropriate tools and
resources to oversee the implementation of relevant strategies so as
to create long-term ESG value.

The Group has established a CSR Policy in order to commit to
the highest standards of corporate governance, and aims to
integrate CSR into the Group’s business strategy and management
approach. CSR is viewed as a business philosophy that creates
shared sustainable value with its stakeholders in the economic,
social and environmental dimensions. The Group’s CSR vision
and CSR Policy guide the Group’s business and operational
decisions. The CSR Policy describes our long-term approach to
specific issues in the four basic aspects: marketplace, workplace,
community and environment, which is instrumental in enabling our
business to operate in a sustainable manner. Within each of the
basic aspects, core principles and pragmatic objectives provide
guidance on practicing CSR in our daily operations. In response
to PRC government’s goal of “achieving carbon neutrality” and
to fulfil stakeholders’ expectations of the Group in the materiality
assessment, we have set environmental targets for the first
time in 2021, which cover areas such as emissions reduction,
waste management and resource conservation. The progress of
implementation and performance of such targets are duly reviewed
by the Board at least annually. If our performance fails to meet the
targets, the Board will conduct improvement work through the ESG
Working Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY

Sustainable development is a long-term commitment of a responsible
enterprise, and is deeply rooted in our people-oriented business.
We have been implementing the sustainable operational strategy to
bring a better life for the public, through our continuous efforts to
enhance the sustainability of the environment, ensure high quality
services, build an outstanding and strong service team, conduct
rigorous supply chain management, maintain a high level of ethics
and integrity, and care for disadvantaged groups in the community,
etc.

Sustainability of
the environment

REWN R AN

Caring for
disadvantaged
groups in the
community
BEEtE
EoETawicd

People oriented

BABR

High level of
ethics and integrity

B ERNERERRE

Rigorous supply
chain management
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group endeavours to create sustainable growth and long-term
value for its stakeholders, including the Group’s shareholders and
investors, employees, property owners and households, suppliers
and business partners, government and the local community. We
continue to interact with our stakeholders on an ongoing basis in
order to understand their views and collect their feedback.

Our channels of daily communication with stakeholders are as

follows:

Government

B

Qualification review
AHTE
Meeting

Bk

Direct communication

HEAR

Local community
Bt E
Website

b

Social media
AR

Mass media
RBEE

Visit

RenIEE

Mobile application

FREMRREN

&)

Shareholders and
investors
RERREE
Shareholders’ meeting
REREH

Annual report, financial statement
and announcement

F - BBRERRE
Social media

MR RS

Website

vk

Mass media

RREE

Communication
with Stakeholders

FhEBRE
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Employees
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Employee meeting
BEIEH%
Training
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Annual meeting
Fg

Notice board
NER
Internal system

AEIES

Property owners and
households
MEEETREF
Hotline

BEEEE

Mobile application
FierAER

Social media
AR

Website

Huk

Satisfaction survey
MEERE

Direct communication

HERAR

Suppliers and
business partners
HERREERHT
Direct communication
HEBB

On-site inspection
RIFER

Regular review
TEHRTE

Performance evaluation
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

We conduct materiality assessment in order to better understand
the opinions and expectations of our stakeholders. We ensure that
we utilise various platforms and communication channels to reach
out and listen to major stakeholders and respond to their opinions.
Feedback received from stakeholders enable us to make better
informed decisions and to assess and manage the resulting impact
of such decisions more effectively.

The specific steps of the materiality assessment are as follows:
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Verification
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Based on industry standards and the results of the Group’s materiality assessment in the \
previous year, the Group identifies and confirms material ESG issues, which cover the areas
of “quality of working environment”, “environmental protection and green operations”,
“operational practices”, “product and service responsibilities” and “contribution to
communities”. If there is no material change in the development of the Group's business
and its industry, the materiality assessment results in the previous year will be applied.
Otherwise, the Group will conduct materiality assessment based on the updated list of
material ESG issues.
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If the list of material ESG issues is updated, the Group will prepare questionnaires for the \
materiality assessment based on the material ESG issues identified, and invite
stakeholders of the Group to assess the materiality of each ESG issue. After collecting,
compiling, and analysing the questionnaires, the Group ranks the material ESG issues by

the order of their materiality and establishes a materiality matrix.

HEARE HEREARREEERY - ARERRBEECHAIERNRE  HERER
ARRREZNFERS UBFAEENFNEHSRE HekERaBEnNESNT
EITRHE - Wik - BERSTESER - AREHERNRE - HeREAREETERN
HeF KRR E B R AERE j

The results will be reviewed and approved by the Board and the ESG Working Group
annually.
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The Group reviews and confirms the material ESG issues annually ~AEBGFEFHNEREARE L2 LKER
to ensure that such issues can reflect its business development and %8 © AR ZE 5 BRI 2R E B 1T
industry standards. Considering there is no material change in the — #EYE « BN AKEBES N EITENERETE
development of the Group’s business and its industry, the materiality BEAXEE @+ F—FHEEUTHERBR-Z

assessment results in the previous year will be applied in 2023. The  —=F&EEH - LN ARFEPREFRE KB
following is a matrix of the Group’s material ESG issues contained in =~ 3% « # & R & 6B ERE
this Report:

Materiality Assessment Matrix

B2 bR E
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5
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o
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[a) 7. Energy conservation
o 14. Prevention of child and forced BR%IRETR
= labour
©
» 12. Operational safety B IR T R sk s Eh
= 8.Water management
. . management
% M 13. Customer service quality i SR o F/Ks
c o PRI &R
D = — P
%) ﬁﬂﬂl . . 6. Emissions management (air emissions
[0} n\l{\D\~ 11. OCC“pTO?i‘l safety and ) and greenhouse gas emissions)
2 E{ 4. Diversity and equal opportunity L, Jealt [ [ ] R (985 R 2 )
< SR EHE s e ° ®
EI_) ig o 10. Community engagement
B itESH
O iz R . 17. Training and development o HESH
[ #QI 16. Customer privacy protection R B
< gt e R 9 - -
g ES B R R | 15. Anti-corruption
< ik ¢ o REs
w iz e
c M 1. Waste management
o 5. Supply chain management 9 Eml tion and FEEYEE
[0} fy:ﬁgﬂ%fi . Employee remuneration an
8 welfare 2. Sewage discharge
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=
£

Significance of Economic, Environmental and Social Impacts
HISOE  RRAgRETE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is eminently devoted towards promoting
a sustainable working and living environment through
continuous emissions reduction and effective use of
resources. Beijing AOCEAN Property Management
Company Limited* (1t FURFGHIZEE IR H R A7), one of our
subsidiaries, has obtained ISO14001:2015 Environment
Management Certificate and 1ISO9001:2015 Quality
Management Certificate, and formulated the Quality,
Environment and OHS Management Manual to actively
reduce our impact on the environment, especially in terms of
energy saving and waste reduction.

Emissions

The Group persistently strives to operate its business in
an environmentally friendly manner, making every effort to
achieve environmental conservation. Our main emissions
are greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions from the energy
consumption and non-hazardous waste generated in our
daily operations. Due to our business nature, the Group’s
operations do not involve a significant amount of air
emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous waste. Therefore, the Group considers the
relevant emissions to be immaterial, and thus the relevant
information is not disclosed in this Report and corresponding
targets are not set for air emissions and hazardous waste.

GHG Emissions

Our GHG emissions are mainly direct GHG emissions
caused by the petrol and diesel consumed by vehicles and
the consumption of natural gas for heating and cooking as
well as energy indirect GHG emissions caused by the use of
purchased electricity and heat.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HEREAHRS

During the Year, the Group’s GHG emission intensity per m?2
of chargeable area increased from 8.59 kg of carbon dioxide
equivalent (kg CO,e") in 2022 to 12.68 kg CO,e in 2023,
mainly due to the increase in the use of electricity for the
Group’s operations and the decrease in the total chargeable
area. The performance in relation to the Group’s GHG
emissions is as follows:

RAFE  AEENGFHRKEERA
BEREENEER T = —F18.59
NT—EmESE  BNE-_T-=F
1268 TH_|tikEE  ZiER
FERNREEEBAEES RERE
BRI - AEERRE REEHER
FIRWT -

Percentage
increase/
GHG emissions’ Unit 2023 2022 (decrease)
#i,/ (hd)
BERBEHR B —BZZH —T_C BOl
Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions? tonnes of carbon dioxide 156.84 214.31 (27%)
equivalent ("tCO.e"
#HET : ERAERBHR “EiREE
Scope 2: Energy indirect tCOze 19,361.33 13,632.14 42%
GHG emissions®
HE2 - UREERE R —afltiRg 2
Total GHG emissions tCOe 19,518.17 13,846.45 41%
(Scope 1+Scope 2)
BEREHNES W-StiRgE
(E5E1+85E2)
GHG emissions intensity*
REREEREE
Average by number of households kg CO,e/household 1,306.96 910.53 44%
EPETY DMTZEREE/F
Average by area kg COe/m? 12.68 8.59 48%
HETH A ZEfLiE e/ FAK
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Notes:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

GHG emissions data are presented in CO,e, with reference
to, but not limited to: the “Greenhouse Gas Protocol:
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” published
by the World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, the “How to Prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange,
the “Global Warming Potential” published in the Fifth
Assessment Report (AR5) by the Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change in 2014, and “Carbon Dioxide Emissions
Accounting and Reporting Requirements for Service
Industry” published by Beijing Municipal Bureau of Market
Supervision and Administration.

Scope 1 refers to direct GHG emissions from operations
that are owned or controlled by the Group.

Scope 2 refers to energy indirect emissions resulting from
the generation of purchased electricity and heat consumed
within the Group.

GHG emissions intensity is calculated by dividing the total
GHG emissions by (1) the number of households; and (2)
the total chargeable area for the property management
segment.

o For the property management business, the
total chargeable area for 2023 and 2022 were
approximately 1,539,316.41 m? and 1,611,841.74 m2,
respectively.

o For the property management business, the
number of households in 2023 and 2022 were
approximately 14,934 units and 15,207 units,
respectively.
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In view of the growing concern over air pollution and climate
change, the Group has set a target of organising activities
related to GHG emission control once a year in 2022 to raise
employees’ awareness of emission reduction. The Group
has organised GHG control related activities in 2023 and
monitored GHG emissions. In the future, the Group remains
committed to the reduction of GHG emissions by organising
activities related to GHG emission control at least once a
year to raise the awareness of employees on GHG emission
reduction.

To achieve its emission reduction target, the Group
actively adopts energy-saving measures to reduce its
GHG emissions. Such measures include the strict control
over the use of air-conditioners, the lighting system, and
electrical devices in the office. Details of these measures will
be discussed in the section headed “Use of Resources”.
In addition, the Group also encourages employees to
communicate over telephone calls or web conferences in
place of face-to-face meetings, in order to reduce carbon
emissions generated from business travels. Through the
adoption of the above measures, we have raised the
awareness of carbon reduction among our employees.
In addition to the reduction in vehicle usage, the Group
successfully controlled electricity consumption in our offices
through the implementation of telecommuting measures.

Waste Management

The operation of the Group’s business does not produce
significant amounts of hazardous waste, while non-
hazardous waste is mainly general waste collected from
various property projects, as well as waste papers from
our offices. The Group has engaged third-party waste
management companies to collect and dispose of its non-
hazardous waste in an appropriate manner. Whenever
hazardous waste is generated, the Group will promptly hire a
disposal company to handle such waste.
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The Group has established a waste reduction target for
the first time in 2021, which aims to reduce the non-
hazardous waste intensity (kg/1,000 m2) for 2026 by at least
2% as compared with the level in 2020 (i.e. approximately
14.69 kg/1,000 m?). During the Year, the Group generated
approximately 5.40 kg/1,000 m2 of non-hazardous waste,
which decreased from approximately 6.68 kg/1,000 m? in
2022, which was mainly due to the promotion of paperless
office. In the future, the Group will continue to monitor
the density of non-hazardous waste and will endeavor to
organise activities related to waste reduction at least once
a year in order to raise employees’ awareness of waste
reduction.

RIR - HEREAHS

REBPR - - —FHRERENT
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B2YBRE (DT FEFRE=_E=F
FRF(BI14.69A T,/ FFHK)
thim DR A2% o RAFE - AEBE
ETHBA0RT /T AANEEZSES
Y WM_E - —FM6.68 T, TF
FKEARD - R EBRRERL
WAMMERETE - KK NEBBESE
BirEEREYTE  ARIREEE
LERBF—XERERENES - LiEs
BTRENE -

The performance in relation to the Group’s non-hazardous REEMNEEZEEEMRIBOT ¢
waste generation is as follows:
Percentage
increase/
Non-hazardous waste® Unit 2023 2022 (decrease)
#n,/ (L)
BEREYS By —B-=F T F Ok
Total amount of non-hazardous waste ~ tonnes 8.32 10.77 (23%)
BEEEDEE NI
Non-hazardous waste intensity
BEBRENEE
Average by number of households kg/household 0.56 0.71 (21%)
FPETY NI
Average by area kg/1,000 m? 5.40 6.68 (19%)
EET DT/ FERK
Note: e
5. The non-hazardous waste data did not include waste 5. EEBRENIEBRITRENEER

generated by property owners in the property management
segment, only the amount of waste generated in offices and
public areas were accounted for.
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To achieve its target of waste reduction, the Group
encourages its employees to classify different types of waste
and requires contractors or builders to separate construction
waste generated during renovation or maintenance work
from general refuse for treatment and timely transferal.
Meanwhile, the Group is committed to enhancing employees’
awareness of waste reduction, and encourages them to
use electronic channels for communication, adopt double-
sided printing and recycle paper as much as possible, in
the hope of achieving a “paperless” office. Other than the
abovementioned, the Group is also committed to promote
its external stakeholders’ awareness of waste reduction.
The Group promotes the practice of waste reduction at the
source to property owners, households, and customers,
by encouraging them to use environmentally friendly
bags instead of plastic bags, classify general refuse and
recyclable waste, donate unwanted items to others instead
of discarding them, and choose environmentally friendly
products, etc.

Use of Resources

The Group encourages its employees to use their best
endeavours to reduce waste and emissions, with a view
to contributing to the community and the environment. We
have implemented the following environmental protection
policies to reduce emissions and increase efficiency of
resource usage, which include green management, the use
of environmentally friendly equipment and the promotion of
environmental awareness.

Category Environmental Protection Measure

B RiRER

SERAEERENRE  AREEE
B TRAIRDRRE - REIME RS
ERREEREEBIET IELMEE
BRRRA—RERYF - MADFH
FREY K FEE o BRI - NEE TR
BAORIERE THREE S - S
FERETCRERE  BEFNBERS
Y EEMWERRE  FLERME

RIE AR - By LatiEiezdh - A

SETB I RIRSE NP & BB
BH - AEEAMEET ERPEERP
HEEWRBERENTE - EREER
RRRMAZLRBER - #—RER AT
ElUSEZEYETHRE - BEEYRIBHE
FTHAMTREE @ WEBRRERS

&,
~T

BiEFA
AEESBEIRZNRDEEY KB
Mo BB RRREMEER - HMEE
ATRIBREBR - U BRI IR &
BRANAME  BEGEEE  EAR
RREARIRBRREM

Green management e Establish plans and guidelines for energy and water saving

mEeEE o HIEEKIREIR M RKH T R M dE Sl

e QOrganise monthly energy consumption analysis meeting to discuss and analyse
the energy consumption data, status of indicators, and the remaining energy
consumption quota

o BB AN TTER  HTHEREUE  BRENNERRBRERETON W

e (Cooperate with local suppliers as far as possible to reduce carbon emissions
caused by transportation

o HEEAMMEEESIE B EBIBR T ROVPE

e Maintain the temperature of air conditioning in office and public area at 26°C in
summer and 22°C in winter

o BMAZTMAHREBNZEFRAEHERR - ER6ERE - LR2EBKXE

e Regularly inspect and repair equipment to reduce energy and water wastage
caused by damage

s THMERERME  BERAEBRE  RIREBEMREKSE

e QOrganise promotion and training activities to raise awareness of environmental
protection

o BMEEIFINEY - MIESRREH
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Environmental Protection Measure

RERER

Environmentally
friendly equipment

Environmental

Encourage employees to use their best endeavours to take public transport during
business trips

SGEEITHEHESSERLAATATA

Reuse office stationeries (e.g. envelopes, folders and double-sided printing and
recycling paper)

BEREAMANE (PlanEE - X - EmHIE KRR AR )

Install voice or infrared sensors to control the level of regional lighting

LB NATIMRRRIE R ST - PRI [R I8 S k%

Replace ordinary lamps in the garages of each project with LED lamps
NLEDEERAZHEEEANEBEE

Require project management teams to adjust time switches in a timely manner so
that the lighting system in the workplace and sign boards on the roofs are turned
on/off based on the level of sunlight

ERIAE HEERARSR - BIRESMRE R RBT RS AR R

Purchase appliances with at least Grade Two Energy Label as far as possible
FAJBLIRIBRIR — BN RE LA FRVIRIRER

Replace boiler burners to increase operational efficiency and reduce emission
FHARIBIREERS - R =E TR MORUE BT

Use central control system for energy management, and adjust such system
seasonally to save energy

BBTREGERRROER - A TEEITRE - LAETEIR

Adopt rainwater recycling system for garden irrigation
BBRIKEK R L IR RET TIEREVERR

Use non-negative pressure fresh water supply system to save energy
EREaBRKEERS - B1KLR

Adjust the running time of the elevators based on peak and non-peak hours
RIESIE RIS IER R AR BRI TRE

Equip electricity controllers for air conditioners in the employees’ dormitory

BIEEN=HfmRAEEH S

Provide environmental protection training for employees to raise their awareness

to environmental protection issues, and require them to apply energy saving

measures into their daily work, including considering the necessity of energy

dissipation and water consumption, turning off lights, powering off when leaving,

keeping an eye on water and electricity wastage caused by equipment damage,

and arranging maintenance in case of any damage

RETRHERFRBEE - RAHRERESFTENET - ZRETLEEREER

ARBIEET  BREZEMEAKNLEN  BFEE - THEE ITEES
FEABEMREKENER - RERE

Install sub-meters and implement “user/polluter-pays” policy to encourage water

and electricity savings

BRTFEKENEK - RIE [H588M] BRA - BEEFEHD

Promote environmental awareness and provide guidelines to encourage better

behaviours
SEIRREH - BHES - SFE%RETAEE

7
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Energy Consumption BER B
Our energy consumption includes purchased electricity and FPYE AR B IEINES HFESR -
heat, petrol and diesel consumed by vehicles and natural BEIFTERER M - S2m LA R R
gas consumed for heating and cooking purposes. MERBEDEENRASR °
During the Year, the Group consumed approximately 18.44 RAFE  KEBSGTELFRKE@ME
MWh of energy per 1,000 m2 chargeable area, as compared SEET 41844 EFREER M-
to approximately 16.42 MWh per 1,000 m2 chargeable area T FEEBETHAFTFERKI6.42IKE
in 2022, representing an increase of approximately 12%. The BFEEEIR - ABLELIE IN4I12% o ANEE E Y
performance in relation to the Group’s energy consumption is BEROBRERIRMOT ¢
as follows:
Percentage
increase/
Energy consumption® Unit 2023 2022 (decrease)
12, (GR4)
BE R OH #E° By —BC-=F —EF Bokt
Direct energy consumption
HERERBR
Petrol MWh 25.27 14.25 77%
TR S PR
Diesel MWh 15.91 - -
e JKELEF
Natural gas MWh 733.18 1,053.46 (30%)
RAR JKELB
Total MWh 774.36 1,067.71 (27%)
B JKEFLF
Indirect energy consumption
R BLIR B RE
Purchased electricity MWh 19,456.98 17,179.87 13%
HNEEE ) JKELEF
Purchased heat MWh 8,150.52 8,220.96 (1%)
HNEERR SR, JKELEF
Total MWh 27,607.50 25,400.83 9%
B JKELF
Total energy consumption MWh 28,381.86 26,468.54 7%
MELIRBRE JKELF
Energy consumption intensity
RERHEEE
Average by number of households ~ MWh/household 1.90 1.74 9%
EF & JKERS P
Average by area MWh/1,000 m2 18.44 16.42 12%
[ER-RSE KEE,FF 7K
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Note:

6. Energy consumption is calculated with reference to, but not
limited to: the “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published
by the Stock Exchange, and “Carbon Dioxide Emissions
Accounting and Reporting Requirements for Service
Industry” published by Beijing Municipal Bureau of Market
Supervision and Administration.

Energy consumption is an important matter for environmental
protection. Starting from 2022, the Group set a target
of organising activities related to energy consumption
control once a year to raise the awareness of employees in
reducing energy consumption and emissions. The Group
has organised relevant energy consumption and emission
reduction promotional activities in 2023 and monitored the
energy consumption. In the future, the Group will continue
to monitor its energy consumption and strive to save energy
by organising activities related to the control of energy
consumption emissions at least once a year in order to raise
the awareness of energy saving among its employees.

In order to improve our energy efficiency, we introduced
an Internet of Things system to control our lightings using
artificial intelligence. Meanwhile, we have formulated
the Energy Conservation and Environmental Protection
Management Policy to strengthen and standardise the
management of energy conservation and emission reduction
in properties, including regular inspection, cleaning and
maintenance of equipment and facilities such as units,
cooling towers and air conditioning systems, so as to
effectively control energy consumption and avoid energy
wastage.

RIR - HEREAHS
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Water Management

The Group recognises that water resources management
is one of the material aspects of preserving the natural
environment. With respect to water usage, we collect
rainwater for irrigation through the rainwater recycling
system, install automatic faucets in public washrooms, adjust
the amount of flushing water, and use non-negative pressure
fresh water supply system to reduce water consumption.
Water consumed by the Group on a daily basis comes
from the municipal water supplied by the local water supply
department, and the Group has not experienced any
material issues in sourcing water that is fit for purpose and
such sourcing has no impact on the groundwater or water
resources in the natural environment.

The Group has established a water conservation target
for the first time in 2021, which aims to reduce the water
consumption intensity (m3/1,000 m?) for 2026 by at least
2% as compared with the level in 2020 (i.e. approximately
83.45 m¥/1,000 m2). During the Year, the Group consumed
approximately 139.19 m?3 of water per 1,000 m2, representing
an increase of around 40% from approximately 99.49
m3/1,000 m2 in 2022. This was mainly due to the decrease
in total chargeable area, the increase in greening water of
projects and the rise in public area water usage caused by
the increase in occupancy rate. Notwithstanding the above,
the Group will continue to review the progress during the
data collection and calculation process, monitor the water
consumption and take relevant measures to achieve the set
targets.
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The performance in relation to the Group’s water AREENFEKEHEERTLT
consumption is as follows:

Percentage
increase/
Energy consumption Unit 2023 2022 (decrease)
#h,/ i)
BERUHRE B —E-=F S BOL
Total m3 214,252.00 160,362.00 34%
wE K
Water consumption intensity
FEABE
Average by number of households ~ m?3/household 14.35 10.55 36%
FERETH SNHKS P
Average by area m?/1,000 m2 139.19 99.49 40%
EEF MK FERK
We closely monitor the water consumption of our properties AR EE Y E M FEKE - WELELA
and implement various water conservation measures, TEIESKIEH - BIEETER -

including but not limited to the following:

North Garden
project
EEEER

Kingdom
Guorui project
El#i e £HIEA

Yigou project
ZBEE

Golden Tower
project
SRZER

Adjusted the time of water use for greening purposes to
consume water at intervals

A B ARAL KA B FE DA 2 BR A 7K

Equipped a water card system in public toilets to control the duration
of water consumption to reduce waste
NHBERZFKRERES  EHIRKER  BORE

Installed a pressure reducing valve to control the water volume
ZEORR R AR FIK 2

Upgraded the cooling towers to control the water flow
RASETIIRBCETE » EHERE

FHH 2023 BIHEFERAA

33



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HEREAHRS

The Group will continue to devote on-going efforts to
promote energy and water-saving measures under its overall
environmental management agenda.

Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group’s business operations are not directly involved
in any industrial production, nor do we use any factory
facilities, we did not generate a significant amount of
packaging materials for product packaging.

Regulation and Compliance

We strictly comply with all environmental laws and
regulations and strive to building a green community. We
actively integrate the elements of energy conservation and
emissions reduction into operations to reduce the carbon
footprint of our operations, so that our next generation can
continue to live and work in peace and contentment in the
community.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any incidents
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to air and GHG
emissions, discharges into water and land and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including but
not limited to the Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Water Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group continues to protect the environment and
achieve sustainable development, focusing on the impact
of its business on the environment and natural resources.
In addition to complying with environmental regulations and
international standards, and appropriately protecting the
natural environment, the Group has also adopted a number
of measures in an effort to reduce, minimise and control the
impact of its daily operations on the environment and the use
of resources. The relevant environmentally friendly policies
and measures are detailed in the section headed “Use of
Resources”. On the other hand, the Group actively provides
environmental education to its employees to raise their
awareness in this regard.
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Climate Change

As extreme weather events become more frequent and
severe, tackling climate change has become a global
consensus. The Group has realised that climate change will
affect its business operations in various aspects. Therefore,
we have established a comprehensive set of procedures to
identify, monitor and manage ESG issues, including climate
change. Based on such procedures, we have identified the
following climate-related risks.

Physical risks

First, climate change has resulted in more frequent and
severe extreme weather events such as typhoons, floods,
and storms etc., which may pose physical damage to
properties owned and managed by the Group and increase
the Group’s costs for maintenance and disaster response.
In extreme conditions, the Group’s normal operations may
be affected, and the personal safety of building managers
and users may be threatened. The Group’s reputation may
also be adversely affected if it fails to properly handle such
events. In the long run, the rise of sea level and the resulting
floods may cause damage to the facilities in our properties,
resulting in increased cost for repairing damaged facilities.

To address the above-mentioned physical risks, the Group
has formulated contingency plans for handling emergencies
in order to reduce or avoid losses if extreme weather
conditions were to affect the property facilities owned and
managed by the Group. Moreover, the Group has purchased
insurance for its staff and relevant properties to protect the
relevant interests and reduce potential financial losses. We
believe that by making adequate preparations for extreme
weather events, the potential financial impact of such events
can be minimised.

RIR - HEREAHS
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Transition risks

In addition to the above-mentioned physical risks, the
Group also faces the risk arising from the transition to a
low-carbon economy. Currently, more and more positive
climate policies and regulations are available to support the
of global decarbonisation. For example, the Stock Exchange
has required listed companies to strengthen climate-related
disclosures in their ESG reports. The PRC has also made
a solemn promise of achieving “carbon peaking” by 2030
and “carbon neutrality” by 2060, and promulgated relevant
action plans and policies. If existing compliance procedures
and business operations fail to fully comply with the new
laws and regulatory requirements, the Group may incur
additional compliance costs, which may affect its reputation.
Moreover, tenants and customers are gradually turning to
enterprises that incorporate the concept of sustainability
into their operations. If the Group fails to incorporate
such sustainability concept into its operations in time and
effectively address problems arising from climate change, it
may lose market competitiveness.

To cope with policies as well as legal risks and reputational
risks, the Group monitors existing and emerging climate-
related trends, policies and regulations on a regular basis and
is prepared to inform senior management when necessary
to prevent cost increase, fines for non-compliance or
reputational risk arising from delayed response. In addition,
we set targets for GHG emissions, waste management,
energy consumption and water management to advance the
Group’s sustainability process.
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SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

Employees are an integral part of any organisation and
the corresponding labour management practices play a
requisite role in affecting a company’s culture, success and
reputation. Our goal is to create a working environment
that encourages diversity and respect for all while enabling
each employee to exhibit individuality and creativity. With
the aim to institute a favourable work environment, the
organisation took several steps which included maintaining
a workplace culture of equality and diversity, developing the
competencies of employees, recognising, motivating and
rewarding talent, ensuring the well-being and safety of all
individuals.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant labour laws and regulations in
its operating locations, including but not limited to the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China. The Group
was not aware of any material and concluded violations of
the above laws and regulations.

Employment

Our employees lie at the core of our business operations and
form the firm foundation of our success and development.
The Employee Handbook and the Compilation of Human
Resources System of the Group set out clear regulations on
the employment, attendance, compensation, and benefits
of employees in detail to protect their interests. The Group
also reviews, from time to time, its policies relating to
recruitment and promotion, compensation and dismissal,
equal opportunity and anti-discrimination, training and
development, working hours, rest periods and other benefits
and welfare of the employees, based on policy changes and
feedback on the policy implementation during the previous
year.

The Group strives to create a positive work-life balance
culture that provides reasonable working hours and
organises teambuilding activities on a regular basis. In
order to cultivate a strong cohesiveness and team spirit,
we organise a wide range of activities, such as sports
competition and holiday celebration activities, all of which
have been a great success, enabling our employees to
strengthen their sense of belonging to the Group while
relaxing themselves.
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To recruit and motivate potential employees, the Group
offers competitive remuneration and welfare packages.
We provide our employees with reasonable remuneration,
benefits and compensation at the market level, in sufficient
consideration of their needs. The additional benefits given to
the employees range from meal and accommodation, annual
leaves, communication and transportation allowance, holiday
allowance and gifts, social insurance and housing provident
fund contributions in accordance with local regulations. With
this robust system of motivating the employees with enticing
rewards and support, the Group strives to retain talent and
envision the development of all the staff members.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 305
employees within the Reporting Scope (as at 31 December
2022: 170), all of which covered in this Report were full-time
employees located in Mainland China. The turnover rate”
of employees located in Mainland China for the Year was
approximately 15.08% (2022: approximately 15.29%).

Employment Data Overview

RABLHBEEET - AEERHER
BFNOFHHEENGFE - ZHARDE
BETIHFRR  REMEKERBTER
B - 1BF R - RIFAE THRM
MEMBENBEERREE  FK &
AAMEERL - REER KB 0 AR
BEMWERBEARIEEAES - &
FEIRAIRREY B T 428 MR HIE - A
SEBNREAT - REAZBBETHOH
EHIDE

R-ZE-=F+-"F=+—H ~A&EH
RMEHEANELEI05FET (R =%
T -H+-RA=+—H:170%) + &
wMERENETHABMNRTRENMAE
BET - AEEMATEANMNE T
MAEHH15.08% (ZFE=_—F : 4
15.29%) °

2023

EREEESE
Number of Employees by Gender
RURSENEE AR
2022
—E__—F

108

—EZ=HF

197

B Male B Female
B pegi
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Number of Employees by Employee Category
RESER I ENEEAR

2022 2023

14 12

42

251

M Senior Management M Middle-level Management B Ordinary and Technical Personnel
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Number of Employees by Age
RERSENEEBAH
100
90
80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
7 4
0 0
Aged Aged Aged Aged Aged Aged
20 and below 21-30 31-40 41-50 51-60 above 60
2088 R IAT 21-307% 31-405% 41-507% 51-607% 6057 A
—e— 2022 —o— 2023
—E -4 —EC=F

FH 2023 EBIEFTERALT

39



40

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - HEREARE

Employee Turnover Rate by Gender’
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Note:

7. The employee turnover rate is calculated as follows: total
number of employees (or by category) who left the Group
during the financial year/total number of employees (or by
category) at the end of the financial year*100.

Health and Safety

The Group aims to provide a healthy and safe working
environment for its employees to create a sustainable
corporate culture. The Group aims to provide a healthy
and safe working environment for its employees to create
a sustainable corporate culture. Our subsidiary Beijing
AOCEAN Property Management Company Limited* (1t 728
TIEEIE AR A F)) has obtained the OHSAS18001:2007/
GB/T28001-2011 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System Certificate and formulated the Quality,
Environment and OHS Management Manual according
to requirements of the certificate, to strengthen the safety
management of the work environment.

In the past three years (including this Year), the Group did
not identify any work-related fatalities. During the Year, the
number of days lost to work injuries was 98 days (2022:
184 days). During the Year, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations in relation to health and safety that have
materially affected the Group, including but not limited to the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Treatment of Occupational Diseases.

RIR - HEREAHS
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The health and safety measures undertaken by the Group
include the following:

AEERMAOEREEZ2HEEE

To ensure the physical health of employees, physical
checkups are conducted annually to avert the
occurrence of infectious and occupational diseases.

The Group often organises production safety
education and training, and promotes safety
awareness. Our employees are required to execute
the Employee Safety Production Liability Statement
under which they are committed to complying with all
safety requirements.

We provide personal protective equipment based
on the position and work nature of employees, such
as insulated shoes, gloves, safety helmets, safety
reflective jackets etc., so as to reduce the risk of
accidents. The property management department
provides frontline staff with anti-heatstroke or cold-
proof equipment according to seasonal changes,
so as to protect the safety of employees working
outdoors.

The Group carries out fire drills every year and
inspects all fire-fighting and electronic equipment
regularly to ensure environmental safety.
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Development and Training

We believe that employees are one of our most valued assets
and a motivated workforce could play a vital role in sustaining
competitive advantage and providing the best service
experience to our customers. Our Compilation of Human
Resources System has specific chapters on development
and training, which set out the employee training system
and training operation procedures. For the sustainable
development of the Group, we search for multiple facets of
employee development and training activities.

The Group is committed to creating a diversified and
discrimination-free workplace and continuously improving the
career development ladder. In order to effectively evaluate
their performance, we have a performance management
system, pursuant to which we carry out monthly, quarterly or
annual performance assessments of employees, the results
of which are taken into consideration in determining the
performance pay and adjusting the salaries and positions of
our employees.

With regard to training, we provide abundant training
opportunities to our employees. Our human resources
department issues employee training needs surveys regularly
to formulate annual training plans and adjust the training
content based on actual needs. A vigorous and appropriate
training development framework was developed as per the
requirements of different staff members working at different
positions. New joiners will receive orientation training
covering corporate culture, regulations and system, safety
training, environmental health and safety training, job skills
and work procedures. Training provided to the employees
of the property management project including but not
limited to the customer service, security management,
skills for communicating with property owners, equipment
maintenance, emergency and fire safety. Moreover,
the Group continuously monitors the implementation
of development and training measures to ensure their
effectiveness, and regularly reviews and updates relevant
measures. During the Year, 100% of the Group’s staff has
received training (2022: 100%), with an average training
hourg of approximately 36.00 hours (2022: approximately
34.35 hours).
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During the Year, employees that fall within the Reporting

Scope were trained as follows:

WAERE - ROV mE B Tk
R -

Percentage of trained employees to total number of trained employees (%)

FERZIETHAZIETEH(%)

2023 2022 2023 2022
—ZE=-= —E-F —E=-= —E-F
By gender By employee category
RERIE D RETERE S
Male 64.59 63.53 Senior Management 3.93 8.24
St BRERE
Female 35.41 36.47  Middle-level Management 13.77 12.35
i HREERE
Ordinary and Technical Personnel 82.30 79.41
—MEEME T
Average training hours per employee (hours)3
BT AGZHIRFE(NEF)8
2023 2022 2023 2022
—B-=F —E-__F —Bo=F —E-__F
By gender By employee category
BRSNS RETERESD
Male 36.00 36.30 Senior Management 36.00 37.14
B SRETRE
Female 36.00 30.97 Middle-level Management 36.00 36.19
i RREERE
Ordinary and Technical Personnel 36.00 33.78
—MEEMET
Note: f&5E
8. The average training hours per employee is calculated 8. ETABZIESHENAE I EE

as follows: the total number of training hours received by

employees (or by category) during the financial year/the total

number of employees (or by category) at the end of financial

year.
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Labour Standards

We strictly comply with all employment-related laws and
regulations, so that all employees are protected by law,
including but not limited to the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Provisions on Special Protection of
Minor Workers, the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labour, and other laws and regulations relating to
occupational safety, as well as disability, gender, family
status, and racial discrimination.

The Group strictly prohibits the employment of child labour
or forced labour. In accordance with the requirements under
the Employee Handbook and the Compilation of Human
Resources System, the Group requires candidates to
provide true and accurate personal information and identity
documents during the hiring process. Our recruiters will
then thoroughly review the relevant documents and conduct
background checks. The hiring procedures are also regularly
reviewed and inspected to prevent the use of child labour
in our operations. If it is found that child labour is employed
by mistake, the Group will immediately terminate their
employment and follow up on the situation. Moreover, to
avoid forced labour, the Group has set clear requirements
for working hours in the employment contracts. The Group
would not force any employees to work overtime against
their will in any form. When the violation case is confirmed,
the Group will immediately investigate and address overwork
issues. Disciplinary actions against any staff members who
are responsible for the cause of the incident would be taken,
if any.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
breaches of employment labour laws and regulations
related to child and forced labour mentioned above and
other benefits and welfare concerning its employees in its
operations.
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Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

Effective supply chain management can reduce cost and
improve quality, and help reduce social or environmental
risks that an organisation may face. The Group formulated
a set of strict Procurement Management Rules that require
us to adopt a comparative selection system when selecting
new suppliers, including the requirement to carry out on-site
assessments to review their licences, qualifications, service
quality, business management, material management,
the degree of support, reputation and otherwise. During
the procurement process, we require suppliers to sign
the Integrity Commitment, emphasising to them that the
Company attaches great importance to integrity and disallow
any corruption, bribery and other illegal activities, and require
them to undertake to comply with laws and regulations when
producing products and providing services. Besides, we also
conduct regular review of existing suppliers in our Qualified
Supplier List every year to ensure their supply quality and
service level can be maintained.

Procurement
Guidelines
g1l

Green
Procurement
RERE

HEEEE

Integrity /

Commitment

FRIBUERE

Qualified
Supplier List
aRET A&
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In addition, the Group takes full account of the social, ethical
and environmental performance of suppliers during the
procurement process. The Group is required to review the
following factors during its regular supplier review process:

o Suppliers are aware of environmental, social, and
ethical issues relevant to their business operations,
and have established minimum standards for these
issues;

° Major suppliers and suppliers with higher risks
have management systems in place to address
environmental and social issues and risks;

o The Group should ensure the accuracy of information
provided by suppliers by conducting reviews, third
party verifications or similar procedures; and

o All other conditions being equal, the Group should
give priority to suppliers that are environmentally
and socially responsible or suppliers that promote
environmentally friendly products and services.

During the Year, the Group had a total of 125 major
suppliers (2022: 114), all of which were located in Mainland
China. All major suppliers have passed the above-mentioned
evaluation during the Year. In 2023, the Group was not
aware of any significant negative impact on business ethics,
environmental protection, human rights, or labour practices
that was brought about by its major suppliers.
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Product Responsibility

The Group values each client and strives to continuously
improve its products and services. Each of our business
operation is subject to strict quality standards and
traceability.

For our property management business, we have a sound
environment, occupational health and safety, and quality
management system. We have established the Quality,
Environment and OHS Management Manual to perfect
our management system and define responsibilities of
the management and each department, and Beijing
AOCEAN Property Management Company Limited (dt
SFURTEY) 2SR AR A F)*, one of our subsidiaries, has
passed the 1ISO14001:2015 environmental management
system, OHSAS18001:2007 occupational health and
safety management system and ISO9001:2015 quality
management system certifications. We spare no effort to
maintain the quality of our services and protect the health
and safety of the households, tenants and employees.
The Company regularly reviews and inspects for the
quality, environment and occupational health and safety
management system. The external expert confirmed that
we have complied with relevant requirements of the three
standards, namely GB/T19001-2015 Quality Management
System Requirements, GB/T24001-2015 Environmental
Management Systems — Requirements with Guidance for
Use and GB/T28001-2011 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System Specifications. We are committed to
the sustainable development of the enterprise, environment
and society by strengthening the management of daily
operations.
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The quality checking procedures of the Group are as follows:
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REBENWEERTEBENT

Depgrtmente_al the problems identified, prepare quality inspection reports and submit them to the
Self-inspection HR Department.
HEIER SHPIERERTRENS AHPIETRAREMNERMBEY - BERNNEER

Quality inspectors from various departments carry out inspections twice a week
and supervise the rectification of problems in respective departments, summarise

ViRBERBRE - ERXRANERED

The Service Quality Department, together with quality inspectors from various departments,
review the contents of quality inspection and safety reports every week, so as to ensure that
problems are rectified properly.

REEEMHASHBANEREEGEHE R  T2RENTHETED - BREBEENR

E (A

Vv

Service Quality
Department Recheck

AR E AR R

\

Key Department _
Inspection > services.
EHIAME BRASIELEMEENIFREERNSRS - RE 58

BHmE -

Inspections, follow-up actions, communications and supervision work are carried
out every week for key inspection departments, so as to improve the quality of

BRI - DURFASIER

The Service Quality Department summarises the inspection results and prepares a
report, which will be sent to department directors, who are required to respond with
proposed rectifications, within 3 working days, including recording the rectified items in
photos, or indicating the time needed for rectification.

REEEHSHBREFERELRRE  BREZIFIVBETERBEEIETEBRER
BENERETEE  BEEEBERNM A HRRE  ANFEEREEARATERE -

A4

Service Quality
Department Summary

RS EEAPELR
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Contacting Customers

We have always advocated the service philosophy of
“customer first”, and are committed to providing the most
complete and considerate service for property owners,
households and surrounding residents to make them feel at
home. There are customer service specialists for all of the
Group’s property projects to take care of the customers’
needs at all hours, including repair requests, comments on
the services or complaints. If necessary or in case of any
problems, property owners and households can contact
their corresponding customer service specialists through the
24-hour service hotline, the on-site customer service centre
of the property project or the “AOCEAN Life” online service.

We have set up the “BFg#% AOCEAN” WeChat Official
Account, where property owners of the AOCEAN property
can apply for repairs online, track the progress of services,
contact service specialists, pay property fees, and make
comments and suggestions on property management online.

With regard to customer complaints, we have formulated
the Complaint Management Policy, pursuant to which
we shall respond to a complaint in the system within 4
hours, an oral complaint within 1 working day and a written
complaint within 3 working days. In order to ensure that all
complaints are handled in the most appropriate manner to
the satisfaction of customers, we follow up with customers
by telephone or in person, which shall cover all customers
every year. In addition, we carry out at least one customer
satisfaction survey each year to collect customer feedback
and suggestions on the property projects and the quality
of services, so as to continuously improve the quality
of our services and “create high-quality products and
provide prominent services”. In order to better understand
customers’ views about us, we have specially added a
“criticise and praise” function to the “JEFE# % AOCEAN”
WeChat Official Accounts application, allowing customers to
instantly upload photos and give a praise or suggestion for
improvement so that our service team can make immediate
response.

During the Year, the Group did not receive any major
complaints regarding our products and services.
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Health and Safety

As a constructor of the community, we must shoulder
the responsibility to protect the safety of the community,
and are committed to protecting the lives and properties
of the public. In accordance with the Safety Production
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Regulations on
the Reporting, Investigation and Handling of Work Safety
Accidents, and the Safety Production Regulations of Beijing,
we have formulated the Safety Production Management
Manual to identify various kinds of safety risks and formulate
appropriate response plans, so as to strengthen our safety
production management. We also carry out adequate safety
training and publicity activities to raise the awareness among
our staff and residents in safety issues. According to the
principle of “safety first”, the Group endeavours to respond
to different safety risks.

As the Group is principally engaged in the property
management, and property development and investment
businesses, it did not engage in the sales of products during
the Year. The disclosure of the total number of products sold
or shipped that were subject to be recalled for safety and
health reasons is not applicable to the Group.

Fire Safety
With regard to fire safety, for the property management

business, we have improved the maintenance and repair
system for firefighting equipment, including daily inspection
of the alarm system and fire-fighting equipment room,
monthly random inspection of smoke detectors, temperature
detectors, audible and visual alarms, monthly inspection
of fire-fighting facilities, equipment, escape routes, safety
exit and otherwise, and testing water supply pumps to
ensure normal operation, and annual inspection of water
conveyance and drainage systems. In addition, the safety
officers of each property project regularly check the status of
fire hydrants, pumps, fire controllers and other equipment to
ensure that all facilities and equipment are in good condition
and will not pose a safety risk.
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For improving the fire prevention awareness of residents and
their ability to deal with emergencies, we have developed
fire drill plans and carried out fire training. Not only did these
measures enhance everyone’s awareness of fire safety,
but also improved the ability of each project staff to put out
fire at an early stage, and familiarised every staff with the
property project’s fire-fighting and evacuation plan and their
respective duties during evacuation in the event of a fire.

Elevator Safety
To further strengthen the elevator safety management, the

property management business has put forward the idea
of “building intelligent elevators with Internet of Things”
to improve the safety and quality of elevators. The Yigou
property management project continued to use the installed
Cloud Elevator system, including the Cloud Elevator
Internet of Things system, Cloud Elevator big data analysis
platform, apps, management and operation platform. The
Cloud Elevator system takes a positive role as a 24 hours
electronic housekeeper to monitor the elevator running state
and predict the elevator failure statistically, and intelligently
manage the elevator daily operation, discourage and record
unsafe and uncivilised elevator behaviour.

Hygiene

For the property management business, environmental
officers of each property project carry out centralised
cleaning and maintenance work in each area, beautifying
the environment of the community and improving the
appearance and image of the community every day, in
accordance with the green maintenance standards. In
addition, we engage a third-party testing agency to inspect
the drinking water in projects every year to ensure that the
water quality meets relevant requirements of the Hygienic
Standards of Drinking Water and that drinking water is not
contaminated or harmful to human health.
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Privacy Matters

In respect of privacy and confidentiality protection, the Group
strictly complies with and makes reference to the Personal
Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
in the appropriate use and proper handling of stakeholders’
personal data. The Group’s employees are obligated to
retain in confidence all data obtained during the course of
their employment, including but not limited to trade secrets,
know-how, customers’ data and personal data, supplier
information and other confidential information. We strictly
comply with all laws protecting data privacy and formulated
privacy protection guidelines to instruct our employees to
properly handle and store data of employees and customer
data, with an aim to avoid any unauthorised editing, use and
resale or use of personal data for other purposes. We also
provide trainings to our staff regularly in order to increase
their awareness in privacy protection.

During the Year, there were no violations or data leakage-
related cases involving us, or substantiated complaints from
any external parties or regulatory bodies about the Group’s
failure to protect the privacy of customers and loss of
customer data.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group actively responds to the protection of intellectual
property rights and strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations including the Patent Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and encourages its employees to protect
the intellectual property rights of third parties. We ensure the
use of authorised software in our business operations. For
materials involving patents and intellectual property rights
of third parties, we will obtain licences and use them with
caution within legal limits to reduce the risk of intellectual
property infringement.
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Advertising and Labelling

During the Year, all advertising and publicity activities are
in strict compliance with the advertising and promotion
laws and regulations enforced in regions where we operate
our businesses, including but not limited to the Advertising
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests. In developing a promotion plan, we
did not publish any advertisement with false statement that
would bring damage to customers.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance of laws and regulations in relation to advertising
and labelling, including but not limited to the Advertising Law
of the People’s Republic of China.

Anti-corruption

The protocols and laws concerned with bribery, privileges,
and political contributions are closely followed by the Group,
and strives to create a law-abiding and honest corporate
culture. To ensure the ethical behaviour and conduct of our
employees in the business environment, the Group requires
directors and employees to participate in anti-corruption
and/or business ethics training corresponding to their
positions at least annually, and to strictly abide by all relevant
laws and regulations. During the Year, we provided anti-
corruption training materials to directors and employees for
their self-learning. Topics covered in the training, including
but were not limited to, how to undertake and practice anti-
corruption responsibilities, and disclosure requirements
for anti-corruption in the ESG report. By going through the
relevant training, our directors and employees of different
categories could have a better understanding of their
corresponding roles and responsibilities in the areas of anti-
corruption and business ethics, as well as important matters
regarding compliance in operations.
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The Group has an Anti-Corruption Policy, an Anti-Fraud
and Whistle-Blowing Policy, and a Whistle-Blowing Policy
in place that provide employees with whistle-blowing
channels and guidelines, and encourage them to report any
improper behaviours that the Group has been or may be
engaging in, including but not limited to corrupt or criminal
activities, violations of legal and regulatory requirements,
misjudgments, and behaviours that threatens the health and
safety of individuals. The Whistle-Blowing Policy also ensures
that the identities and personal information of whistle-blowers
are kept confidential. Employees are ensured that they will
not be subject to any form of intimidation, retaliation or
improper disciplinary action as a result of reporting any of the
above issues. The Group endeavours to handle all disclosed
information in a confidential and prudent manner, and to
investigate and handle each reported issue as appropriate to
its nature and the relevant circumstances.

During the Year, the Group was not involved in any
concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against it or its employees. The Group was also not aware of
any material non-compliance with the laws and regulations
that would have a significant impact on the Group relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including
but not limited to the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Interim Provisions on Prohibition of
Commercial Bribery.
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Community

The Group proactively fulfils its corporate social responsibility
to the communities in which it operates and where its
employees live. To perform as a responsible corporate
citizen, we inspire employees to render support to the
charitable organisations and also encourage them to
participate in the charitable activities of the Group itself. We
have been active in charitable activities, community culture
building, environmental and health protection education, and
meeting labour needs. We have formulated a Community
Investment Policy that sets out the core principles, objectives
and management approach for community investment, to
allow our community to achieve sustainable growth. The
Group also makes monetary and physical goods donations
to various charity causes such as disaster reliefs, care funds
for the elderly, child and youth development, education, and
environmental protection.

Festival Care

The Group has had deep roots in the community and
provided services for the community for years. We take
community engagement as an opportunity to contribute to
the humanistic concern of these local communities.

Chrysanthemums enrich the autumn colour, and peach
and plum tree disperse fragrance. To celebrate the 39th
Teachers’ Day in China, and to promote the virtues of
expressing gratitude and respect towards educators, we
have initiated a series of thanksgiving events and gift-giving
activities. Through these initiatives, we aim to convey our
deep appreciation for the hard work and selfless dedication
of teachers, while also extending warm greetings to them on
this special occasion.

Community Communication

To uphold the esteemed traditional virtues of the Chinese
nation and exemplify our corporate ethos of “caring for
and supporting the elderly,” we have initiated a series
of visitation and consolation activities during the Chung
Yeung Festival. Through these endeavours, we aim to
extend compassion and warmth to the elderly within our
community, while also conveying our blessings to them at
this moment. The Group ensures ongoing communication
with members of the communities in which it operates, and
we pay attention to social issues and events to understand
the public’s expectations of the Group. Our property
management company held a week-long property service
event to understand the needs of property owners in order
to optimise our customised service.
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT EBHASTHMEBERATNGR
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG & it @ R EAREESDANE R
KONG LIMITED 5l&
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements Section/Declaration
BEIRERE - 4:0 g 1
Governance Structure Corporate Social
BUALEE Responsibility (“CSR”) Vision,
Strategy and Governance
Structure
TrEMESEARES KREK
EURRHE
Reporting Principles Reporting Principles
FER R Al FE ¥R R Al
Reporting Boundary Reporting Boundary
b R 0 & b R &0 [E

Key Areas, Description Section/Declaration
Aspects, General

Disclosures and

KPls

TRER - EF@ -

—REEKERE
RRIER

General Disclosure Information on: Emissions, Regulation and

— M5 (a) the policies; and Compliance

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have | BERY ~ EHE R AR
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
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RIR - HERER

Key Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

FTEEHE - BH -
— R ERER
BERIEE

KPIA1.2
RRSHESIEIRALL2

KPI A1.3
RS SIEIRALLS

KPIA1.4
FARERURIRALA

KPIA1.5
R IR AEMUIRIRALG

KPIA1.6
FRSHENIETIRAL.6

wE

Description

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse

gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

Ea‘%(%ﬁ1 ) R pelREEE (FE2) R EREBENE (ANEET
B)R(ER)ZE (MASES B - BIEREAE) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

FREXSR %Fé%%i 2 (LAMERT &

EE28 - SIERETE) -

5 ) & (A ) B (A S

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

FIEASREREYES (UEETE) R(WER) ZE (RS
EREN - §HERMAH)

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

A PTET S MO BEE B IR R R D E L B IR AT IR A 255K o
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

R IE AR RBMEERYN A - RG] 7 AR
BiERAEDEL R SRR o
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Section/Declaration

Emissions — GHG Emissions
BEn — R E RSB

Not applicable — Explained
EA — T

Emissions — Waste
Management

B —BEEMEE

Emissions — GHG Emissions

PEY) — R = REEHEN

Emissions — Waste
Management
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Key Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPlIs
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—RIXBEREE
BERIER
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Description

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EmEA2 : ERFIA

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI A2.1
RARAERIEIRA21

KPI A2.2
BASRAARURIRA2.2

KPI A2.3
FASAABUIEIRA2.3

KPI A2.4
RARAE IR IRA2.4

KPI A2.5
BASAABUIEIRA2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BRERER(BIELIR - KREAMRMEL)HBER -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or ail) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

R SMERR XEELR(E - RE0h)EEE
(AFREFTREAE) REE(MNSESEN - §IEREG
®)e

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BFKERTE(WNAGES B - BIERETHE) °

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
FMPT R SRR IR R AR B AR I AR B3 L B ARFTERER

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

i 2t SR ERGE A KR _E R AA R RE - LA KR PR RT SZ 9 7KK
B IR MR ED|E L B IR PTERER B 205 -

Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

SR mATABEM A E (LA E) R (ER) B4E
BRIhE -
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Section/Declaration

B

Use of Resources

BIRHA

Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption
BERFMA-ERERE

Use of Resources — Water
Management

BIRMA-—KEREE

Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption

Use of Resources — Water
Management
BRFA—KERER

Not applicable — Explained
T — 8
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RIR - HERER

Key Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs
TESHE - EH

—REER AR
BNER

General Disclosure

—RIE

]E

Description

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

BEETABRELAAERERERFENBE

Section/Declaration

The Environment and Natural
Resources
RIBRARANER

KPI A3.1

RABAE IEIRAS. 1

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

B EBRDHEHRRTRARARE RN E
BEHEAZENITE -

FERDRIERE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

Bl K EHE RN A e H BT AEETENEARIEM
FEEMNER -

The Environment and Natural
Resources
RIBERRARER

Climate Change
RIREL

KPI A4.1
R SRAE IR RAL. 1

General Disclosure

—RIE

Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them.

RN WETAELZENERRREHE
H - REHITE o

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

BRAEIEE  BERSH - TERE - RE - TS

2 Zft - RERUREAMGFE REN

a) EER &

b) EFHBATAEEAYENAMERRAN WAL -

Climate Change
RIRE L

Employment and Labour
Practices

BENSTER
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Description

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.
BRI - EERE (NEBEFER) - FRAER Kb EE D
BE B4 -

Section/Declaration

Employment and Labour
Practices

ERENRSTER

KPIB1.2
BASAARUIEIRB1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.
IR - FRER IR B D IE B RELLE o

Employment and Labour
Practices

EENSTIER

General Disclosure

—fRIEE

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.

FARMHtZ 2 TERRRRERSREBELEEN

(@ BE: &

b) BTHETABEATENEREZRRAGINES -

Health and Safety
EREERTE

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each | Health and Safety
RAfR A NIEIEB2 of the past three years including the reporting year. EREHEET S
BE=ZF(PEERFE)BFRAITHHABREE -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
B ENIERB2.2 | AIGIEATIERE - fEEEZ e
XYy
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Health and Safety
AR E W IEIER2.3 adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored. REET S

BT E R RE LT 256 - U MABERITRER
JIE o

General Disclosure

—MRIE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRRTHEE BT TIEBE N AB LR EUR - Ml
FES -

Development and Training
EEYe=El
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RIR - HERER

Key Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and

]E

Description

Section/Declaration

KPls
FEHE - EHE -
—RIXTERERE
BERIEE
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and | Development and Training
RASR B IEIEBS. 1 employee category (e.g. senior management, middle | & &iZ3
management).
RERREEFI(NSREERE  PREERE)EHHT
FEEBEDLL ©
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by | Development and Training
FARAERIEIEB3.2 | gender and employee category. R R B
RERIRIEEIARIBS - BERETRZIN LB -

General Disclosure
—REHE

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.

BRABIEE T ek H 8 TH)

(@) BER: &

(o) BFHETABERZENEREREIROIHER -

Labour Standards
45 TR

R E R BN R A RIS RIA S5 -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | Labour Standards

RABAEMIEIEB4.1 | avoid child and forced labour. 85 TR
BB O E AR R E T REHIST -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when | Labour Standards

BB MIEEB4.2 | discovered. TR

General Disclosure

—RIE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
ERHEENRE I ERBEE -

Supply Chain Management
HEsEER

implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

faat s R A EENEED - mMENITABRIECINHER
HE - UREERITRERFE -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
FRENIEIEBS.1 | EEEI DA LEREA - HrEEER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, | Supply Chain Management
FASEWIEIEB5.2 | number of suppliers where the practices are being | {tfEHEEIE
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Key Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPlIs
FTEEE - BE
—RIXBEREE
BERIER

KPI B5.3
ISR RIEIRBS.3

KPI B5.4
BASRAABIEIRBS.4

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Description

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

LA B AR e SRR R Mt g Ak a &R
IARABBIIT R EERTTE -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

R BRE R R 2 IR IR E f KRG HE A - A
RABBESITRERAE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure

—MRIE

KPI B6.1
P A A IE1RB6. 1

KPI B6.2
BASAARUIEIRB6.2

KPI B6.3
FAB AN E15B6.3

KPI B6.4
BN IE1RB6.4

KPI B6.5
PR IE R IE15B6.5

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of
redress.

FRAMRHEERMRENRESRELZS - BE - BRLILE

FEANRERITER -

@@ B%E: &

(o) BFHBETABERTENERREELROINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEXREBREMAHTEZ S ERFEERMARKNE
Lt e

Number of products and service related complaints received
and how they are dealt with.
PR E o MR HIREF B B AR B T -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.
it B 4 SRR AR E RE B AR -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.
A E S 10 5E B2 M E mBIAR T -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.
HIE B E ERMRE RALBECR - ARAREB T REES A

RIR - HEREAHS

Section/Declaration

B

Supply Chain Management
HEEHEER

Supply Chain Management
HiEsEEE

Product Responsibility
Emaft

Not applicable — Explained
A — 5T

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Product Responsibility
EmAE

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Product Responsibility
EmEF
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RIR - HERER

Key Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

TESHE - EH

—REER AR
BNER

]E

Description

Section/Declaration

EFIREMPMER(NSENKER) -

General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption
—RR IR (a) the policies; and R&E
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BN IEAREE - B8R - BGRFROEBER ¢
(@ BUR: &
(b) BTHETABEAZENEBMERLROIHER -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt | Anti-corruption
B IE BUEIZEBT A practices brought against the issuer or its employees during | &35
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERAAHZEITASEEESRETEEENETHAR
FFVBIE R ARAAER ©
KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing | Anti-corruption
RS IEUEIZRT .2 procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. | &5
FEat P St b R R IRAR T - ARBERITRER T -
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors | Anti-corruption
RABEARANIEIZBR7.3 | and staff. RES
HmESRE TRENRESEI -
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the | Community
— R needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to | &
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.
BT R2ER T REEMELRT ENRRELERS
g EREMSABUER
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental | Community
IR AEIEIZBS.1 concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). i@
LIERERE(WHE  BRFEE - HIFR BE X
£ 858)-
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus | Community
MABEMIEEBB.2 | area, B
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wei Chunxian, aged 60, was appointed as an executive
Director, the chairman of the Company on 17 February 2014
and was appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
on 1 April 2021. He also acts as the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Wei Chunxian is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. In addition, he is also the
president of GR properties USA Inc. and East Pacific Properties LLC
(each a US subsidiary of the Company).

Mr. Wei Chunxian graduated from the Department of Architecture,
Beijing University of Civil Engineering and Architecture (1k FiEEE
TH2EP%) in 1985 and was conferred a Bachelor of Engineering
degree in architecture. Thereafter, Mr. Wei Chunxian obtained the
senior engineer qualification in 1995. Mr. Wei Chunxian has more
than 10 years of management experience in the real estate sector.

Mr. Wei Chunxian is a director of Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited and Beijing Guorui Real Estate Development
Co. Limited* (L REHFHEFZHHFR A7), the substantial
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Wei Chunxian is a shareholder of Beijing Guorui Holdings
Company Limited* (1t R B $5 12 % A PR 72 7l) while Mr. Sun Zhongmin
is also the shareholder of that company.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin, aged 57, was appointed as an executive
Director on 17 February 2014.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin has been involved in the real estate sector
since 1992. He has been engaged in preliminary work of real
estate projects and is conversant with the procedures for various
formalities and the relevant requirements. Mr. Sun Zhongmin is
currently a director of Beijing Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (dt,
REIHIZER AR A F).

Mr. Sun Zhongmin is a director of Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (it REI$: B EM AR A7), a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin is a shareholder of Beijing Guorui Holdings
Company Limited* (3t B2 A% A IR 2 A1) while Mr. Wei Chunxian
is also the shareholder of that company.

*

The English name is an unofficial translation for identification purpose only

EEEE

WITES

BAELE  BFES+tm RZT—HF_A
THHEZEANTEETREARAER UK
R-ZT-—FNA—BEZTALRRRITHRE
H-BNEEERRQRRIREEZESERE - 240
BEENHERARAAETHBAG ZES -
Itk S - 18 77 A GR Properties USA Inc. } East
Pacific Properties LLC (39 &R &) 2 KB
NR)) 2 1BH, -

ROEBEENR - NN\RFEENILEETE
BltisER  MEEEIRBLEBM - Hig
RABEERN - NWNAFESSRIZME
e RMELEEFSHERREAB T FNER

RBEERBHBERKREBEB)ARRAAL
ERBEHECERZEBRAR (ARAREER
RIZEF -
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MAFEPREEER/EZRAARR

BHREE  BFEA LR R-T—HF=
AT tREZERNITES -
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BREBRARIESE -

BREREERIERBEHFEHEREAR QA
(RRREERR)ZEE -
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MERAE K LB RAR AFIRE ©
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Ms. Li Bing (Former Name: Li Cheng) (“Ms. Li”), aged 52,
was appointed as an executive Director on 28 June 2019. Ms.
Li completed a two-year program in industrial accounting in
Heilongjiang Provincial Industrial Traffic Management Cadre College*
(BRI E TEREIRHINER) and graduated in 1992. Since
December 2016, Ms. Li has been appointed as the managing
director of Beijing Guorui Hotel Management Co., Ltd.* (1t R B4
JEEEIEER AR (“Guorui Hotel Management”), a former indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, of which was disposed
in 2021, overseeing all operational activities of Guorui Hotel
Management and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Ms. Li has held
the positions of vice president (from December 2016 to present)
and marketing director (from August 2004 to December 2016)
respectively in Beijing Guorui and her then responsibilities included
supervising sales and customer relations. Prior to her employment
with Beijing Guorui, Ms. Li worked as a finance manager in a trading
company in Beijing for several years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric (“Mr. Tung”), aged 53, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 17 February
2014. He also acts as the chairman of the Company’s audit
committee and a member of each of the Company’s remuneration
committee and nomination committee.

Mr. Tung graduated from York University, Toronto, Canada with
a bachelor’s honours degree in administrative studies. Being an
experienced Hong Kong certified public accountant and a U.S.
certified public accountant (practising), he has gathered many
years of experience in the financial and capital markets. Mr. Tung
has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Jinke Smart Services Group Co., Ltd. (a company listed since the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 9666) since
183 October 2023. Mr. Tung is the chief financial officer of Beijing
Enterprises Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 392), an executive director, the
chief financial officer and company secretary of Beijing Enterprises
Water Group Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 371), an independent non-executive
director of South China Financial Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 619), as well
as the company secretary of Biosino Bio-Technology and Science
Incorporation (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 8247).

*

The English name is an unofficial translation for identification purpose only
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Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien (“Ms. To”), aged 53, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 14 February 2018. She also
acts as a member of each of the Company’s audit committee and
remuneration committee.

Ms. To is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA Practicing) and
Certified Tax Adviser (CTA). She has over 30 years of experience
in finance and accounting field and over 20 years of management
experience in information technology audit, computer system,
finance and administration. Ms. To is the owner of a Hong Kong
accounting firm which provides extensive management and
consultancy services of accounting, audit, company secretary and
taxation for the subsidiaries of listed companies from Europe, China,
Southeast Asia and Hong Kong. She is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming (“Mr. Leung”), aged 41, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and member
of the audit committee and nomination committee and chairman of
the remuneration committee of the Company on 9 February 2020.
Mr. Leung has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Future Data Group Limited (a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8229) since 16 May 2023.
Mr. Leung has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Mabpharm Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 2181) since 17 June 2022.
Mr. Leung was the financial controller and company secretary of AL
Group Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
with stock code: 8360) from September 2019 to May 2022. Mr.
Leung was a chief financial officer and company secretary of
Prosperous Future Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Child
Care Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1259) from June 2017 to May
2019 and from January 2018 to May 2019 respectively.

Mr. Leung holds a bachelor degree of Science in Quantitative
Finance from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2004. He
has been a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountant since 2008 and has over 10 years of experience
in accounting and auditing for Hong Kong listed and private
companies.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
EERE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERWE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board is committed to maintaining and ensuring high standards
of corporate governance practice. The Company stresses the
importance of maintaining the quality of the Board by ensuring that
the Directors possess a wide range of expertise and the effective
implementation of an accountability system, so as to ensure that
business activities and decision making processes are regulated in
a proper manner. The Company’s corporate governance practices
are based on the principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

In the opinion of the Board, the Company had complied with all
code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules during the Year except the deviation of code
provision C.1.6 and C.2.1 stated in the paragraph headed “Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer” on page 71 and the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Attendance Record of Board and General Meetings” on
pages 75 to 76.

The Company will seek to improve its management and raise its
control level to enhance the Company’s competitiveness and
operating efficiency, to ensure its sustainable development and to
generate greater returns for the Shareholders.

A. BOARD

A.1. The Board’s Role and Delegation
The primary role of the Board is to maximise long-term
Shareholder’s benefit. It assumes the responsibility for
providing effective and responsible leadership and control of
the Company, and directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs in the pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The executive Directors and the management of the
Company are responsible for the day to day operations
of the Company whereas the independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of
financial and management reporting to the Board and the
Shareholder as well as to provide a balanced composition in
the Board so that there is a strong independent element on
the Board.
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A.2.

Board Composition

At present, the Board comprises three executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. The
Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin

Ms. Li Bing

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric

Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming

The biographical details of the current Directors are set out
on pages 65 to 67 of this report. The Board possesses a
balance of skills and experience which are appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. The opinions
raised by the independent non-executive Directors in the
Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices. All independent non-executive
Directors have the appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management expertise
as required by Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. A balanced
composition of executive and independent non-executive
Directors also generates a strong independence element on
the Board, which allows independent and objective decision
making process for the best interests of the Company.
The Company will review the composition of the Board
regularly to ensure the Board possesses the appropriate
and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet the
developmental needs of the business of the Group.

The letters of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric, Ms. To Tsz
Wan Vivien and Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming, entered with
the Company expired on 16 February 2024, 13 February
2024 and 8 February 2024 respectively and their letters of
appointment had been extended for one year commencing
on 17 February 2024, 14 February 2024 and 9 February
2024 respectively.

The service agreements of the executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wei Chunxian and Mr. Sun Zhongmin, entered with the
Company expired on 16 February 2024 respectively and
both of their service agreements had been extended for one
year commencing on 17 February 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

The service agreement of the executive Director, namely Ms.
Li Bing, entered with the Company expired on 27 June 2023
and had been extended for one year commencing on 28
June 2023.

In compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors, representing half of the Board. Other than their
directorships with the Company, all independent non-
executive Directors are free from any business or other
relationship with the Company. The Company has received
from each independent non-executive Director, who were
in the Board during the Year, an annual confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Company considers the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The Board’s primary functions are to set corporate policy
and overall strategy for the Group and to provide effective
oversight of the management of the Group’s business and
affairs. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board
also approves the strategic plans, key operational issues,
investments and loans, reviews the financial performance of
the Group and evaluates the performance and compensation
of senior management. These functions are either carried
out directly by the Board or through committees established
by the Board. The Board is also responsible to maintain
effective risk management and internal control systems.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Directors’ Biographies”,
there is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among the members of the Board.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year
to approve the annual and interim results, and to review the
business operation and the internal control system of the
Group. Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings
are also held to approve major issues. At least 14 days’
notice of each regular meeting is given to all Directors.
Agendas and accompanying Board papers are sent not
less than three days before the date of Board meetings
to ensure that the Directors are given sufficient time to
review the same. Draft minutes of Board meetings and
Board committee meetings are circulated to Directors for
their review and comment. All the said minutes are kept by
the company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any director.
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A.3.

AA4.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code,
the roles of the chairman and the chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

During the Year, Mr. Wei Chunxian acted as the chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company. Given all
major decisions are reserved to the Board, the Company
considers that there is an adequate balance of power and
authority in place between the Board and the management
of the Company.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment and removal
of directors are laid down in the Company’s Articles of
Association (the “Articles”).

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
have entered into service contracts or letters of appointment
(as the case may be) with the Company for a term of one
year, which is terminable by either party by giving no less
than three months’ or one month notice in advance to each
other (as the case may be), subject to retirement from office
by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 81 of the Articles, at every annual general
meeting one-third of the directors for the time being or,
if their number is not a multiple of three, then the nearest
number to but not less than one-third shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles, a retiring director shall
be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Articles 81 and 83 of the Articles, Mr. Wei
Chunxian and Mr. Sun Zhongmin will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to the code provision B.2.3 in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules, if an independent non-executive director serves an
issuer for more than nine years, any further appointment
of such an independent non-executive director should be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the
shareholders. As Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric has served
as an independent non-executive Director for more than
nine years since his appointment in February 2014, his re-
appointment will be subject to separate resolution at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Board Diversity Policy

The latest version of the board diversity policy was adopted
by the Board and became effective on 1 January 2022 (the
“Board Diversity Policy”). The Board Diversity Policy aims to
set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

When determining the composition of the Board, the
Company will consider board diversity in terms of, among
other things, gender, age, experience, cultural and
educational background, expertise, skills and know-how. All
Board appointments will be based on merits, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates for Board membership will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, experience, cultural and educational
background, expertise, skills and know-how.

Selection of candidates will be based on the Company’s
nomination policy and will take into account the Board
Diversity Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on
the Board and also the needs of the Board without focusing
on a single diversity aspect.

The Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for Board
appointments. The Board would ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference
to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local
recommended best practices, with the ultimate goal of
bringing the Board to gender parity. The Board also aspires
to having an appropriate proportion of directors who have
direct experience in the Group’s core markets, with different
ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting the Group’s strategy.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy, the following measurable objectives were adopted:

1. The Company should comply with the requirements
on board composition under the Listing Rules from
time to time.

2. The number of independent non-executive Directors
should be not less than three and one-third of the
Board.

72  GRLIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

A.5.

EFRRESTILHE
BHEZRKEZTLRREZEEREK
MITHR—_ZE-_—_F—F—HBERES
BREBZTEBE]) - EERKEZ T
EBREENEFHTINEREERKE
Zitit - RRARRAIMEEEERKE
ZI b IR ERIRE E 7 #825 -

RETEZRHEXR - ARFFEURIA
ThHEEEREZRRKEZTIL  EFE
TR Fik - KR ERBEE
R BER REBENARAE -EZRME
REBABAMES BRA - YEZEA
BRUFBGREROBENEZRNES
THAER)E SR ©

BEEZRRBEREABER—FIZ
BIEAE  BRETERRMER - Fik
&5 UERHBEER - B - WELs
KN

WRIBEABENADAIRERELE
R R E ST - REORER
EHERIRIR A KRR E B B
HEEE - AR RS ZRFERS L
AR EERNES  TERAIEE
—B % TEACEE -

EERMEEERERKEREEESR
REAFNEEZ SRS L MEESTML
- EERHEAFNENRER2ER
RN ZRRERRABRESS
HRIZ T ERGEE FE  WAEER
BRMNHES/RKER -EERNH
FHEEBLINES - HERAKEZ
LGSR ERERITARKES
I HE 2 RN 55 (B BB

RATEZRKEZTEERRME - B
RAATAIGTERRR

1. ARATREES EHRAE TRE
ZEERER T -

2. BIYFPITESABETIN=
HARBERABZ=D2—



A.6.

3. At least one of the independent non-executive
Directors must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

4. At least one Director should be the professional or
have intensive experience of the industry in which
the Group operates.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives under
the Board Diversity Policy for the Year.

The Board has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and its
effectiveness for the Year.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) will conduct regular assessment of the gender
diversity profile, including the gender balance at the Board
level and progress towards achieving gender diversity
targets. During the Year, the Board comprises four male
Directors and two female Directors.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy at least on an annual basis, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board
for consideration and approval.

Progress On and Status of Gender Diversity

The details of workforce composition were disclosed under
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report in this
report.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 305 employees
(within the reporting scope under the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report), approximately 64.6% of whom
were male and approximately 35.4% of whom were female.

The Board regularly assesses the Group’s diversity profile
of all levels of employees and considers the diversity policy
to attract, retain and motivate employees from the widest
possible pool of available talent. The Board considers that
the gender ratio of the workforce of the Group, including the
senior management, is appropriate for the operations of the
Group and will strive to maintain the gender diversity of the
workforce.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises four
male Directors and two female Directors. The Nomination
Committee considered that the Board had achieved gender
diversity and possessed skill and expertise and a diverse
mix appropriate for the business of the Company and will
review the composition and diversity of the Board annually to
ensure its continued effectiveness.

Measures to develop a pipeline of potential successors to
achieve gender diversity:

° The Board will identify potential successors internally,
having regard to the industry expertise, leadership
skills, decision making capabilities, communication
skills and professional qualification of the staff.

° The Board will also consider outside sources such as
head hunter and referral.

The Board is not aware of any factors or circumstances
which make achieving gender diversity across the workforce
(including senior management) of the Group more
challenging or less relevant.

Induction and Continuing Development for

Directors

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Reading materials on relevant topics have been issued to
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses. Newly appointed Director
has received formal and tailored induction and training
on his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
the relevant regulatory requirements.
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According to the records maintained by the Company, the
Directors received the following training with an emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed issuer
in compliance with the requirements of the CG Code on

continuous professional development during the Year:

EEERRS

REBEARRBPIRIF L RAFE -
BIR(EEERTADERFERXHR
ZHE  BEECDEXUATEI - HhE
EIMAREENAR  BENET:

Attended
seminars/
Read briefings
materials HERE
Directors BE REM R BN
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Wei Chunxian AR E v v
Mr. Sun Zhongmin HHRTE 4 4
Ms. Li Bing ES v
Independent Non-executive Directors B IENITEE
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERESEE v v
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MRELZL v v
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming RIS A& v
During the Year, all Directors confirmed that they have RAFE  FIEESHER  REHEE

complied with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code.

TCREEATRIDZTRAMEXFECA4
fik -

Directors’ Attendance Record of Board and A8. EEHFEEERTERBREXELZ
General Meetings RC 8%
There were five Board meetings and one general meeting RAFE SRITANEEREEN—
held during the Year. The attendance of the Directors at the REERE  -ESHFESRERELR
Board meetings and the general meeting was as follows: RAEMBEROT :
No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure of
the Directors
EEEYRLE
BIEBRE
Board General

meeting(s) meeting(s)
Directors BE EERER BRAE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Wei Chunxian A S A 5/5 1/

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (FEFTHAEH)

Mr. Sun Zhongmin FHREE 5/5 1/1
Ms. Li Bing TR+ 5/5 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BB ITEE
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric Epl g 5/5 0/1
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HERELZ+ 5/5 1/1
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming RIS A 5/5 1/1

F3 2023 BHEFERAR 75



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

A.9.

A.10.

According to code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code,
independent non-executive Directors and other non-
executive Directors should attend the annual general
meeting and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. The independent non-executive Directors
of the Company, Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien and Mr. Leung
Louis Ho Ming attended the annual general meeting of the
Company in 2023 whereas Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric, the
independent non-executive Director of the Company, was
unable to attend the annual general meeting due to other
business commitments.

Corporate Governance Code

The Board is committed to maintaining and ensuring high
standards of corporate governance practice. The Company
stresses the importance of maintaining the quality of the
Board by ensuring that the Directors possess a wide
range of expertise and the effective implementation of
an accountability system, so as to ensure that business
activities and decision making processes are regulated in a
proper manner.

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out
in the CG Code throughout the Year except the deviation
of code provision C.1.6 and C.2.1 stated in the paragraph
headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” on page 71
and the paragraph headed “Directors’ Attendance Record of
Board and General Meetings” on pages 75 to 76.

Compliance with Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry to all Directors,
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
Year.

. Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the compliance of the Model Code and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code.
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A.12. Nomination Policy

The latest version of the nomination policy was adopted by
the Board and became effective on 1 January 2022 (the
“Nomination Policy”).

The Nomination Policy aims to set out the approach to
guide the Nomination Committee in relation to the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of the Directors. The
Nomination Policy aims to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by
giving due consideration to criteria including but not limited
to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(@) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to
gender, age, experience, cultural and educational
background, expertise, skills and know-how;

(b) Sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties; the
number of listed and non-listed companies they serve
should be limited to reasonable numbers;

(c) Qualifications, including accomplishment and
experience in the relevant industries the Company’s
business is involved in;

(d) Independence;

(e) Reputation for integrity;

® Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring
to the Board; and

(9 Commitment to enhance and maximize Shareholders’
value.
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The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board
for the appointment of a Director in accordance with the
following procedures and process:

(@) The Nomination Committee will, giving due
consideration to the current composition and size
of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus
the search effort;

(b) The Nomination Committee may consult any source it
deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertising, recommendations from an independent
agency firm and proposals from Shareholders with
due consideration given to the Criteria;

(@) The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as interviews, background checks,
presentations and third-party reference checks;

(d) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold
a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to,
if thought fit, approve the recommendation to the
Board for appointment;

(e) The Nomination Committee will thereafter make
the recommendation to the Board in relation to
the proposed appointment and the proposed
remuneration package;

(f) The Board will have the final authority on determining
the selection of nominees and all appointment of
Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the consent
to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any
other similar filings requiring the relevant Director to
acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director,
as the case may be) to be filed with the Companies
Registry of Hong Kong;
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In order to be eligible to be elected as Director
at any general meeting, the candidate should be
recommended by the Board; or a notice in writing
by a member of the Company given his intention to
propose such candidate, and also a notice in writing
by the candidate of his willingness to be elected.
These notices should be given to the company
secretary of the Company within the lodgment period
specified in the relevant Shareholder circular (a) a
written nomination of the candidate, (b) a written
confirmation from such nominated candidate of
his or her willingness to stand for election, and (c)
biographical details of such nominated candidate
as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
Particulars of the candidate so proposed will be sent
to all Shareholders for information by a supplementary
circular; and

In the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors
by giving due consideration to the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring Director(s)
including the attendance of Board meetings and,
where applicable, general meetings, and the level
of participation and performance on the Board;
and whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to
satisfy the criteria, thereafter recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment. The
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of
the proposed re-election of Director(s) at the general
meeting.

The Nominations Committee should include in its
recommendation to the Board for consideration the
justifications for re-appointing a member who has completed
three consecutive terms of service (each of three years). For
an independent non-executive director who has completed
more than three consecutive terms of service (i.e. nine
years), the recommendation for re-appointment should
state why the Nominations Committee believes he/she is
still independent and should be re-appointed, including the
factors considered, the process and the discussion of the
Nominations Committee in arriving at such determination,
and such Director’s further appointment should be subject
to a separate resolution to be approved by Shareholders.
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B.1.

Details of the retiring members who are to stand for re-
appointment at an annual general meeting, including their
personal particulars and the Board’s recommendations,
will be included in a circular to be sent to the Shareholders
for consideration in accordance with the applicable Listing
Rules.

The Board will be ultimately responsible for the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee will launch a formal process to
review the Nomination Policy periodically to ensure that it
is transparent and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s
needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practice. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its directors and
officers.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As part of good corporate governance, the Board has set
up an audit committee, a nomination committee and a
remuneration committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been
established with defined written terms of reference, which
are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. All the Board committees should report to the
Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

Audit Committee

The Board set up the audit committee in July 1999 with
specific written terms of reference (which have been revised
subsequently to cope with changes) (the “Audit Committee”)
which clearly deal with its authority and duties. The Audit
Committee’s role is to review the Group’s financial reporting,
internal controls and corporate governance issues and to
make relevant recommendations to the Board.
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During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
members of the Audit Committee have been and are:

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric (Chairman)
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming

The corporate governance functions performed during the
Year included the following:

(@) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

(©) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and directors; and

(e) to review the issuer’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has

performed the following tasks during the Year:

(i) reviewed the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with the applicable standards;

(i) reviewed the draft interim and annual financial
statements and the related draft results
announcements;

(iii) reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,

including the key audit matters of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 which are set out in the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022,
with the external auditor of the Company;
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(iv) reviewed the audit planning for the Year;

(v) reviewed the change in accounting standards and
assessed the potential impacts on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements with external
auditor of the Company;

(vi) discussed with the management the relevant issues
including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions and ensured
that the management has discharged its duty to
have an effective internal control system including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and
budget;

(vii) reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit
functions of the Group;

(vii)  reviewed the continuing connected transactions
of the Company with the external auditor of the
Company; and

(ix) made recommendation on the appointment or
reappointment of the external auditor and approved
their terms of engagement.

Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted
access to the auditor and all senior management of the
Group. During the Year, the Audit Committee had met twice
with the external auditor of the Company.

The audit committee has reviewed the annual results and
has no dissenting view on the accounting policies of the
companies adopted by the Group and on the Group’s
internal controls and risk management, accounting and
financial reporting functions.

All members of the Audit Committee possess in-depth
experience in their profession. All of them possess
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
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B.2.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Year
under review and the attendance of its members was as
follows:
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No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the Directors

EETHREES
Directors 2= BITHFBERH
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric (Chairman) &3 504 (£ /) 2/2
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien Ti‘%‘ii'éﬁj: 2/2
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming JEIS ST 2/2
Nomination Committee B.2. REZRT
The Board set up the Nomination Committee in March E%%E"_7 TLF= ﬂﬁ_ﬂm%éﬁ
2007 with specific written terms of reference (which have WEEEBRESE(RELEY

been revised subsequently to cope with changes) which
clearly deal with its authority and duties. The Nomination
Committee’s roles are principally to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes; identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and make recommendations to the Board
in this regard; and assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

In compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules, the
Nomination Committee is chaired by the chairman of the
Board and comprises a majority of independent non-
executive Directors.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
members of the Nomination Committee have been and are:

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman)
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming

,Z%ﬂkuT)Ei\ i LR MBE -
REZBEZBETEER  TH%EMH
EERMATORE - KRR KRBT
e NEERRERER  WEs
BRRREENRBEANE  UptRE
ERRHER - RAMEBIUIFRTES
o CAVA

B LETRAIEI2TAIEZIRTE - 1BE
ZESHEERTHFEETEE KB
BYIERITEREARAZH -

RAFELREEAREEH  RRE8
SHRER

RMEBELE(TE)
Rl
BTt

1R 2023 BHEEERAT 83



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

B.3.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during
the Year included the following:

(i) to review the structure, size and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services)
of the Board and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) to assess on the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and

(iii) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors and to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
Year under review and the attendance of its members was as
follows:
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No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the Directors

EERHREE
Members of Nomination Committee EEZZEE€KE BITERRE
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman) BB E(EE) 11
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERERsE 11
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming PSS 171

Remuneration Committee

The Board set up the Remuneration Committee in May
2005 with specific written terms of reference (which have
been revised subsequently to cope with changes) (the
“Remuneration Committee”) which clearly deals with its
authority and duties. The Remuneration Committee’s role is
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure for directors and senior management
and to ensure that they are fairly rewarded for their individual
contribution to the Group’s overall performance, having
regard to the interests of the Shareholders. The principal
duties of the Remuneration Committee include determining
the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors
and senior management with reference to corporate goals
and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time. No
Director or any of his/her associates may be involved in any
decisions as to his/her own remuneration.
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In accordance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, the
Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive Director and comprising a majority of independent
non-executive Directors.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the members
of the Remuneration Committee have been and are:

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during
the Year included the following:

(i) determined the remuneration policy of the executive
Directors;
(ii) assessed the performance of the executive Directors;

(iii) approved the term of the executive Directors’ service
contracts;

(iv) reviewed and/or approved matters relating to the
share option scheme of the Company;

(v) reviewed and recommended the remuneration
package of the independent non-executive Directors;
and

(vi) reviewed and recommended the remuneration
package for the executive Directors and management
of the Company.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
and considered the grant of share options to an employee
of the Company taking into consideration the requirements
set forth in Rules 17.03F, 17.06B(7) and 17.06(8) of Listing
Rules. Save as disclosed, there was no other material
matters relating to the share option scheme of the Company
which required review or approval by the Remuneration
Committee.
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the
Year under review and the attendance of its members was as
follows:

REEFENERIT-RFHNEESS
o HRERHEERIT

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the Directors

Members of EERHREE
Remuneration Committee FHEEERE RITEZIRHY
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming (Chairman) — 2844 (/%) 11
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERESLE 11
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HEELL 11

RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION
AND REPORTING OF ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the accounts which were prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. A statement by the auditor about their reporting
responsibilities is set out on pages 137 to 144 of this report.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Risk Management Structure

The Board is responsible to maintain an effective risk
management and internal control systems, in order to
safeguard the interest of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole. However, the risk management and internal
control systems were designed to manage rather than
eliminate all risks exposure of the Group. It does not provide
an absolute shield against inherent limitations such as
unpredictable risks, uncontrollable events such as natural
catastrophes, fraud, and errors of judgement, but it may
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatements or losses.

The Company established an Enterprise Risk Management
framework in order to implement effective risk management.
Our risk management structure is simple and clear, which
has categorical duties.
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Board of Directors

The Board plays an important role in the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Board is
responsible for establishing the risk management framework
and risk management policies, and the relevant policies
are aiming to assess and determine the Group’s business
strategies and defining the risk tolerance. The Board,
with assistance from the Audit Committee, monitors risk
management and internal control systems in an on-going
manner and reviews, at least annually, the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems.

Audit Committee

Audit Committee stands at the highest level of the risk
management and internal control systems below the Board.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in overseeing the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems by
providing advice and support in respect of all risk matters,
including on-going monitoring of the implementation of
risk management procedures, reviewing the Group’s risk
register, reviewing and approving the internal control review
plans and results.

Management

The management of the Group is responsible for identifying
and continuously monitoring strategic, operational, financial,
reporting and compliance risks associated with the daily
operations of the Group. The management reports to the
Board and Audit Committee on the relevant risks and their
changes. The management also formulates various internal
control measures to mitigate the risks, and rectifies internal
control deficiencies they identified in a timely manner.

Independent Professional Internal Control Advisor

To ensure the independence of the internal control review,
the Group has outsourced the internal audit function to an
independent professional internal control advisor (the “Internal
Control Advisor”), whose work scope includes reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management procedures
and effectiveness of the internal control systems. The Internal
Control Advisor formulates the internal control review plan
based on risk assessment and gets approval from Audit
Committee, and will communicate with the Audit Committee
about the review results directly.
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Risk Management Procedures

The Group has established the Enterprise Risk Management
framework so as to effectively manage all kinds of risks faced
by the Group. The Enterprise Risk Management framework
defined the procedures for identifying, assessing, responding

REEEERF

AEERT TEXRAREBERAAN
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to and monitoring risks and their changes. Through
regular discussion with each operating function, the Group
strengthened the understanding of risk management so that

all employees will understand and report the risks timely IBRIBES]
which enhanced the Group’s ability to identify and manage
risks.
Define risk Identify Assess the
scope —D potential risks —D extent of risks
a1 R E #n B R b AR EERE

N e

Formulate
responding measures

T FE S R 15 1

Monitoring and
report changes

ERREREL

In the course of risk identification, the management liaises
with each operating function, collect significant risk factors
that affect the Group from the bottom to the top, in various
aspects including strategic, operational, financial, reporting
and complying aspects. After establishing risk assessment
scope, the management will assess the potential impact
and possibilities of the risks and prioritise the risks, and
appropriate internal control measures will then be developed
to mitigate the risks identified and monitor the changes of
risks in an on-going manner.

Main features of our risk management and

internal control systems

Maintain an effective internal control system

(operational level)

° Establish clear internal control policies and
procedures, clearly define the responsibilities,
authorities and accountabilities of each key position;

° Establish code of conduct, convey to all employee
the Group’s requirements on integrity and ethic;
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° Establish whistle blowing mechanism, encourage
employees to report incidents of misconduct or fraud;

o Establish appropriate level of information technology
assess rights, avoid leakage of price sensitive
information;

° Establish inside information disclosure policy,

including reporting channels and responsible person
of disclosure, unified response to external enquiries
and obtain advice from professional financial advisors
or the Stock Exchange, if necessary.

° Establish policies and systems to promote and
support anti-corruption laws and regulations.

In 2023, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the
internal control policies and procedures of the Group,
including those related to financial reporting and Listing
Rules compliance and the management also conveyed
confirmation of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems to the Board and the Audit
Committee. The Board has considered the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions during the evaluation of the
review of risk management and internal control systems.

On-going risk monitoring (risk management level)
Based on the risk management framework and risk
management policies established by the Board, the
management communicates with each operating function
in order to understand the significant risk factors that affect
the Group from the bottom to the top. The Group has
established a risk register to record the risks identified and
the management will assess the potential impact of each
major risk and develop relevant internal control measures.

In 2023, the management conducted evaluation of the risk
management structure and procedures of the Group and
submitted a risk assessment report to the Board and Audit
Committee, including a 3-years internal control review plan,
to enable the Board and Audit Committee to effectively
monitor the major business risks of the Group and know
about how the management should respond to and mitigate
such risks.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

We established appropriate level of information technology
assess rights, avoiding leakage of price sensitive information.
We also establish inside information disclosure policy,
including reporting channels and responsible person of
disclosure, unified response to external enquiries and obtain
advice from professional financial advisors or the Stock
Exchange, if necessary, in order to ensure compliance
with the Listing Rule requirements regarding handling and
dissemination of inside information.

Independent review

The Group has engaged an external Internal Control Advisor
to conduct an internal control review on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and to submit the internal review report to the Audit
Committee.

The Internal Control Advisor has completed the internal
control review work during the Year. The review covered
transactions incurred by the Group during the period from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, and the scope of
the review included the effectiveness of the internal control
measures at the corporate level and operational level. The
Internal Control Advisor has reported the results of the
internal control review work to the Audit Committee.

The management has established remediation and
improvement plan for internal control weaknesses identified.
Nothing has come to the Audit Committee’s or Board’s
attention that the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are inadequate or ineffective.
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Principle risks and uncertainties

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties faced

by the Group and their changes during the Year:
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B i TERREREE 25
Economic  Affected by economic downturn, the number of - Regularly analyse overall No change
downturn people who are able to purchase or rent property economic changes, adjust L
K RTT decreased. We may need to lower the selling business strategies, and
price or rental rate of our properties or may even communicate promptly with
not be able to sell or lease them. We might also managers in business areas
be unable to increase our property management/ through video conferencing
other additional service fees due to the overall to implement recommended
worsen economic conditions. improvements.
REBETIMRE AR hBESARNENA - TESTERBCEESY  #BEX
B BB ETRADENEEIEE &5 BEHEE - WRBHRGERREE
BORME S o TRAT A AR B A A T BEDA EEBEHEEASBBEERE
REVMEERE /HMBINRBHER - FIEo
- Conduct due diligence and
understand local economy and
property market outlook before
acquisition of new property
investment projects.
- WEREYEREERRETR
BT THEMEERDER
BHIR -
Human Insufficient staff or incompetency of our staff - Beclose to the market pay No change
Resources  might affect our ability to provide quality service dynamics, control staff turnover &£t
ANER to meet our customers’ demands. In addition, rate.

labour costs in mainland China are expected to
increase which might also decrease our profits or
competitiveness.
BETABTEHEN TR EZERMEHRES
PRI MR B PR REEES) BN - PEIRES
S8 S ATEERIE IR AT B & I S5 IR0 B0 A
RBES o

SR HBITBEE - IRk -

Recruitment planning every year,
timely replace departed staff.
BRETHERE  REHAR
KAF o

Provide adequate training for staff
to improve staff service standards.
RETIRUFREI - RABL
PR IKAE o
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B it TERRERER 25
Brand Name If we fail to maintain our service level in customer - Regular self-review to maintain No change
miE service, engineering, cleaning or security, and enhance the quality of service &1},
customers may lose confidence which will have and engineering.
a negative impact on our Company’s reputaton - FEIETRIEE 2L ARE KL
and image. RARBMIIEEEKF o
SEEREEFRREKT  EEPRE - Ti2E
2 BRIREIIEFRREARERE  FEFX -  Investigate customers’ level of
EEH - HATBRBRFKEKBABENY satisfaction, monitor the latest
2. ratings for each project, follow up
timely on customers’ complaints.
- HERFWREE ERZEEN
BEAHR  REREFBIEE
HEITIREE -
- Provide regular training for staff
to ensure that employees have
sufficient capacity to deal with
problems.
- THEIEI  MREIARH
E%j]@f%ﬁﬁah °
Outsourcing  Failure by service providers and contractors to - Conduct strict assessment and No change
AN progress projects to their completion on time follow due tender procedures £ -1g

and on the unsatisfactory quality of the work may in selecting outsourcing service

incur extra cost to the Group in order to complete providers.
the work. - EEENERBEHEREETR
FRAG e AR A R ST T H T ERRHE BRI -

fEmEARINIERE - At e ETPURMREN
MERE  ALHMFREMBIRNAATRE -
FAIE-

Our project manager and legal
staff would review the terms of an
outsourcing agreement to ensure
the duty and responsibility of each
party therein are clearly defined
and stated.

- BELBNEBABEEINEE
RIETR - HERE BB ESUEM

AREE o

- Evaluate and update performance
of outsourcing service providers
on regular basis to ensure their
service standards meet the
Group’s requirements.

- THRENBRBHRERRR
BRERBKEFEREEX -
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
[ B ik TERRERER 25
Natural Inappropriate handling of emergency situations - Put in place various contingency ~ No change
disasters triggered by natural disasters (e.qg. fire, electric plans and strategies and have £:3-01g
BAKE shock, traffic accident etc.) or epidemic outbreaks designated persons-in-charge
may lead to substantial/numerous claims and to deal with specific risks, and
liabilities against the Group and damage our conduct of regular disaster
reputation, in addition to human casualties and prevention drills.
direct losses on assets. - HESEEEEYUTBRENRE
AEETERBRINERE B AXEHIIA FIVEREHBEA - WEHME
K BE - RBEINEF)IERRELEN B ISR
RSlBARGT REREERKIN  TAEL
Z'Kilﬁi-fj(i/ SERE REEMT URB - Periodic checks on equipment
EEBEEE - for emergency and regular
inspections would be conducted
so that any source of severe
hazards could be identified as
early as possible.
- TEHmER GRS - M&Lﬁa
BUE - RRERERERIR
- Maintain third party liability
insurance to diversify our risk
exposure and review the scope
and amount insured regularly.
- BEE-EZEIRBRUSHE
b - EHREHRBEEFREE o
Occupational Failure by the Group to put in place appropriate —  Put in place various work safety ~ No change
healthand  emergency equipment, formulate and oversee procedures, strictly observe L
safety the implementation of various safety procedures and implement precautionary
B that result in injuries of our employees in work measures for all duties and
ZE may incur liability to the Group against any procedures that are hazardous in

compensation, bring adverse effect to our
reputation and cause an outflow of talents.
B R RE S E ERE ST EERE

ZRRFOHT  SIBMETETERRE - &6
AREREA LRERMT  HRRMBEEREAR
FE  ARBIRATRK

nature. Designated persons would
be appointed to oversee the
implementation of such measures.
HERETIERT  BREHITE
BEEERILE TIER LA
Pragtait - WIEREE ABRE

BTN

Provide training on safety and
raise the awareness of our
employees on occupational
safety.

L 2E
RENEH

Mo 8 THH

Conduct regular inspection on
safety equipment to ensure they
are in good working conditions.
THREL2RE  ERREE
fEIEE -
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B it TERRERER 25
Interest rate  The Group holds borrowings on floating interest. - Closely monitor the interest rate,  No change
R=& This may increase the borrowing cost and have and report to the management fi3edld
an effect on profits due to the increase in interest timely on the interest rate
rates. changes.
SERBNFBMNESTENER  BHERM - EYEEMNERRL  REAER
IR B Mg mEERA - FEFE - B R B FI R 2 Y -
- Formulate policy and take
measures to reduce interest rate
risk.
- %‘JEP&‘ BRI BREREE b P A A
&\ o
Foreign The Group holds assets and liabilities - Actively monitor the fluctuation in -~ No change
exchange  denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, foreign exchange rates, consider &},
rate US dollars and GBP. Foreign exchange rate all necessary actions (such as
[ & fluctuations may bring exchange losses to the reduce loan/investment, hedging).
Company. - BEEREXRR  EEER
SERBNET - AR - %ﬁ&**ﬁ—*ﬂ%iﬁ —IBETE (WEPEE K
EREE INEEX KB HERARRHRERL B ERERE) o
1Bk o
- Perform sensitivity analysis to
quantify currency exposure.
- ETEBESN - BtEBRE
B -
Relevant Changes in policies, laws and regulations onreal -  Actively monitor changes of laws ~ No change
politics, estate might increase our operating expenses. and regulations associated with &,

policies and  If we breach relevant regulatory and governing

regulations  requirements, such as lack of ability to adjust

on real estate the operational procedures timely, the Group

BRIEMZE may incur losses due to penalty, suspension or

EapElaNE interruption of operation.

B BER BERE ERKEEEREENEGENERR

R BRxX - EREEREBERAREEER(BE
AR RS ERFER) Mg 2R E
BRX A5 - FRETS B S Em oI BUak -
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the business of the Group.

i EEOES R L
RERED -

Consult legal staff or legal

advisors to ensure the Group’s
compliance with policy, regulatory

and governing requirements.

i u@/i?&)\/\j/fi%gmﬂjﬁ@1%$
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company, Mr. Lam Wai Kei,
is delegated by an external service provider. The external
service provider’s primary contact person at the Company
is Ms. Lee Sum Yee, a director of human resources and
administration of the Company.

During the Year, the company secretary of the Company has
taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditor is Ernst & Young. The
remuneration paid/payable to Ernst & Young in respect
of audit services and permissible non-audit services for
the Year amounted to approximately HK$2,250,000 and
HK$594,000 respectively. The permissible non-audit services
of HK$594,000 comprised (i) agree-upon procedures on
interim financial information of approximately HK$400,000;
and (i) other non-audit and tax services of approximately
HK$194,000.

SHAREHOLDER'’S RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting
Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, a general meeting of
the Company can be convened by a written request signed
by Shareholders holding at least 5% of the total rights of
all the Shareholders having a right to vote at that meeting,
stating the nature of the business to be dealt with at that
meeting, and deposited at the Company’s registered office.
Directors must call a general meeting within 21 days after the
date on which they become subject to the requirement and
the meeting so called must be held on a date not more than
28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting.

The rights of Shareholders and the procedures for
demanding a poll on resolutions at Shareholders’
meetings are contained in the Company’s constitutional
documents. Details of such rights to demand a poll and
the poll procedures are included in all related circulars to
Shareholders and will be explained during the proceedings
of meetings.
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Poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange on the same day of the
Shareholders’ meeting.

The general meeting of the Company provides a forum
for communication between the Shareholders and the
Board. The Chairman, as well as the chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee or in their absence, other members of the
respective committees, generally will attend the annual
general meeting and other relevant Shareholders’ meetings
to answer Shareholders’ queries at the meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at Shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including election of
individual directors.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings
Shareholder(s) representing at least (a) 2.5% of the total
voting rights of all the Shareholders having the relevant
right to vote at the meeting; or (b) 50 Shareholders having
the relevant right to vote at the meeting, have the following
rights:

(1) such Shareholder(s) may, when an annual general
meeting is to be held, request the Company to
give, to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of an
annual general meeting, notice of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at that annual general meeting; and

2) if such Shareholder(s) would like to express their
views to a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution
or other business to be dealt with at a general
meeting, they can submit a written statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to that matter or
business and request the Company to circulate their
written statement to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the meeting.

For further details on the procedures and timeline in
connection with the above, Shareholders are kindly
requested to refer to Sections 580 and 615 of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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Proposing a person for election as a Director

A Shareholder may propose a person (other than a retiring
Director) for election as a Director at a general meeting.
For such purpose, the Shareholder must deposit a written
notice at the Company’s registered office which identifies
the candidate and includes the signature of that candidate
confirming his/her willingness to be so elected and consent
of publication of his/her personal information. Such notice
must be lodged within the period commencing on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available on the website of the
Company (www.grlifestyle.com.hk).

Sending enquiries to the Board

The Company continues to enhance communication and
relations with its investors. Shareholders may send enquiries
in writing to the Company Secretary of the address of the
registered office of the Company set out in the section
headed “Corporate Information” in this report for such
enquiries and questions to be forwarded to the Board.
Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an informative and
timely manner.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION
POLICY

The shareholders’ communication policy was adopted by
the Board and became effective on 1 January 2022 (the
“Shareholders’” Communication Policy”).

The aim of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy is to
provide Shareholders with information about the Company
to enable them to engage actively with the Company and
exercise their rights as Shareholders in an informed manner.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-
going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular
for communicating with them and encouraging their
participation, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings, financial reports and other publications
and communications of the Company.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of
the Company are primary forum for communication between
the Company and its Shareholders.
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The Company shall provide Shareholders with relevant
information on the resolution(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The information provided shall be reasonably
necessary to enable Shareholders to make an informed
decision on the proposed resolution(s).

The Company encourages Shareholders to attend and
participate in Shareholder’s meetings physically and in
the case of hybrid Shareholder’s meetings, physically and
online through designated platforms. Shareholders may also
appoint proxies to attend and vote at such meetings for and
on their behalf if they are unable to attend.

Where appropriate or required, the chairman of the
Board and other Board members, the chairmen of board
committees or their delegates, and the external auditors
should attend general meetings of the Company to answer
Shareholders’ questions (if any).

The chairman of the independent board committee (if any)
should also be available to answer questions at any general
meeting to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval.

Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing
Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by the
Company for the information or action of holders of any
of its securities, including but not limited to the following
documents of the Company: (a) the directors’ report, annual
accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s report and,
where applicable, its summary financial report; (b) the interim
report and, where applicable, its summary interim report; (c)
a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document; (e) a circular; and
(f) a proxy form.

The corporate communication of the Company will
be published on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk) in a timely manner as required by the
Listing Rules.

Corporate communication will be provided to Shareholders
and non-registered holders of the Company’s securities in
both English and Chinese versions or where permitted, in a
single language, in a timely manner as required by the Listing
Rules.

98 GRLIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

AR AR IR _E T AR R R A BRUR B AR
RIERARE LIRENABRENHBE
o R HERERAETENER
PAMERBCR LTI 2 FURARIEL AR

Eo

ARRBBBRRBS HFEL 2 EBERAK
g WEBRABRARRAS  RIEBEE
EFeRGHELHE L2ERRAS -
AR BEHE - BRI AT ERIEA
RELFEEBEASYNE LRE -

BEXBARENERLT  EFERERE
LREMEERKE EFRETEES
B 2 B H AR A S S BS A SRR B
FBARBRRAE AREEFRER (10
B)e

BYZRES(WE)WEF IREEER
BEATRZNRRAE EOERRE - B
FRER F AT M EM AL BRI
M5 °

ATF)EER

RIBEETRBIPTRE - [ ABEAIJIHE
AATFEHHA T EHBARE RS
BB A2 RIERIITE W EAI XA
HABEENRNARBEN T :
@QEZRHME - FERBERZBEHR
TR (HER) M RERE ¢ (o)
RS R (MER) TR ERS ; (0
SRBE () LX)k ()
KEREERRS -

RARIH A RIEASRR LR AR
TE 108 5 7R B 22 AT 48 3 (www.hkexnews.hk)

BHE o

REVBIAG AR ~ ZRA (AT
A AE-ZFF ) EREMRUNRE
BRRBRREIEELHARAEFFE
Afeft



Shareholders and non-registered securities holders of the
Company should have the right to choose the language
version of corporate communications (Chinese version
or English version) or means of receipt of the corporate
communications (in hard copy or through electronic means).

Announcements and Other Documents pursuant
to the Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on price
sensitive information, corporate actions and transactions
etc.) and other documents (e.g., memorandum and articles
of association) on the Stock Exchange’s website in a timely
manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Corporate Website

The website of the Company (www.grlifestyle.com.hk)
provides information on the Company, including
communication to Shareholders. In addition, financial and
other reports as well as announcements are available on the
Company’s website.

Corporate communications are posted on the Company’s
website as soon as practicable following their publication on
the website of Stock Exchange.

A dedicated corporate governance section is available on
the Company’s website. The corporate governance report
and the corporate governance policies and practices are
available and updated on a regular basis.

A wide range of Shareholder information is also available on
the Company’s website including financial highlights, share
price, financial calendar, press releases, presentations,
recordings of past webcasts as well as links that direct
Shareholders to the webpage containing the information of
other listed group companies.
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Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings and to the office to the Board in writing at the
Company’s registered office or by email as below:

Address: Unit 3505, Tower One, Lippo Centre,
No. 89 Queensway, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the company secretary of
the Company)

Email: info@grlifestyle.com.hk

Shareholders and the investment community may at any
time make a request for the Company’s information to the
extent such information is of public domain.

Shareholders’ Privacy

The Company recognises that the protection of personal
data is fundamental to preserving the trust of Shareholders.
The Company is committed to safeguarding and protecting
the personal data of the Shareholders in compliance with
applicable data protection laws. Unless required to do so by
law, the Company will not disclose Shareholders’ information
without their consent.

The Board has reviewed the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy and its effectiveness for the Year. Taking into account
the various existing channels for communication and
participation, the Company is of the view that the existing
Shareholders’” Communication Policy is appropriate to the
Company and has been duly and effectively implemented.
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INDEPENDENT VIEWS MECHANISM

The independent views mechanism was adopted by the
Board on 1 January 2022 (the “Mechanism”).

Role of independent non-executive Director

An independent non-executive Director shall comply with the
“Chapter 3 — Authorized Representatives, Directors, Board
Committees” of the Listing Rules, as amended from time to
time. This includes that he/she must, in the performance of
his duties as a director:

(@) act honestly and in good faith in the interests of the
company as a whole;

(b) act for proper purpose;

(©) be answerable to the company for the application or
misapplication of its assets;

(d) avoid actual and potential conflicts of interest and
duty;

(e) disclose fully and fairly his interests in contracts with
the company; and

® apply such degree of skill, care and diligence as may
reasonably be expected of a person of his knowledge
and experience and holding his office within the
company.

Review independence of independent non-

executive Director

The independence of an independent non-executive Director
will be subject to questioning if he/she does not comply to
the Listing Rules 3.13, as amended from time to time, or
he/she falls into at least one of the following circumstances:

(@) holds more than 1% of the total issued share capital
of the listed company;

(b) has received an interest in any securities of the listed
company as a gift, or by means of other financial
assistance, from a core connected person or the
listed company itself;
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is/was a director, partner or principal of a professional
adviser which currently provides or has within
two years immediately prior to the date of his/her
proposed appointment provided services, or is an
employee of such professional adviser who is or has
been involved in providing such services during the
same period, to:

(i) the listed company, its holding company or
any of their respective subsidiaries or core
connected persons; or

(ii) any person who was a controlling
shareholder or, where there was no
controlling shareholder, any person who was
the chairman or a director (other than an
independent non-executive director), of the
listed company within two years immediately
prior to the date of the proposed appointment,
or any of their close associates;

currently, or within one year immediately prior to the
date of the person's proposed appointment, has
or had a material interest in any principal business
activity of or is or was involved in any material
business dealings with the listed company, its holding
company or their respective subsidiaries or with any
core connected persons of the listed company;

is on the board specifically to protect the interests of
an entity whose interests are not the same as those
of the Shareholders as a whole;

is or was connected with a director, the chief
executive or a substantial shareholder of the listed
company within two years immediately prior to the
date of his/her proposed appointment;

is, or has at any time during the two years
immediately prior to the date of his/her proposed
appointment been, an executive or director (other
than an independent non-executive director) of the
listed company, of its holding company or of any of
their respective subsidiaries or of any core connected
persons of the listed company; and
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(h) is financially dependent on the listed company,
its holding company or any of their respective
subsidiaries or core connected persons of the listed
company.

Factors for reviewing the eligibility of an
independent non-executive Director
(@) Years of working experience: 8 and above

(b) Education degree: Undergrad and above

(©) Possess professional qualification or strong industry
knowledge

(d) Current employment(s)/Job position(s)

(e) If the candidate or his/her family members has any
relationship with the Directors and employees

® If the candidate or his/her family members has any
financial interest, business engagement or other
activities with the Directors or employees within/
outside of the Group’s business

(9 Any previous or potential independent non-executive
Director position

(h) No criminal record in any country

The Board has reviewed the Mechanism and its effectiveness
for the Year and is of the view that the Mechanism is
sufficient and has been duly and effectively implemented.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”)
was adopted by the Board and became effective on 1
January 2019.

The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains an
appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company. The Board endeavors
to strike a balance between the Shareholders’ interests and
prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend

policy.
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The declaration and recommendation of dividends is subject
to the decision of the Board after considering the Company’s
ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among

other things:
° the Group’s financial results;
° the Group’s cash flow, liquidity and capital

requirements;

° the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

° the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group;

° the Group’s shareholders’ interests;

° the Group’s current and future business operations,

conditions, cycle and strategies;

° the general market conditions;

° the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation and
industry’s norm;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

° statutory and regulatory restrictions;
° past dividend record; and
° any other factors the Board may deem relevant.
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The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend and the form of payment, subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
Articles. Any final dividends declared by the Company must
be approved by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at
an annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. The Board may also consider
declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition to
the interim and/or final dividends. There is no assurance that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given
period.

The Company shall review and reassess the Dividend Policy
and its effectiveness from time to time. Any revisions to the
Dividend Policy shall be considered and approved by the
Board.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the Year, the Company had not amended its
constitutional document.
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The Board hereby present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in the property development and
investments in the PRC, the USA and the UK, and the provision of
property management services in the PRC. Details of the principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal business activities are exposed to a variety
of key risks including credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk,
operational risk and market risk.

The Group’s business and profitability growth during the Year
is affected by the volatility and uncertainty of macro-economic
conditions in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK. The
divergence of monetary policies in major advanced economies of
global nations is expected to continue to contribute partly to the
volatility of fund and trade flows and that of asset prices in Hong
Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK.

In particular, the potential impact on economic activities and
real estate prices is also affected by political and economic
developments in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK. The
long term business and profitability growth of the Group is expected
to continue to be affected by the changes in macro-economic
variables, including unemployment rates, real gross domestic
product growth, consumer and asset price indexes and credit
demand, and also qualitative factors such as political and economic
policy developments of Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The Group’s profit for the Year and the Group’s financial position
as at 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 145 to 152.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
Year (2022: Nil). No interim dividend was declared for the Year (2022:
Nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the Year has been stated in
Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 6 and Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 7 to 15.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group are set
out in Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 16 to
64.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

An account of the key relationships of the Group with its employees,
customers and suppliers is contained in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report on pages 16 to 64.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and equity
of the Group for the last five financial years/period, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements for the Year and
the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out on page 283. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance. The Group has been
allocating system and staff resources to ensure ongoing compliance
with rules and regulations and to maintain strong working
relationships with regulators through effective communications.
During the Year, the Board is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on the Group.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during the Year
are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

On 17 August 2018, the Company completed the first completion
with the acquisition of 95% of the share capital of Wise Expert
Investment Limited, at a consideration of HK$1,464,254,000,
from Winluck Global Limited (a company wholly-owned by Mr. Wei
Chunxian) and Silky Apex Limited (a company wholly-owned by Mr.
Sun Zhongmin). The consideration was paid as to HK$361,260,800
by the allotment and issue of 451,576,000 consideration shares
at the issue price of HK$0.80 per consideration share and the
remaining HK$1,102,993,200 by the issue of convertible bonds
in the principal amount of HK$1,102,993,200 convertible into
1,378,741,500 shares at the initial conversion price of HK$0.80
per convertible share. By way of a summary, the conversion rights
underlying the convertible bonds may be exercised provided that
any such conversion (i) does not trigger general offer obligations
under the Takeovers Code on the part of the bondholder or parties
acting in concert with it; (i) does not result in the public float of
the shares of the Company being less than 25% or such other
percentages as the Listing Rules may prescribe, and that the
relevant bondholder complies with the procedures set out in the
conditions to the convertible bonds. Based on the market price of
the Company’s shares of HK$0.82 as at 17 August 2018, the share
capital of the Company was increased by HK$370,292,320 as a
result of the issuance of 451,576,000 consideration shares.

For the details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 30 May 2018 and 17 August 2018 and the circular of the
Company dated 20 July 2018.

On 3 September 2018, the Company allotted and issued 7,500,000
new shares pursuant to the exercise of the conversion rights
attached to the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$6,000,000 at the issue price of HK$0.80 per share. Based
on the market price of the Company’s shares of HK$0.80 as at 3
September 2018, the share capital of the Company was increased
by HK$6,000,000 as a result of the issuance of 7,500,000 new
shares.
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For the details, please refer to the next day disclosure return of the
Company dated 3 September 2018.

On 7 May 2019, the Company allotted and issued 7,500,000
new ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$6,000,000 at the issue price of HK$0.80 per share. Based on
the closing market price of the Company’s shares of HK$1.41 as
at 6 May 2019, the share capital of the Company was increased
by HK$6,000,000 as a result of the issuance of 7,500,000 new
ordinary shares.

For the details, please refer to the next day disclosure return of the
Company dated 7 May 2019.

On 31 December 2021, the Company completed the second
completion with the acquisition of the remaining 5% of the share
capital of Wise Expert Investment Limited. The Company has issued
the second tranche convertible bonds with principal amount of
HK$70,130,060 to Wintime Company Limited (being the designated
nominee of Winluck Global Limited) and HK$6,935,940 to Mr. Sun
Zhongmin (being the designated nominee of Silkky Apex Limited).

For the details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 30 May 2018, 17 August 2021 and 31 December 2021 and
the circular of the Company dated 20 July 2018.

After the exercise of conversion rights of the convertible bonds
on 3 September 2018 and 7 May 2019, the remaining principal
amount of convertible bonds is HK$1,168,059,200, a maximum
of 1,460,074,000 new ordinary shares will be issued upon
full conversion of the convertible bonds. Upon full exercise of
the conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds, the
shareholdings of Mr. Wei Chunxian, the substantial shareholder
of the Company, will be changed from approximately 70.21% to
77.02% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as
enlarged by the issue of the shares of the Company upon the full
conversion of all the convertible bonds.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “SHARE OPTIONS” and
“SHARE CAPITAL” of this report, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by the Company during the Year.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no reserve available for cash distribution/or
distribution in specie as at 31 December 2023 in accordance with
the provisions of section 291, 297 and 299 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity of the Group on pages 149 to 150 of this report
and in notes 35 and 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, less than 20%
of the Group’s revenue was attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers, and less than 20% of the Group’s purchases were
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the Year, the Group has related party transactions with
related companies (as disclosed in the note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements), including Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (3t REI$H = EMZEER A A]) and
L REIRE ¥ B R A7, which are controlled by Mr. Wei Chunxian
and Mr. Sun Zhongmin, the executive Directors. These related
companies are top 5 customers of the Group.

Except as disclosed per above, none of the Directors, or any of their
close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s top five customers
and suppliers.

* For identification purpose only
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
did not make any charitable donations.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin

Ms. Li Bing

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric

Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming

In accordance with Articles 81 and 83 of the Articles, Mr. Wei
Chunxian and Mr. Sun Zhongmin will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

In accordance with the code provision B.2.3 in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules,
the further appointment of Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric will be
subject to separate resolution at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Company has received written annual confirmations of
independence from all independent non-executive Directors
and as at the date of this report all of them are considered to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 65 to
67 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group as well as the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee.
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Further details of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the
corporate governance report on pages 84 to 86 of this report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Other than the directors named under the paragraph headed
“DIRECTORS” above, no other person who have served on the
boards of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this report.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy was adopted by the Board and became
effective on 1 January 2022 (the “Remuneration Policy”).

The Remuneration Policy aims to set out the approach to guide
the Remuneration Committee in relation to the setting up the
remuneration package of the Directors.

The Remuneration Committee will recommend to the Board for the
remuneration package of a Director in accordance with the following
procedures and process:

1. To make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

2. Having regards to salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment, responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere, to review the competitiveness of the
Company’s executive and management compensation
programs to ensure that:

() the Company is able to attract and retain suitable &
qualified executives;

(b) executives are motivated to achieve the Company’s
business objectives; and

(c) the interests of key employees are aligned with the
long-term interests of the Shareholders;
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To review trends in compensation, oversee the development
of new compensation plans and, when necessary, make
recommendations to the Board on the revision of existing
plans for:

(a) non-executive Directors;

(b) individual executive Directors; and

(©) senior management.

Any remuneration packages include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments for loss or termination of
their offices or appointments (Competitive packages needed
to attract, retain and motivate executive Directors and senior
management of the quality required in line with market
practices);

The Company generally should not grant equity-
based remuneration (e.g. share options or grants) with
performance-related elements to independent non-executive
Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-making
and compromise their objectivity and independence;

To review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

To review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

To ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;
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10.

11.

To assist the chief executive officer in the review of the
performance and remuneration of the executive management
team. In making any assessments, the Remuneration
Committee will consider:

(@ the Company’s performance and relative Shareholder
return;

(b) the compensation of chief executive officers at
comparable companies;

(€ the rewards given to the chief executive officer in past
years; and

(d) other factors as the Remuneration Committee
considers relevant;

To review and recommend to the Board the compensation
of all those corporate officers who are elected by the
Shareholders at appropriate time periods. The Remuneration
Committee will make recommendations to the Board as to
incentive compensation plans and equity-based plans;

To ensure that the performance-related elements of
remuneration from a significant proportion of the total
remuneration package of executive Directors and senior
management and are designed to align their interests with
those of the Shareholders and to give the Directors and
senior management incentives to perform at highest levels;

To review and recommend to the Board policies relating
to employment agreements, severance arrangements,
retirement arrangements, and any special or supplemental
benefits which may be adopted by the Company. For
the avoidance of doubt, compensation arrangements for
employees of the Company who are not members of the
Board or the chief executive officer, are the responsibility of
the chief executive officer subject to the adherence to the
broad policies adopted by the Remuneration Committee and
the Board;

To review and make recommendations as to long-term
incentive compensation plans — including the use of share
options and other equity-based plans are in accordance
with the Listing Rules or the employees’ incentive schemes
are in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, as
applicable;
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12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

To operate the Company’s share option scheme or other
incentive scheme as they apply to, and recommend to
the general meeting(s) of Shareholders, grants of options
to be made to Directors and senior management. It shall
recommend to the Board the total aggregate amount of any
grants to employees (with the specific grants to individuals to
be at the discretion of the Board) and make amendments to
the terms of such schemes (subject to the provisions of the
schemes relating to amendment);

To liaise with the trustee of any employee share incentive
scheme which is created by the Company for the benefit of
employees, senior management or Directors;

To review the terms of executive Directors’ and senior
managements’ appointment letters from time to time;

To advise the Board in relation to the preparation of the
Board’s remuneration report (if any) to the Shareholders;

To have the authority to retain and terminate any
compensation consultant to be used to help evaluate
the compensation of Directors, the chief executive officer
and/or senior executives. The Remuneration Committee will
also have authority to obtain advice and assistance from
internal or external legal, accounting or other advisers;

To periodically review and reassess the adequacy of the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and
the Remuneration Policy and to recommend any proposed
changes to the Board for approval;

To be sensitive to market practice, including pay and
employment conditions within the Group and elsewhere in
the industry in which the Group operates, especially when
determining annual salary increase;

To advise Shareholders on how to vote in respect of any
service contracts of Directors that require Shareholders’
approval in accordance with the Listing Rules;

To periodically review and reassess the adequacy of the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and to
recommend any proposed changes in circumstances and
changes in regulatory requirements, including those under
the Listing Rules to the Board for approval; and
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13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.
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21. To take up any other duties and responsibilities referred by
the Board.

The Remuneration Committee will assess and report annually,
for the remuneration of the Board, and launch a formal process
to monitor the implementation of the Remuneration Policy as
appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee will launch a formal process to review
the Remuneration Policy periodically to ensure that it is transparent
and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects the
current regulatory requirements and good corporate governance
practice. The Remuneration Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 137 of the Articles provides that every director, executive
director, manager, secretary, officer and auditor of the Company
shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against
all liabilities incurred by him as such director, executive director,
manager, secretary, officer and auditor in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, to the extent permitted by the
Companies Ordinance. The Company has also maintained directors
and officers liability insurance during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company
has not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body
corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part
of any business of the Company during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
AND CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Details of the continuing connected transactions and significant
related party transactions are disclosed in this report and in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the above, no
Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which
the holding companies of the Company, or any of the Company’s
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their
associates in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) (a) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing
Rules, were as follows:
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Interest in Shares BiriEs
Approximate
percentage
Number of Number of of the total
ordinary underlying number of
Name of Directors  Capacity shares held shares held issued shares
EE BT
KA R
Esng &4 FESBERHE ROEE BHABED
(%)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin Beneficial owner 136,752,350 (L) 117,756,660 (L) 7.95%
BHMRESE EnEA
(Note 3)
(H1:£3)
Mr. Wei Chunxian Interest of controlled corporation 2,246,160,464 (L) 1,342,317,340 (L) 112.16%

eSSt R EE R
(Notes 1 and 2)
(Hi#1k%2)

L denotes long position
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Wintime Company Limited is interested in 1,434,421,537 shares
and 1,342,317,340 underlying shares of aggregate principal amount
of convertible bonds of HK$1,073,853,872 issued by the Company
at conversion price of HK$0.80 per share on 17 August 2018 and
31 December 2021. Wintime Company Limited is wholly-owned
by Widewealth Company Limited, the holding vehicle incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands used by Trident Trust Company (B.V.1.)
Limited, the trustee of a discretionary trust, namely St. Heliers
Trust, of which Mr. Wei Chunxian is the settlor and a beneficiary.
Accordingly, each of Widewealth Company Limited and Mr. Wei
Chunxian is deemed to be interested in the shares and underlying
shares held by Wintime Company Limited under the SFO.

811,738,927 shares are held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited. Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Limited
is owned as to 90% and 10% by Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (It R EMEF AR A F)) and
Future Glow Ventures Inc. respectively. Future Glow Ventures Inc.
is wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian. Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (1 R E §% E it ZE FAZE AR A 7)) is directly
wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (1t 51
42 A IR A 7)), which is in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Qingquan
Ruiyuan Business Management Co., Ltd.* QL U5 REHEP ¥ SRR
R A ®]), which is in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Ruilong Business
Management Co., Ltd.* (It REEEEmESIEAR A R]), which is
in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Enterprise Management
Group Co., Ltd.* (b REI§H D EEIBEB AR A ), which is in tumn
wholly-owned by Beijing Gangrui Enterprise Management
Development Co., Ltd.* Qb mUB i EE R EFR A 7)), which is
in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Yiyue Business Management Co.,
Ltd.* b REBEEEEAR A7), which is in turn wholly-owned
by Well Hero Holdings Ltd (B & B AR A F]), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Wish Diligence Ltd (2£AFR A Al), which is
ultimately owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian (through Fair Development
Holdings Ltd, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian), Mr.
Sun Zhongmin and an independent third party as to 82%, 9% and
9%, respectively. Each of Wish Diligence Ltd (E#)ER A7), Fair
Development Holdings Ltd and Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited under the SFO.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin is interested in 117,756,660 underlying
shares pursuant to convertible bonds in the principle amount of
HK$94,205,328 issued by the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.80 per share on 17 August 2018 and 31 December 2021.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein; or (c) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 31 December 2023,
the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO:
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Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the W& A TR RIERRGZIFE
Company
Total interests
as percentage
Number of Number of of the total
ordinary shares underlying number of
Name Capacity held shares held  issued shares
B
REHE  GHEBRORG
£ g BREERBEREAE R EE BYZEDL
Wintime Company Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 1,434,421,537 = 44.83%
Wintime Company Limited (#7521) ERBEBA
Beneficial owner - 1,342,317,340 41.96%
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EERBES
Total interests
as percentage
Number of Number of of the total
ordinary shares underlying number of
Name Capacity held shares held  issued shares
BREHE
BEHE  FERTRG
£5 54 REEBRYA R #E BYZEIL
Widewealth Company Limited (Note 1) Interest in Controlled Corporation 1,434,421,637 - 44.83%
Widewealth Company Limited(#7:77) XErECER
Interest in Controlled Corporation - 1,342,317,340 41.96%
REzEER
Trident Trust Company (B.V.1.) Limited Trustee of a trust 1,434,421,537 - 44.83%
(Note 1)
BREEBV.VERRE (A1) XA
Trustee of a trust - 1,342,317,340 41.96%
(EHPA-EIN
Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Beneficial owner 811,738,927 - 25.37%
Limited (Note 2)
BHERRE (B BRAR(MZ2) ERBEAA
Wish Diligence Limited (Note 2) Interest in Controlled Corporation 811,738,927 - 25.37%
ZHRBDR(H722) RmEE B
Fair Development Holdings Limited (Note 2) Interest in Controlled Corporation 811,738,927 - 25.37%

V)

Fair Development Holdings Limited(#7:22) SiEEE 2 B

Note 1. Wintime Company Limited is interested in 1,434,421,537 shares and
1,342,317,340 underlying shares pursuant to convertible bonds in
the principal amount of HK$1,073,853,872 issued by the Company
at conversion price of HK$0.80 per share on 17 August 2018 and
31 December 2021. Wintime Company Limited is wholly-owned
by Widewealth Company Limited, the holding vehicle incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands used by Trident Trust Company (B.V.l.)
Limited, the trustee of a discretionary trust, namely St. Heliers
Trust, of which Mr. Wei Chunxian is the settlor and a beneficiary.
Accordingly, each of Widewealth Company Limited and Mr. Wei
Chunxian is deemed to be interested in the shares and underlying
shares held by Wintime Company Limited under the SFO.
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Note 2: 811,738,927 shares are held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited. Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Limited
is owned as to 90% and 10% by Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (3t RE i E M EMZE AR A ) and
Future Glow Ventures Inc. respectively. Future Glow Ventures Inc.
is wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian. Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (kR E$ EithZE M ZE AR A 7)) is directly
wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (1t 52 ]
$RIERR AR A2 A)), which is in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Qingguan
Ruiyuan Business Management Co., Ltd.* Jt FUE RELEFIEEIEHR
R A &), which is in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Ruilong Business
Management Co., Ltd.* (Jt RE{E R E IR AR A 7)), which is
in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Enterprise Management
Group Co., Ltd.* (b B DEEIREE AR A 7)), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Beijing Gangrui Enterprise Management
Development Co., Ltd.* QLB EEIRE R AR A A]), which is
in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Yiyue Business Management Co.,
Ltd.* bR EMEEEE AR A7), which is in turn wholly-owned
by Well Hero Holdings Ltd (B EHR A &), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Wish Diligence Ltd (££)A R A7), which is
ultimately owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian (through Fair Development
Holdings Ltd, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian), Mr.
Sun Zhongmin and an independent third party as to 82%, 9% and
9%, respectively. Each of Wish Diligence Ltd (E#4E A 7)), Fair
Development Holdings Ltd and Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company were not aware of any
other person (other than the Directors and the chief executive of
the Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

The English names of Chinese entities marked with “*” are
translations of their Chinese names and are included for identification
purpose only, and should not be regarded as their official English
name. In the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese name prevails.
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SHARE OPTIONS

On 7 November 2016, the Company conditionally adopted the share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), pursuant to which
the Board may, at its discretion, grant options to any Directors
and any employee of the Company or the Group or any person,
who, in the absolute opinion of the Board, have contributed or will
contribute to the Company or the Group. The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to (i) incentivise and reward those who have
contributed or may contribute to the development of the Group;
and (i) attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel and
motivate them to strive for the future development of the Group by
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company thereby linking their interest with that of the Group.
Unless otherwise determined by the Board in the relevant offer
letter to a grantee, there is no minimum period for which any share
option (the “Option(s)”) must be held before it can be exercised and
no performance target which needs to be achieved by a grantee
before the options can be exercised. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Board will have absolute discretion in determining the
subscription price (subject to the Listing Rules) in respect of any
Option. The Board is of the view that the flexibility given to the Board
will place the Group in a better position to incentivise or reward the
participants and retain human resources that are valuable to the
growth and development of the Group as a whole.

The subscription price shall be such price determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion and notified to the participant in the offer
and shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of a share as
stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of offer of the grant; and (ii) the average closing price
of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the grant. The consideration payable for
acceptance of the option by each participant is HK$1.00 which shall
be received by the Company within such time as may be specified
in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from, and inclusive
of, the date of offer). If the participant does not accept such grant of
option pursuant to the procedures specified in the respective offer
letter or notice within the stipulated time frame, such option shall be
regarded as unaccepted and lapsed.
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Pursuant to Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules, the total number of
shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme must not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
scheme mandate limit. Pursuant to the rules of the Share Option
Scheme, the Board should not grant any options which would
result in the maximum aggregate number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted but yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by the Company exceeding, in aggregate,
30% of the shares in issue from time to time. The total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue (the “Individual
Limit”). Any further grant of options to a participant which would
result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding
the Individual Limit shall be subject to approval of the shareholders
in general meeting with such participant and his close associates (or
his associates if such participant is a connected person) abstaining
from voting. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as
the Board may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the
date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.
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The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years commencing from the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme.

Remarks:

1. Pursuant to Rule 17.03A of the Listing Rules, the participants of a
scheme shall only comprise (i) directors and employees of the issuer
or any of its subsidiaries; (i) directors and employees of the holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the
Company; and (i) persons who provide services to the issuer group
on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course
of business which are in the interests of the long term growth of the
issuer group.

2. Pursuant to Rule 17.03F of the Listing Rules, the vesting period for
options shall not be less than 12 months.

3. Pursuant to Rule 17.04(3) of the Listing Rules, where any grant of
options or awards to an independent non-executive director or a
substantial shareholder of the listed issuer, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued in
respect of all options and awards granted (excluding any options
and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the scheme) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant
class of shares in issue, such further grant of options or awards
must be approved by shareholders of the listed issuer in general
meeting in the manner set out in Rule 17.04(4). Pursuant to Rule
17.04(4) of the Listing Rules, the listed issuer must send a circular
to the shareholders. The grantee, his/her associates and all core
connected persons of the listed issuer must abstain from voting in
favour at such general meeting. The listed issuer must comply with
the requirements under Rules 13.40, 13.41 and 13.42.
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Weighted
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of shares
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their respective
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RRARGEEEHEA
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Employee partcipants - 30000000 - - - 30000000 28Apil2023  28Apr 204 28 Apil 2024 HKS0.922 HK$0.922 HKS0.33
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27 Apri 2026
EBRER(RR) EocE CEpE CRORE BRER EHGu) SREH
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oA
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Related entty participants - - - - - - - -
(in aggregate)
EngEsEs(oh)
Senice providers - - - - - _ _ _
(n aggregate)
isiER(eR)
Totdl - 30000000 - - - 30000000
85
On 28 April 2023, 30,000,000 share options were granted to an  R-Z-=FPWA -+ N\ H  SEEBERET
employee of the Company under the Share Option Scheme. As at  Z|m A &1#) — & {8 & % 1130,000,00017 B& A%
31 December 2023, the total number of outstanding share options # - R—-Z - =F+ - F=+—H - BI#ET

(i.e. the total number of Shares available for issue) under the Share
Option Scheme is 30,000,000, representing approximately 0.9%
of the total number of issued shares of the Company. The total
number of shares that maybe issued in respect of share options
granted under all schemes of the Company during the Year divided
by the weighted average number of Shares in issue for the Year was
approximately 0.6%. The total number of share options available for
grant under the scheme mandate of the Share Option Scheme as
at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 were 319,937,398 and
289,937,398 respectively.

Further details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
28 April 2023 and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements
in this report.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group entered into certain transactions which
constituted connected transaction and continuing connected
transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, the
details of which are set out below.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions undertaken
by the Group were entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group; (b) either on normal commercial terms
or better; and (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has also confirmed that nothing has
come to the auditor’s attention that causes it to believe that the
continuing connected transactions (a) have not been approved
by the Board; (b) were not, in all material aspects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group; (c) were not entered into
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions, in all material respects; and (d) have exceeded the
respective caps as aforesaid, where applicable.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
insofar as they are applicable.
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Continuing connected transactions subject to

the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules

Heat supply and property management services provided by
AOCEAN Property Management to Beijing Guorui Group
During the Year, Jb 7URTEY) X B2 H R 2 7] (Beijing AOCEAN
Property Management Company Limited* or “AOCEAN Property
Management”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
provided heat supply and maintenance and property management
services to a total of 1,938 property units of Beijing Guorui Group
(Note 1) with a total floor area of approximately 292,473 square
metres.

The 2021 New Heat Supply Services Agreement and the 2021
New Property Management Agreement all entered into between
AOCEAN Property Management and Beijing Guorui Property (Note 1)
on 2 November 2020 (with details set out below) have expired on
31 December 2023.

In order to continue the provision of services by AOCEAN Property
Management to Beijing Guorui Group, on 29 November 2023,
AOCEAN Property Management and Beijing Guorui Property (for
itself and for and on behalf of Beijing Guorui Group) entered into
the 2024 New Heat Supply Services Agreement and the 2024 New
Property Management Agreement (with details set out below). Such
agreements have been approved by independent shareholders
of the Company on 2 February 2024 and became effective on 1
January 2024.

2021 New Heat Supply Services Agreement

Date: 2 November 2020
Parties: (i) AOCEAN Property Management
(i) Beijing Guorui Property (for itself and for and on behalf of
the Beijing Guorui Group) (Note 1)
Term: From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023 (both days

inclusive)
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Nature of
Transactions:

Fees:

Annual cap:

AOCEAN Property Management shall provide heat supply
and maintenance services to the members of Beijing Guorui
Group. AOCEAN Property Management’s responsibilities
include (i) overseeing the daily operation and provision of
repair and maintenance services of the heat exchange station
and facilities and the pipeline network located in the property
projects developed by Beijing Guorui Group, namely Fortune
Strest Phase One* (B4jm#—H), Fortune Street Phase Two*
(Bt = H9), Fortune Street Phase Three* (3147 =) and
Golden Tower* (£ &% KJE) in Chaoyang District, Beijing;
Guorui Square* (E1§4/&#5) and Kingdom Guoru* (Elgie 4
78) in Daxing District, Beijng; and North Garden* (£ 7E ) at
Gaobeidian, Chaoyang District, Beijing; and (i) ensuring that
the heat supply complies with governmental guidelines and
standards, etc.

AOCEAN Property Management charges the individual
owners/tenants of the property units directly for those units
which are occupied. The relevant members of the Beijing
Guorui Group will be responsible for the fees of the vacant
units or units occupied by Beijing Guorui Group within the
aforesaid property projects

Residential properties: RMB18 to RMB30 per square meter
per heat supply season depending on the property project,
payable on annual basis

Commercial properties: RMB25.2 to RMB50.4 per square
meter per heat supply season depending on the property
project, payable on annual basis

For the three years ending 31 December 2021 are
RMB10,000,000, RMB11,000,000 and RMB12,100,000,
respectively

*  For identification purpose only
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The transaction was announced by the Company in its
announcements dated 2 November 2020, 23 November 2020,
4 December 2020 and 23 December 2020 and approved by
independent shareholders at the general meeting of the Company
held on 23 December 2020.

The 2021 New Heat Supply Services Agreement has expired on 31

December 2023.

2021 New Property Management Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Premises:

Nature of

Transactions:

Fees:

Annual cap:

*

2 November 2020

(1)  AOCEAN Property Management
(2) Beijing Guorui Property (for itself and for and on behalf of
the Beijing Guorui Group) (Note 1)

From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023 (both days
inclusive)

Fortune Street Phase One* (31 m#— &), Fortune Street
Phase Two* (81 — &), Fortune Street Phase Three* (31
A =H) and Golden Tower* (£ &% AE) in Chaoyang
District, Beijing; Guorui Square* (B8 /£15), and Kingdom
Guorui* (El$e 4 78) in Daxing District, Beijing; North Garden*
(3t7EE) at Gaobeidian, Chaoyang District, Beijing; and
Project Majugiao* (5 59158 B) at Tongzhou District, Beijing

AOCEAN Property Management is responsible for (i)
safekeeping of the keys of the vacant units; (i) carrying out
monthly inspections of the vacant units and keeping records
accordingly; (iii) carrying out monthly cleaning of the vacant
units; (iv) inspecting the vacant units during bad weather
conditions; (v) providing security services; and (vi) maintaining
and managing facilities and assets for public use, etc.

Moreover, for particular property units, AOCEAN Property
Management will also provide initial clean up services
after completion of their construction (the “Initial Clean Up
Services”)

The management fee ranges from RMB0.49 to RMB33.6 per
square meter per month for different types of property units,
payable on an annual basis

For the Initial Clean Up Services, AOCEAN Property
Management charges a fee calculated based on its actually
incurred disbursement plus a margin of 10%

For the three years ending 31 December 2021 are
RMB47,500,000, RMB52,250,000 and RMB57,475,000,
respectively

For identification purpose only
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The transaction was announced by the Company in its
announcements dated 2 November 2020, 23 November 2020,
4 December 2020 and 23 December 2020 and approved by
independent shareholders at the general meeting of the Company
held on 23 December 2020.

The 2021 New Property Management Agreement has expired on 31
December 2023.

2024 New Heat Supply Services Agreement

Date: 29 November 2023

Parties: (1) AOGEAN Property Management
(2) Beijing Guorui Property (for itself and for and on behalf of
the Beijing Guorui Group) (Note 1)

Term: From 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026 (both days
inclusive)

Nature of AOCEAN Property Management shall provide to the members

Transactions: of Beijing Guorui Group heat supply and maintenance

services of heat exchange stations and facilities and pipeline
networks to the vacant units and units occupied by Beijing
Guorui Group of certain property projects developed by
Beijing Guorui Group

The relevant property projects include Fortune Street Phase
One* (8@ —E), Fortune Street Phase Two* (BfimE—=
1), Fortune Street Phase Three* (8% = 9), Yigou project*
(5878 E) and Golden Tower* (& &K% AJE) in Chaoyang
District, Beijing; (i) Beijing Guorui Square* (El${/E%) and
Kingdom Guorui* (Bl$fe 4 7&) in Daxing District, Beijing; and
(i) Beiing North Garden* (JL{E[E)) at Gaobeidian, Chaoyang
District, Beijing

AQOCEAN Property Management’s responsibilities include (i)
overseeing the daily operation and provision of repair and
maintenance services of heat exchange station and facilities
and the pipeline network to the vacant units and units
occupied by Beijing Guorui Group of certain property projects
developed by Beijing Guorui Group; and (i) ensuring that
the heat supply complies with governmental guidelines and
standards, etc.
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Fees:

Annual cap:

*

The heat supply service fees charged by AOCEAN Property
Management to vacant residential property units owned
by Beijing Guorui Group is RMB18 per square metre per
heat supply season whereas for commercial property units
occupied by Beijing Guorui Group, the heat supply service
fee is RMB45 (for Chengliu District) and RMB43 (for other
districts) per square metre per heat supply season. AOCEAN
Property Management does not provide heat supply services
to vacant commercial property units owned by Beijing Guorui
Group. The service fees will be payable on an annual basis
by cash

For the three years ending 31 December 2026 are
RMB10,000,000, RMB11,000,000 and RMB12,100,000,
respectively

For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company in its
announcements dated 29 November 2023, 15 December 2023
and 29 December 2023, and its circular dated 9 January 2024 and
approved by independent shareholders at the general meeting of
the Company held on 2 February 2024.

2024 New Property Management Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Premises:

Nature of

Transactions:

29 November 2023

(1)  AOCEAN Property Management
(2) Beijing Guorui Property (for itself and for and on behalf of
the Beijing Guorui Group) (Note 1)

From 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026 (both days
inclusive)

Fortune Street Phase One* (8% —H3), Fortune Street
Phase Two* (B1m & —£f), Fortune Street Phase Three* (Bf
A =H), Yigou project* (FBIEE), Golden Tower* (&
£%AE) and Guorui Business Center* (B4 7.0 in
Chaoyang District, Beijing; (i) Beiing Guorui Square* (£
&%) and Kingdom Guorui* (Ei§e4 &) in Daxing District,
Beijing; (iii) Beijing North Garden* (1t{EE) at Gaobeidian,
Chaoyang District, Beijing; (iv) Majugiao Project* (5550188 B)
at Tongzhou District, Beijing; and (v) Sanya Project* (=218
B), Yixing Project* (E &8 ), Chengdu Project* (5k#51E B)
and Changzhou Project* (8118 )

AOCEAN Property Management is responsible for (i)
safekeeping of the keys of the vacant units; (i) carrying out
monthly inspections of the vacant units and keeping records
accordingly; (iii) carrying out monthly cleaning of the vacant
units; (iv) inspecting the vacant units during bad weather
conditions; (v) providing security services; and (vi) maintaining
and managing facilities and assets for public use, etc.
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Moreover, for particular property units, AOCEAN Property
Management will also provide Initial Clean Up Services after
completion of their construction

Fees: The management fee ranges from RMB0.80 to RMB33.60

per square metre per month for different types of property
units, payable on an annual basis by cash

The management fees charged to vacant residential property
units owned by Beijing Guorui Group range from RMB1.25
to RMB6.52. The management fees charged to commercial
property units occupied by Beijing Guorui Group ranges from
RMB2.22 to RMB33.60

For the Initial Clean Up Services, AOCEAN Property
Management charges a fee calculated based on its actually
incurred disbursement plus a margin of 10%

Annual cap: For the three years ending 31 December 2026 are
RMB47,500,000, RMB52,250,000 and RMB57,475,000,
respectively

*

For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company in its
announcements dated 29 November 2023, 15 December 2023
and 29 December 2023, and its circular dated 9 January 2024 and
approved by independent shareholders at the general meeting of
the Company held on 2 February 2024.

For details of the 2024 New Heat Supply Services Agreement and
the 2024 New Property Management Agreement, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 29 November 2023,
15 December 2023, 29 December 2023, 9 January 2024 and 2
February 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 9 January
2024,

Note 1. 1t B4 5= b2 525 A R A 7] (Beijing Guorui Property Development
Company Limited*, or “Beijing Guorui Property”, which together with
its subsidiaries and associates, as the “Beijing Guorui Group”)), is
wholly-owned by 1t REI${ZEAR B R A& (Beijing Guorui Holdings
Co. Limited*), which in turn is indirectly owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian
and Mr. Sun Zhongmin, the executive Directors, and an independent
third party as to approximately 82%, 9% and 9% respectively,
and is therefore an associate of Mr. Wei Chunxian under the
Listing Rules. Mr. Wei Chunxian, being an executive Director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company, is a connected person of
the Company, and hence Beijing Guorui Property, being an associate
of Mr. Wei Chunxian, is regarded as a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the significant related party transactions which were
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note 40
to the consolidated financial statements. For those related party
transactions that constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions (as the case may be) (other than those
described in the section above headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”) under the Listing Rules, these transactions are
exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in this
report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The
Company has provided a signed copy of the said letter to the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed otherwise, the related party transactions and
continuing related party transactions as disclosed in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERWMES

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules throughout the Year.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group does not have any material subsequent event after the
Year and up to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the quality of corporate
governance so as to ensure better transparency of the Company,
protection of Shareholders’ and stakeholders’ rights and enhance
Shareholder value. In the opinion of the Board, the Company had
complied with all code provisions set out in the CG Code during the
Year except the deviation of code provision C.1.6 and C.2.1 stated
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 71, 75 to 76.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C38 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, all of the Directors have complied with, for any part of the
accounting year covered by this report, the required standard set
out in the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” and “Related Party Transactions” of
this report, there were no contracts of significance in relation to
the Company’s business, to which the Company or any of the
Company’s subsidiaries was a party, subsisting at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year, and in which a Director had,
whether directly or indirectly, a material interest, nor there were
any other contracts of significance (whether or not for the provision
of services) in relation to the Company’s business between the
Company or any of the Company’ s subsidiaries and a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO SUBSCRIBE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than interests in share options of the Company as disclosed
above, and in the share option schemes disclosed in this report,
at no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
or chief executives, or their spouses or children under the age of
18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debenture of the Company or any other body corporate, and none
of them had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company
or its associated corporations, or had exercised any such right
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors was interested
in any business, which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s businesses.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERWMES

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contributions
under these schemes is available to reduce the contribution payable
in future years. For details, please refer to, particulars of retirement
benefits schemes of the Group are set out in note 2.4 (headed “Other
employee benefits (pension scheme)”) to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by Emst & Young. A resolution for their re-appointment as
the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
were approved by the Board on 28 March 2024.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wei Chunxian
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’'s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

Independent auditor’s report
To the members of GR Life Style Company Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GR Life
Style Company Limited (formerly known as GR Properties Limited)
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
145 to 281, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BUBBEREE

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements which indicates that as at 31 December 2023, the
Group had net current liabilities of HK$112,680,000, which includes
an interest-bearing bank borrowing of HK$721,147,000 classified
as current liability due to a potential non-compliance of a financial
covenant. This condition, along with other matters set forth in note
2.1, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In accordance with the accounting

policies of the Group, investment
properties are stated at fair value.
As at 31 December 2023, the
carrying amount of the Group’s
investment properties was

approximately HK$5,323,355,000

which represented 83% of the
total assets of the Group. The
valuation process is inherently
subjective, and dependent on a
number of estimates. The Group
engaged external professionally
qualified valuers to perform the
valuations for the investment
properties.

Related disclosures are included
in notes 3 and 15 to the financial
statements.

We considered the objectivity,
independence and competence
of the valuation experts.

We assessed the
appropriateness of the
valuation methodology adopted
by the valuers and evaluated
the data used as inputs for

the valuations and performed
market value benchmarking
against comparable properties.

We involved our internal
valuation experts to assist us in
evaluating the assumptions and
methodologies for the valuation
of the investment properties
held by the Group.

We considered the adequacy
of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial
statements in respect of the
fair value measurement of the
investment properties.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BUBBEREE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade and lease receivables

As at 31 December 2023, the
Group had trade and lease
receivables of approximately
HK$170,033,000, which mainly
arose from the provision of
property management services
and leasing of investment
properties.

Significant management’s

judgements and estimates on the
amount of expected credit losses
at the reporting date were involved
in determining the recoverability of
these trade and lease receivables

for impairment assessment.

Related disclosures are included
in notes 3 and 21 to the financial

statements.

In relation to the impairment
assessment of trade and lease
receivables, we obtained an
understanding of the credit
loss provisioning methodology
adopted by the Group and
assessed the reasonableness
of the allowance for the
expected credit losses
estimated by management
with reference to the history of
debtors’ settlement patterns
and ageing analysis of the trade
and lease receivables.

We tested, on a sample basis,
the ageing analysis of the trade
and lease receivables prepared
by management; circulated
and obtained direct debtor
confirmations; and checked the
settlement status subsequent
to the reporting period.

We also considered the
adequacy of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial
statements in connection with
the impairment of trade and
lease receivables.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BUBBEREE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIUBBMBESE

BB B ZGRS MG RRAKIE
HREGR)

. HEERRAFELE T ERNREE
e - YRBASHELERE - R
ERAFEAZSHRBRABNERT
HEE  MAsY BSRERFELZEH
BENBREARE - IRBMIRR/FE
BEATHER  AIBLEERHBENRE
iR M E TR E M HRRT A
AREER  REAEREENTE
AIFPZAL RIFERE B R AR BE &
T BN EmEERNBERBA RS
BIEPFEISHB|ATRE - AT - RKE
HRIERAIEERR BRETEEER
BIgE -

. HERAMBHRERNEBEIE N - &
BEAR  BREEEN  URGEHY
BRERBAARRRZ REIR -

. B EEEERIEBIDNUBKER
ERRxD  EAENENERE  NEEE
MBHRREKRER - HMBEERE &
BERATEEER - RAIEFTE A
EEHAER -

BMREZZE QBB EFTRE  BHEHLT
B BEAEMEREEH  SERMANETH
IR H O R B O (E R = RBR A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIAGBERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. TSANG, Chiu Hang.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meRER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_—E—-—=#+—-H=4+—HIFFZF

2023 2022
—E-=F T F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaF FET FAET
REVENUE WA 8 352,640 352,276
Other income and gains, net EMA Rz - FEE 6 65,100 48,458
Cost of inventories sold EETFERA (844) (6,019)
Employee benefit expenses BTENER (73,376) (63,491)
Depreciation and amortisation PTE IS (2,539) (3,207)
Utilities, repairs and maintenance and A= . #ERIRE
rental expenses ARESHAT (108,140) (116,437)
Other operating costs H{th 4R pR 2K (36,944) (32,392)
Finance costs W58 A 7 (129,112) (136,450)
Other expenses, net HEMER  F5 (7,129) (24,116)
Impairment of trade and lease B E 5 KA ERTRE
receivables, net SRR 21(b) (6,892) (8,122)
Remeasurement gain upon transfer ETHELEYEE S
of certain properties held for sale to KEWMERZ
investment properties Bt EkES 15(c) 193,412 51,175
Fair value loss of investment "EMENTEESSE -
properties, net it 15 (316,123) (395,952
LOSS BEFORE TAX BATEE 8 (69,947) (334,277)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEse,/ (FAx) 11 (59,360) 14,151
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AR RREMS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO rEEFE
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY (129,307) (820,126)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE FANNG S
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF EihEREE
THE COMPANY
Basic and diluted (HK cent per share) AR EE (ZAEN)) 113 (4.04) (10.01)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AREEERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE —ZE—-—=%#+—=-H=+—HIFF

2023 2022
—EC-=HF T F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FAETT FEIT
LOSS FOR THE YEAR TEEEE (129,307) (320,126)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Htp2mEWzE A (EE)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) A1 BfE] Al GEE 9 XE = 1R an Y
that may be reclassified to profit or E 2 Eias (EE) -
loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences: fEH =58
Exchange differences on BB GINSEHETEEE 2
translation of foreign operations P H Z=RE (21,598) (295,192)
Reclassification adjustments for BERNHEHBINETS
foreign operations disposed of EITENDERAE
during the year 36 - 373
(21,598) (294,819)
Other comprehensive loss that BRI T EES R
will not be reclassified to profit or loss BRI A M2 EETE
in subsequent periods:
Equity investment at fair value BRAFEF ARMEEKE
through other comprehensive HEmIRE
income:
Changes in fair value NHEZE (2,011) -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AEEHMEEES
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX HIBRBLIE (23,609) (294,819)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS D FRREMNS
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE AFEEXEHBRAER
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY (152,916) (614,945)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEIBERRR

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaF FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 14 1,529 2,091
Investment properties KEYE 15 5,323,355 4,935,257
Right-of-use assets {EE AEEE 16 2,842 4,094
Computer software P B e 17 961 679
Equity investment at fair value through ?§Q$Tﬁa‘|‘)\ﬁfﬂ
other comprehensive income EHEBEHEREE 18 18,117 =
Deferred tax assets EEFIBE B 32 - 13,786
Total non-current assets JEMENE LR 5,346,804 4,955,907
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Properties held for sale EIEH Sy 19 160,026 550,111
Inventories Ny 20 914 860
Trade and lease receivables ﬁgéuﬁzféf% MEER 21 170,033 133,098
Prepayments, deposits and other TANFIE ~ FT& REM
receivables e Llﬁlm)\ 22 191,612 184,332
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAE TR
profit or loss TREE 24 11,261 11,496
Other tax recoverables EH b AT Uk O FiIE 41,724 50,748
Restricted cash ZIREIRE 25 184,693 4,324
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIESEEY 26 305,556 349,182
Total current assets mENEEAZE 1,065,819 1,284,151
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables FENE SR 27 67,263 88,759
Receipts in advance TEW FRIA 28 75,828 72,807
Other payables and accruals HE eI R ERTE R 29 245,955 247,152
Bank and other borrowings ﬂ%&,ﬁtﬁmﬁ?x 30 739,895 108,446
Income tax payables FER SR 39,489 28,975
Other tax payables EAb BRI 10,069 8,287
Total current liabilities mEN B EAE 1,178,499 554,426
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HEMBERIAR

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

2023 2022
—EC-=HF B F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
it FET FET

NET CURRENT ASSETS/ RBEE(8E)EH

(LIABILITIES) (112,680) 729,725
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERAERRBAR

LIABILITIES 5,234,124 5,685,632
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Bank and other borrowings IRITREHALE R 30 1,910,933 2,220,064
Liability component of perpetual XA ESZ

convertible bonds =Lt:1%) 31 45,283 57,245
Deferred tax liabilities REIETIE A E 32 175,616 159,694
Total non-current liabilities BB EREE 2,131,832 2,437,003
Net assets BEFE 3,102,292 3,248,629
EQUITY X
Equity attributable to shareholders <A R R R FE(LER

of the Company
Share capital A& 7N 33 3,152,571 3,152,571
Equity component of perpetual KA ES 2

convertible bonds =D 31 1,172,244 1,172,244
Reserves ] 35 (1,222,523) (1,076,186)
Total equity TR ARRE 3,102,292 3,248,629

Wei Chunxian Sun Zhongmin
MuE BMHR
Director Director
EFE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER
Year ended 31 December 2023 B2 —EFE - =#+_-HA=+—HIFFZF

2023 2022
—EB_=HF —EC 4
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
k3 FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHEENRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax A (69,947) (334,277)
Adjustments for: FHEIEE :
Finance costs 7% & A 7 129,112 136,450
Interest income MBI A 6 (7,627) (4,742)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment W B MR 8 193 3
Depreciation of property, plant and VI BB
equipment e 8 880 937
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREESERE 8 1,530 1,944
Amortisation of computer software BB 5 8 129 326
Remeasurement gain upon transfer ETHIELEMEE L
of certain properties held for sale to BEMER L
investment properties EiErElE 15(c) (193,412) (51,175)
Fair value loss of investment properties, KEMENTEERE -
net FEE 15 316,123 395,952
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMBARKE 6 = (3,809)
Financial guarantee income HBERERKRA 6 (11,109) (11,112)
Impairment of trade and lease JEWE 5 R EFIBRE
receivables, net HEE 21(b) 6,892 8,122
Share option expense R 8 6,579 -
Gains on derecognition of financial liabilities 4% |- FESRI%#E S5 A AN 5T 2 19
at amortised costs TREE 2 Wa 6 (28,924) =
Loss on remeasurement of financial BT IEERENER
guarantee contracts 8 338 9,306
Operating profit before working capital LIEESEBRINEEEA
changes 150,757 147,925
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERAD, (38 m) (73) 202
Increase in trade and lease receivables FEWE 5 M EBRIIE N (43,584) (52,686)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and AR ~ 512 REAM
other receivables FEWGRIBR A 28,656 23,534
Increase in amounts due from related parties & U B854 75 R IE L (37,335) (21,290)
Decrease in other tax recoverables L Ath AT U =1 5 IE R 7,939 13,290
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FER B ZERFIE I, Cid) (23,672) 50,587
Increase/(decrease) in receipts in advance B IEE I, CRi ) 2,919 (2,364)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and HipENZFEREAE R
accruals #an, Crd) 10,739 (240,379)
Increase in other tax payables H Ath pEAT B IR A0 1,875 5,321
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  [E R4 B) /28 548 13,246 (22,692)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KBTS (FTA)REE 111,467 (98,552
PRC corporate income tax paid BT B ZEAEH (2,120) 975)
UK income tax paid B IRE TSR (5,132) (6,834)
Net cash flows from/(used in) EESEETS, ()RS
operating activities MEFE 104,215 (106,361)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE —ZE—-—=%#+—=-H=+—HIFF

2023 2022
—EBE_=HF —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHEENRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received BEFE 7,627 4,742
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEBEYE  BENREEE
equipment (537) (820)
Additions to investment properties NEIREYSE (133,174) (123,428)
Additions to computer software BEENEM (428) (102)
Disposal of a subsidiary LERBAF 36 = (753)
Purchase of principal-protected investment B8 B & A F(EEH AIBZH
deposits at fair value through profit or loss RARETFR (11,053) (11,560)
Redemption of a principal-protected BERIZR AT ET ABIRN
investment deposit at fair value through IRAIGETFR
profit or loss 11,053 -
Purchases of equity investment designated 18 EIRA R BEEA
at fair value through other comprehensive Hip 2 mEIRGERESIRE
income 18 (20,128) -
Increase in restricted cash SR HIFR2IE N (180,846) (4,324)
Net cash flows used in investing activities WEEENFTRH
REmEFE (327,486) (136,245)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHELENRESRE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans HERITER = 927,960
Repayments of bank loans BERITEN (17,242) (8,700)
New loan from an independent third party B E = FRENFTER - 624,307
Repayments of advance from a former (BZRIRARE 2 B3k
related party - (749,850)
New loans from financial institutions CRIEBIRHAITER 322,327 29,987
Repayment of loans from financial institutions &8 % Bkl 2 B3 (5,571) (5,374)
Repayment of a quasi-loan equity BEAETEARAEBATR
contributed by a joint venture partner WEE S
of a subsidiary = (548,656)
Advances from/(repayment to) other related  E A BAEE T 2 Ek (B
parties (10,086) 84,044
Interest paid for bank and other borrowings B 15 #R17 & E i fE 2 F &, (114,212) (77,419)
Principal portion of lease payments HMERNFZEEZEHD (1,516) (1,834)
Net cash flows from financing activities BEEEPTSHY
RemE R 173,700 274,465
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN BHERBRESEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ®in, (i) FHE (49,571) 31,859
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYRe MRESEEY
of year 349,182 304,049
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ SRt B2/ 28 520 5,945 13,274
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRAERAEEEY
AT END OF YEAR 26 305,556 349,182
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION

GR Life Style Company Limited (formerly known as GR
Properties Limited) (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong and shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered
office and the principal place of business of the Company
is located at Unit 3505, Tower One, Lippo Centre, No. 89
Queensway, Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
were involved in the following principal activities:

- property development and investment in the United
Kingdom (the “UK?”), the United States of America (the
“USA”) and the mainland (“Chinese Mainland”) of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”); and

= provision of property management services in
Chinese Mainland.

As at 31 December 2023, the immediate holding company
of the Company is Wintime Company Limited (“Wintime”),
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Widewealth
Company Limited (“Widewealth”), which is incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.

B 35 ERaRMRE

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

LFREEEH

Bl A E AR AR (RIBE St EFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. AFIREKEEHE (&)
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about principal subsidiaries EFREERBELATNHEH

R-BE-_=F+-_A=+—8 ' &ARQ7
FENBRARIHBEARFEEFE)N

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, which
are all indirectly held by the Company, as at 31 December

2023 are as follows: FIEWT
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary Percentage of
registration share capital/ equity attributable
Company name and operations registered capital to the Company  Principal activities
S/ ERA BRTZERET ENRE
ARER S-Sk &R BEE TELEER
East Pacific Properties LLC Delaware, USA United States 100%  Property investment
EENE dollars (‘US$’) MERE
23,250,000
23,250,000% 7T
(EA)
GR Properties USA Inc. Delaware, USA US$1 100%  Property development
FEUAE e and investment
MEFRREE
Washington Motor LP Nevada, USA US$12,000,000 100%  Property development
FEREE 12,000,000% 7T and investment
WEERRIRE
Talented Chief Limited British Virgin Islands/UK US$50,000 100%  Property investment
ERRLES/HE 50,0005 7T NERE
LREERREERERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland Renminbi (‘RMB’) 100%  Property investment
(MtRERRNRER]) /B 1,000,000 NERE
(“Befing Wangangtong ARE(TARE])
Technology Development”)/ 1,000,0007C
LRI REERERAA PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,960,000 99.9%  Sale of properties and
([sARHE ) FE /B ARE ARH1,960,0007T property investment
(“Kaipeng Technology”)’ MEHERMERE
IR AR EEEER AR PRC/Chingse Mainland RMB50,000,000 100%  Provision of property
FE/REARE AE#50,000,0007 management services
RENZERRY
i These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability

ZEH B QR RIE R B AZEM
companies under PRC Law. BERAT -

EERABEINAQGMNBRARIRESR
BHASERNTFEEEATFELENIE
KASREFEEFZEH»HRAE c EE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in RE - BHIEMMTE AR EAFIEA
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive ALK - R -

length.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties,
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Going concern

As at 31 December 20283, the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$113 million, which includes an interest-
bearing bank borrowing of HK$721 million classified as
current liability due to a potential non-compliance of a
financial covenant. According to the terms and conditions
of the facility agreement of this bank borrowing, one of the
financial covenants relates to the valuation of an investment
property and the valuation is subject to regular reviews by
the bank. Based on the fair value of the investment property
as included in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group may not comply with the aforesaid financial covenant,
but the valuation is subject to further review by the bank.
If eventually it is confirmed as a non-compliance of the
financial covenant by the bank, the Company may have
to take remedial action as agreed by the bank. Based on
the management’s understanding, the remedial action (if
necessary) will likely be partial repayment of the bank loan. In
an extreme circumstance in which the remedial action is not
agreed by the bank, the bank may request for an immediate
repayment of the entire bank loan.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

Bl IS ER R B R
—E-——Ff—H=1+—H

EatER

RBERE
ZERAMBHRRERBE LG
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BEEA(TEEH B RS ER]) (B
PREBRBMBIRELER - BB EHER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023

2.1

—E-—=Ff—-H=1+—H

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern (continued)

This condition indicates the existence of a material
uncertainty relating to going concern. In assessing the
Group’s ability to operate as a going concern, a cash
flow projection has been prepared by the management,
after giving careful consideration to the future liquidity
requirements, operating performance of the Group and
available sources of financing for a period of not less than
twelve months from the end of the reporting period. The
following plans and measures are formulated to mitigate the
liquidity pressure arising from the possible actions by the
bank:

- The Group will continue to communicate with the
bank on the loan arrangement and agree with the
bank on any possible remedial actions (if necessary)
that the Group needs to take regarding the aforesaid
matter;

= The Group has obtained a shareholder loan facility
from Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Limited
of HK$200,000,000, of which HK$110,871,000
remains unutilised by the Group as at 31 December
2023. Subsequent to the reporting period, in March
2024, the maturity date of the shareholder loan has
been extended to 31 December 2027;

- In the case when partial repayment of bank loan
is required by the bank as remedial action and the
partial repayment amount is agreed based on the
fair value of the investment property as included in
the consolidated financial statements, the Group will
arrange necessary funding for the repayment through
(i) the existing cash and cash equivalents held by the
Group outside the Chinese Mainland; (i) selling the
listed equity investment held by the Group; and/or
(iii) utilising the remaining facility under the aforesaid
shareholder loan facility; and
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern (continued)

The following plans and measures are formulated to mitigate
the liquidity pressure arising from the possible actions by the
bank: (continued)

— In an extreme circumstance in which the remedial
action is not agreed by the bank and the bank
demands for immediate repayment of the entire
bank loan, the Group will dispose of the mortgaged
investment property for the repayment. Based on
the fair value of the investment property as included
in the consolidated financial statements as at 31
December 2023, the fair value less cost of disposal is
sufficient to repay the entire bank loan.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
cash flow projection prepared by management, which cover
a period of not less than twelve months from 31 December
2023. They are of the opinion that, after taking into account
the aforementioned plans and measures, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operation and
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.
Accordingly, the Directors consider that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The Group’s ability to generate sufficient cash flows to
continue as a going concern is subject to significant
uncertainty and will depend on the expected repayment
amount of the aforesaid bank loan. Should the bank not
agree on the remedial action resulting in a significant
increase in the repayment of the bank loan and the value of
the mortgaged investment property is insufficient to repay
the entire bank loan, the Group may be unable to continue
as a going concern, in that case adjustments would have to
be made to reduce the carrying values of the Group’s assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for financial liabilities
which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023

2.1

—E-—=Ff-H=1+—H

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2028. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

() the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group has directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 17

BN REERE175R

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

ARG ERER REAM RS ZER
BERREF2RUSETA)

Amendments to HKAS 8

ARG ERIFESHK(BE]A)

Amendments to HKAS 12

o

Wies
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Insurance Contracts
RERE#)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates
it hEHAES

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction

BB GETERIFE125E(BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 12
ERBSFERIFE 125 (1BFT )

BIREIF Z AL R B EME [E1ERREL F A
International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(a) Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. Amendments
to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements provide non-monetary guidance on how
to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the
material accounting policy information in note 2 to
the financial statements. The amendments did not
have any impact on the measurement, recognition
or presentation of any items in the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

()

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group’s
approach and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available)
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The adoption of
amendments to HKAS 12 did not have any material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

— = —

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

©)

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes, including the disclosure of current tax
related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the
periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and
the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group
has applied the amendments retrospectively. Since
the Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar
Two model rules, the amendments did not have any
impact to the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IS SRR EE

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EBEMERKRENHEERM
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING FREER
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, AREBWANRZETERERPEAAT
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these BEME H R AR EIEE] BB 15 TR
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these LR o REFBNRZERIEETE ST
revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective. TR EER A B fE A2 S RES] BB

PSR (WER)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
BB EHREERE 1057 B ST 4R REZHRIGE N RIS A E PR R EEL & FES

F28(IBETAN)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

ARV BREENFE165(EFTAR) #HEEIRHE B &

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020

Amendments”)'. 4
ARG ERERUEETR) HEESIE BB B ([ = FE = FF A )
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)'. 4

ARG ERER(EFTR) W2 R FE B B A ([ —FE = —F &5 )4

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements?

EBSERIETR RBBYEREERETS AEGHELH

CHEN)

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

BB GRTERFE215R(BFTA) = gt

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 1 RZZT-_mMFE—A—HB=x 2 &A%
2024 B 4F [Z HAR A 2

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 RZT-_RAF—A—HBxz2%&RAR
2025 B 4F [Z HAR A 2

E No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for 8 M EEFRHEXBE - AT
adoption REEHM

4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 4 AR T _TFEIIAR T -
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of FIEFIAR  BERBESEIZ2/8
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a BH#HE —EAANH OEZEKEE
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause gz ERIEH 2 52 | BEER]
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no FIEEE AR B MR T2

change in conclusion
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.

(b) Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(©

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what it meant by a right to defer settlement
and that a right to defer must exist at the end of
the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement. The amendments also
clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity
instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a
convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with early application permitted.
An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments
early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require
revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

2.3

— = —

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

©)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the
amendments is permitted. The amendments provide
certain transition reliefs regarding comparative
information, quantitative information as at the
beginning of the annual reporting period and interim
disclosures. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate a
spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of
financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an
entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative
amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at
the date of initial application. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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24

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures investment properties, equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

24

Bl IS ER R B R
—E-——Ff—H=1+—H

FEETHFRRE

LNFEEE

RERSHER - AEBRATEFE
BREYE BRAVFESAEME2EKE
MR E MR A HER ABRA TR
BE - ATEREMBS2EERTER
MBFRZF - HE—HEEMEKE
M EREA B AER - AFER
ENERLEEENERABNRSHE
HEABEXRENEZMHET - K
THEEEEMSNERT - AEHERE
EXABENRENTHETHRE - £
Emin(XERANTE)EEEAKEEE
WEANTS - BEXRBENAFET
ENmis2REEHZEEXABER
R (BRRMS2EENERELLENE
RS AITR)ERANERRTE

FEREENATEFESERMEL
HEFBARAREEBZEEERR
ERE - JEBRZEELEHREEHA
RAREERZEEEHZERENE
fin 2 REELLENEHIREN

AEERBEEMNERA T ERLAER
SR MABBEFO[RERNETER
e ZECRARBEABRRBAELE
ERVERTAERBAE-

1R 2023 BHEEERAT 167



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IS SRR EE

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESFHRRBEE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties R Bk 75
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ERFERT - Bl— AR AHEAEE
B8
@) the party is a person or a close member of that @) &L 2k B EZ A A BB R B IO 2R BE
person’s family and that person: Bk B EEARE EAEREE - AR
A
0] has control or joint control over the Group; (i) HASE BTSSR
PRI
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEBEMEATE
59
(i)  is a member of the key management (i)  RALEHERARA
personnel of the Group or of a holding FAREEASRKE ;

company of the Group;

or B9
(o)  the party is an entity where any of the following (b) WRERUATEMER - AXEE

conditions applies: BE R R£ B AR 2

0] the entity and the Group are members of the (i) ZEBNAEEZR—%
same group; Eojpa=t

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of (i) F—ERBES—EB(H
the other entity (or of a holding company, EZS—EBEBONERA
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other GIRENEIEAEES )
entity); NaE)HEE NS &

(=S

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of (i) ZE BN EEH MR
the same third party; FZTMEEDLE

(v)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy H—EBBEE=S78&%
and the other entity is an associate of the third TEWES—EEEZE
entity; =B

v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan ) ZEBERASE AR
for the benefit of employees of either the SEHEENEENES
Group or an entity related to the Group; & AR R BE B 2 R AT

2l ;

(vl the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a V)  ZERX(@EPEARN

person identified in (a); PR ek EE R
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a holding company of the entity); and

(vii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to a holding company
of the Group.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
investment properties, deferred tax assets, properties
held for sale, inventories and financial assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating
unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.

170 GRLIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

24 FESHBRIBEGE)

RABE S (18)
) (&)

(vii)

—

a)()EFTI M EAEZE
?5@@7&?;%&%%
(R E ML
F‘sﬁfkaﬁ}\aﬁ’ﬂﬁé ;

i)
‘kﬁ’@

1)
3

= /ﬂﬂfh} \m}

E“u’

WB

(viiiy  MAEBEHAKER/ AT

RHEAREIEABRBEH
BESk EFTB S B
ET o

i

S o s

\;
/

N

e

MR ERE

BRTREME  BEEHAEE - FHFD
EVE  FEREREEI R—A
BEFEREDNR  KFRETFER
BRI - A EENAIBEEE - &
Er B SBIERZEEXRTELET
MEREEMNAFERLEERMET
MBAEE - UREREEETE @ I
FZEETRELERN LBYNEME
EXEEAMELNRESRA - EEF
M EEZEEMBMNRESELE
LR AR E SRR - RERSELEE
TTRERIEE - A & E —BUtETD
fid - ARIEE(EEARE) B BARE
BeRyRIENREELEML - BRI
W k2K RS ELEMAR -

RAEBERAERSE RO S ERE -
AHERRERE - FHEEREER - K
RARBRERMTZHESRREEBMEE
R4 E BB HO B RO ATIT IR X - 1k
AIARIIRERENAIRE © REBER
ELHEREREEEDE SR
DA E BRI



24

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IS SRR EE

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FERHBRBE(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation ME  BERSERERE(8)
(continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write ZIEWE - BEM&REFEAESEER
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to EMENHHERERRNEIRERANE
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal HEE srENEZTEFHOT ¢
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:
Building Over the shorter of the lease term and 2.5%
BT MHEB K2 5% G E
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 33.3%
HEMEEE T E I 33.3% iR G H
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 10% to 33.3%
FL - REFMPAERE 10%Z33.3%
Motor vehicles 20%
e 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHBRIBE(HE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties
Investment properties include both completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction.

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation.

Completed investment properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Investment properties under construction or development
for future use as investment properties are classified as
investment properties under construction. Such properties
under construction are measured at cost, including
transaction costs, and subsequent to initial recognition, are
stated at fair value at the end of the reporting period when
the fair value can be determined reliably.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
period of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from inventories (i.e., properties held for sale)
to investment properties, any difference between the fair
value of the property at the date of change in use and its
previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component, the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate a non-
lease component and to account for the lease component
and the associated non-lease component (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a single
lease component.

@ Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
the straight-line basis over the following depreciation
periods, which are the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
ME T
Office premises
YNESYED
Motor vehicle

e
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

@)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests
in leasehold land held as inventories, they are
subsequently measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value in accordance with the Group’s
policy for “inventories”. When a right-of-use asset
meets the definition of investment property, it is
included in investment properties. The corresponding
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, and
subsequently measured at fair value, in accordance
with the Group’s policy for “investment properties”.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the interest rate implicit in the lease
or, where that rate cannot be readily determined,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in bank and
other borrowings.

Computer software

Computer software acquired separately is measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of computer software are
assessed to be finite.

Computer software is subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the computer software may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
computer software is reviewed at least at each financial year
end. The estimated annual rate of amortisation of computer
software is 10%.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade and lease receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value
plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade and lease receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset (debt instrument) to be classified
and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets (debt
instruments) with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E vt B

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHBRIBE(HE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets

(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
(debt instruments) refers to how it manages its financial
assets (debt instruments) in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets (debt instruments), or both. Financial
assets (debt instruments) classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets (debt instruments) in order
to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
(debt instruments) classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets (debt
instruments) which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

(@) Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023 —ZE—-=#+_-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

(b) Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, except when the
Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of
part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject
to impairment assessment.

() Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

(continued)
Impairment (continued)

@

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information. The Group considers that there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

(continued)

Impairment (continued)

@) General approach (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade and lease receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which
credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs

Stage2 - Financial instruments for which
credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 - Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date
(out that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

(continued)
Impairment (continued)

(b)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For lease receivables, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

(continued)

Derecognition (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are all classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at amortised cost, which are recognised
initially at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract
is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted
for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the
higher of: (i) the ECLs allowance determined in accordance
with the policy as set out in “Investments and other financial
assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Perpetual convertible bonds

The component of perpetual convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in
the consolidated statement of financial position, net of
transaction costs. On issuance of perpetual convertible
bonds, the fair value of the liability component is determined
using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond;
and this amount is carried as a financial liability at amortised
cost. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the
equity component of the perpetual convertible bonds that
is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net
of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the equity
component of the perpetual convertible bonds is not
remeasured in subsequent years. Transaction costs are
apportioned between the liability and equity components of
the perpetual convertible bonds based on the allocation of
proceeds to the liability and equity components when the
instruments are initially recognised.

Properties held for sale
Properties held for sale are intended to be held for sale and
are classified as current assets.

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the estimated selling price based on prevailing
market conditions less estimated costs to be incurred in
marketing and selling the properties.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

186 GRLIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

24

FEEMHBRBEGE)

Ik AT 8B (R %5

HA B ERHRKABREZBO R
FORR 32 5 AR AN R R & B ISR 2R a8
RAME - BITKARRERESE - AF
oM A FERAFENATRARESRN
TISMEREE @ MASRILBHIAA
R REemAE o SR TARRARR
RPRAR D LKA AR BT Z 1
BB D MR A aE M RERR I A
AER o SKARBRES 2 Bl /Y
REETSNERFEENITE - 5
XA B R HER % S T AKRAISRIA
PERERERERBONLHIERER
IKARRR B 77 2 Hezn 8l 0 Z TR D BC

LN,
FREDD

S EM%E
FERENERBRREREY D ERR
BEE

FrEH E MR A A 3R FEME
PREHFI - IRBFELEREE
AT ISAOR AT R EEREERE R HE
MEREENBANAETE °

R
FERKA R S FERE 2 RIEE
AR o RATIRBSTHE ST HHIAEERE © A
BHFERBEFTEER L ESHS
EEREAIAE AT E



24

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHBREE(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E vt B

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHBRIBE(HE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with.

Where the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(@)

(b)

Provision of property management and other services
In respect of property management services, the
Group’s property management fee is charged
on a lump sum basis. The Group acts as the
principal and is primarily responsible for providing
the property management services to the property
owners, accordingly the Group recognises property
management fee received or receivable from property
owners as its revenue and all related property
management costs as its cost of services. Revenue
from the provision of property management and other
services is recognised over time when the services
are rendered.

Restaurant operation

Revenue from restaurant operation is recognised at
the point in time when catering services have been
provided to customers.

Revenue from other sources
Revenue from rental income is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors of the Company) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of
equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a Black-Scholes model, further details of which are
given in note 34 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in the share option reserve in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.
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24

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date
fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but
without an associated service requirement, are considered
to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification. Where an equity-settled award
is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Upon the exercise of share options, the resulting shares
issued are recorded by the Company as additional share
capital. In addition, at the time when the share options
are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the
share option reserve will be transferred to the share capital
account.

Options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or
lapse are deleted from the register of outstanding options.
When the share options are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in the share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses as a
movement in reserves.

Other employee benefits (pension schemes)

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Other employee benefits (pension schemes)

(continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions vest fully once made and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries established
in Chinese Mainland and overseas are currencies other
than HK$. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into HK$
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in
the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of certain subsidiaries established in
Chinese Mainland and overseas are translated into HK$ at
the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of these entities which arise
throughout the year are translated into HK$ at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions, that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the financial statements and have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are set out
below:

Provision for ECLs on trade and lease receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade and lease receivables, by applying ECL rates to
different ageing groups of trade and lease receivables. The
ECL rate of each ageing group is determined by the Group
based on the average of historical incurred credit loss
experience on each ageing group in the past years and,
where material, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may not be representative of
customers’ actual default in the future and significant
management estimates are required in the estimates. When
the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from
the original estimates, such differences will impact on the
carrying amounts of trade and lease receivables and the
amount of ECLs provided or reversed in the periods in which
such estimates have been changed. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade and lease receivables is
disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
The fair values of the Group’s investment properties are
assessed by management based on property valuations
performed by independent professionally qualified valuers.
The assumptions adopted in the property valuations are
based on information of annual rental income and property
market price per square metre, supported by (i) the terms
of any existing leases and other contracts; and (i) (when
possible) external evidence such as current market rents and
recent prices for similar properties in the same location and
condition.

Further details of the fair value estimation of the investment
properties, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are set out in note
15 to the financial statements.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong,
Chinese Mainland, the USA and the UK. The Group carefully
evaluates tax implications of its transactions in accordance
with prevailing tax regulations and makes tax provision
accordingly. However, judgement is required in determining
the Group’s provision for income taxes as there are many
transactions and calculations, of which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain, during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, the
differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the periods in which the determination is made.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

In addition, the Group has investment properties located in
the PRC, the USA and the UK which are measured at fair
value. Investment property is property held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or both. In considering whether the
presumption in HKAS 12 Income Taxes that an investment
property measured at fair value will be recovered through
sale is rebutted in determining deferred tax, the Group has
developed certain criteria in making that judgement, such
as whether an investment property is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time or through sale. The presumption is rebutted only
in the circumstance that there is sufficient evidence such
as a historical transaction, future development plan and
management’s intention to demonstrate that the investment
property is held with the objective to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits over time, rather than through
sale. Continuous assessments on the presumption will be
made by management at each reporting date.

Estimation of fair value of financial guarantee

contracts

The financial guarantee contracts have been recognised and
measured as detailed in “Financial guarantee contracts” in
note 2.4 to the financial statements. The estimation of fair
value of the Group’s financial guarantee contracts involved
assessment of ECLs which is a significant estimate and the
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecast economic conditions. The Group classifies the
credit exposure of the financial guarantee contracts as stage
1. Further details are included in note 29(b) to the financial
statements.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on the nature of their products and
services and has two reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@ the property development and investment segment
engages in property development and investment in
the UK, the USA and Chinese Mainland; and

(b) the property management segment engages in the
provision of property management and other services
for office buildings, residential properties and car
parks in Chinese Mainland.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 ER R X

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BERREIHGE)

(continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating EEEEEEBRAEESKEERBANE
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions B DURTE DB R & ERIR -
about resource allocation and performance assessment. MR RIBBIE RS RS T EET
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable 5 MENSHARBRF SN Bt
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/ B o KR ATEAEiEMEt 2 B
loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is EERANENEREE—% - 5
measured consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax STEWNEERBRARKAKRER °

except that head office and corporate income and expenses
are excluded from this measurement.

Segment assets and segment liabilities exclude unallocated IR EEMNPIEBE TR ROACAEE
head office and corporate assets and liabilities as these LAREEMEE BAZEEENE
assets and liabilities are managed on a group basis. BEECEEREREIE -
Property development
and investment Property management Total
NERBRRE NEER At
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

—®-=F -—F--—% CZB-ZfF -T--& CZEZZE ~-T-—
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET

Segment revenue (note 5) WM (H25) 148,018 133,668 204,622 218,608 352,640 352,276
Segment results RRLE (99,330)  (346,820) 31,105 42,671 (68,225) (304,149
Reconcillation: i
Other unallocated income and Hiv R DB Rz

gains 7,843 279
Corporate and other unallocated AR REMANEER

expenses (9,565) (30,407)
Loss before tax HAEE (69,947)  (334.277)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4., EERBEEIHEGE)
(continued)
Property development
and investment Property management Total
NERBRRE NEER &it
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f " —E-zf —E-C —E-=F -—E--
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tér FET Tér FET FiEr AT
Segment assets HREE 6,034,028 5,801,650 280,373 306,417 6,314,401 6,108,067
Reconciliation: e
Corporate and other unallocated ~ AFRAMAAREE :
assefs:
- Property, plant and equipment ~ —#1% « BE RRE 320 558
- Right-of-use assets —-FREEE 1,362 2,203
- Equity investment at fair value —ATFERA
through other comprehensive Ath 2 EYE
income BERSEE 18,117 -
— Prepayments, deposits and —-BA7E - FTe Rk
other receivables JEYzE 2,220 2,238
— Cash and cash equivalents -BERBELEEY 76,203 126,992
Total assets BEE 6,412,623 6,240,058
Segment liabilities RREE 413,600 2,596,584 2,756,781 243,461 3,176,831 2,840,045
Reconciliation: i -
Corporate and other unallocated ~ ARIREMANEELE -
liabilties:
- Other payables and accruals — AN RERER 4,133 4,298
-Duetoashareholderincluded ~ —ERREFIE(BEH
in bank and other borrowings RITREfETT) 89,129 87,505
~ Lease liabilities included in - HERR(BRRELT
bank and other borrowings REMEBERTF) 1,405 2,336
- Liabilty component of — kAT ER
perpetual convertible bonds aESn 45,283 57,245
Total liabilties Bafk 3310331 2,991429
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31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BERREIHGE)

(continued)
Property development
and investment Property management Total
NEFRBRRE NEER &t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“EB-z=E -ZE-C “B-=f CZZ-C “B-cE T

HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET T/ET FET T 7T 78T

Other segment information: HitiEs

Capttal expenditure* BARRX
_ Operating segments ~ @B 133174 123431 1,240 250 134414 123661
— Amount unallocated —knks®E - 3,779

134,414 127,460

Depreciation and amortisation TEREH

- Operating segments — @t 504 716 671 782 1,265 1,498
— Amount unallocated -APHeE 1,274 1,709
2,539 3,207
Remeasurement gain upon ETHRENENFEAR
transfer of certain properties BWEG BRI ER
held for sale to investment &
properties 193,412 51,175 - - 193,412 51,175
Fair value loss of investment RENEATESE F
properties, net & (316,123) (395,952) - - (316,123) (395,952)
Impairment of trade and EWE S REEER
lease receivables, net WEFE 461 133 6,431 7,989 6,892 8,122
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant * BEXAZBRREAEYE  BE &K
and equipment, investment properties, right-of-use assets - REME CRREEKSH
and computer software. B o
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

4.

EERREHE (&)

wEEH

(a) FEIBEFHKA

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Chinese Mainland ey N7 273,013 274,821
The UK S 52,850 52,716
The USA ES 26,777 24,739
352,640 352,276

The revenue information above is based on the WA B R TIRER P B mE, o

locations of the customers.
(b)  Non-current assets (b) FERBEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
Chinese Mainland B A e 3,322,906 2,841,836
The UK B 1,023,819 1,133,206
The USA x 998,591 964,318
Hong Kong B8 1,488 2,761
5,346,804 4,942,121

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

During each of the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022, there was no single external customer which
contributed 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for

each of these years.
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REVENUE 5. A
Disaggregated revenue information of the Group is as AREENWADTIERAT ¢
follows:
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE—_FE-_=f+-A=+—HLEE
Property
development
and Property
investment management Total
YRR
Segments I kBE Y HEERE &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Types of goods or services ERBREER
Rendering of property management and  $24t¥) & 18 &
other services H iR 7% - 203,412 203,412
Revenue from restaurant operation ZBCEMFIRA - 1,210 1,210
Total revenue from contracts BEAHW A B5E
with customers - 204,622 204,622
Revenue from another source HAb AR A
- Gross rental income from investment  — R G RE Y EKE
property operating leases MENHEE WABRE 148,018 = 148,018
Total revenue Nt 148,018 204,622 352,640
Timing of revenue recognition WA TER B
Services transferred over time W& B [ B2 7% AR 75 - 203,412 203,412
Services transferred at a point in time~~~ FEkS R 2584 BRT& - 1,210 1,210
Total revenue from contracts HFPAHBAREE
with customers - 204,622 204,622
Revenue from another source HAbHORIA
- Gross rental income from investment — & B8 E ML L
property operating leases HEMHES AR 148,018 = 148,018
Total revenue WA B 148,018 204,622 352,640
Geographical market WETHE
All revenue from contracts with customers was generated in FrERFAHWARFRBIRREEA °

Chinese Mainland.
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZEZ-_—#+-_A=+—RHILEE
Property
development
and Property
investment management Total
MEERE
Segments R RIZE MEER &&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
Types of goods or services EmSREES
Rendering of property management and 1=2{E¥IEEE &
other services H A fRAS = 211,680 211,680
Revenue from restaurant operation ERELEMFIRA = 6,928 6,928
Total revenue from contracts BEEHIW A E58
with customers = 218,608 218,608
Revenue from another source HsRBA
- Gross rental income from investment  — R BIREME L E
property operating leases HENHSWALE 133,668 = 133,668
Total revenue ONCE 133,668 218,608 352,276
Timing of revenue recognition WA TE RS
Services transferred over time B e PRI B % AR 7 = 211,680 211,680
Services transferred at a point intime ~~ BE R FE B % R 7% - 6,928 6,928
Total revenue from contracts EEE XM ALEE
with customers - 218,608 218,608
Revenue from another source E b HRUA
- Gross rental income from investment — R BB YL
property operating leases HEMNHS WA LR 133,668 = 133,668
Total revenue WA B2 133,668 218,608 352,276
Geographical market METDIS
All revenue from contracts with customers was generated in FIBERFA LR AR B KFEEAE -

Chinese Mainland.
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5. REVENUE (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were included
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E vt B

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

5 WBAG&E)

HEE

(a)

TRINTRA S B ER KA
S8 EFFABRSHUNANEE

2023 2022

—B-=F T —F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FETT FET

Property management services MEE IR RS 37,016 49,620

No revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December
2023 related to performance obligations satisfied or partially
satisfied in previous periods (2022: Nil).

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations in
contracts with customers is summarised below:

Provision of property management services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment in advance is normally required.

Restaurant operation
The performance obligation is satisfied when the catering
services have been provided to customers. The Group’s
trading terms with its customers are mainly cash or smart
cards settlement on delivery. The credit period is generally
less than one month.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15 to its revenue from the provision of property
management and other services for not disclosing the
remaining performance obligations under the Group’s
existing contracts as the Group recognises revenue from
the satisfaction of the performance obligation in the amount
to which the Group has a right to consideration from a
customer that corresponds directly with the value to the
customer of the entity’s performance completed to date.
In addition, for all other contracts in which the performance
obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue
with an original expected duration of one year or less, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed as permitted under HKFRS 15.

(b)

REE-_T-_=F+=-A=+—H
WEFE  WARRERELAHEE B
TR BITHRBLEEEREHUK
MNZZEZZF &)

BHEE
FRASREREFENANENER
ER AR AT

FERYEETERE
JR#H B EREE R RGO R E R
17 BARFEREMNK -

B
BHBEERERRE P RHEEKR
BRERTT - AEERZTPIEN
ReRERREETRARS - B
H—RR—ERNRT -

AEERBEBY B RS LS
165 2 BERER 251 - iR M
MEEIE R EMRSE 2 WS BRT
BREAEEREGEEN T ZHR TR
BEff - AEBEHERARRERTE
WEEMELE  MAREAEER
FERERE MRELHEZAR
LTERBROEEZEFPEEERMR
oo peoh - AIRHETEESHER
RREHFHR - FIUAREZ
FAEEMENNS @ REEVH R
SEAFSHEAAT 2 EEZE

REBTRNZR GBI THRE -
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. HARKS ' B8
An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains, net is as ANER B IR 8RR A TS ) B A W A R i
2023 2022
—E-=F T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
BiaE FET FEIT

Other income Hiug A

Bank interest income HRITHE WA 4,956 428

Interest income from loan JEUCE 71 B U A

receivables 22(a) 2,653 4,072

Interest income from RERANFETA

principal-protected BmMRARE

investment deposits at KA A B A

fair value through profit or

loss 18 242
Compensation from a HER 2 fmE

contractor (@ - 12,921

Government grants TR # B (b) 6,485 5,411

Financial guarantee income B PEIRIA 29(b) 11,109 11,112

Others EHih 5,502 10,463

30,723 44,649

Other gains, net Hinizs - HEE

Foreign exchange gain, net SNEW ES - FEE 5,453 -

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary H&—EHB AT

2 Wi 36 - 3,809

Gains on derecognition of 25 E TR B 30(d)i),

financial liabilities at amortised ERAFTEMEREE  30(e)i),

costs BEz s 31(d) 28,924 -
34,377 3,809
65,100 48,458

Notes: Kiat -

(@) The amount represented compensation received from a (@) RABER EEBERE S — BT
contractor upon termination of a construction contract for BREMENEESAMKE AR
an investment property under construction in Culver City, EESGEENE
the USA.

(b) The amount mainly represented government subsidies, (b) ZRETEERRSEE  EBER KR

value-added tax refund and other tax refunds. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these

grants.
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FINANCE COSTS 7. M¥EHEH
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: AREBMBEEBRADTWOT ¢
2023 2022
—EB-=HF B4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HizF FET FET
Interest on loans from banks #2717 & & RIS IR A
and financial institutions B FE 116,457 66,205
Interest on a loan from NN i e el
a shareholder of the EREALE
Company 30(c) 1,624 1,624
Interest on loans from EEIEHIEEREN
director-controlled entities BRI 30(d) 2,017 727
Imputed interest on a loan EEEHEBIEMH
from a director-controlled BHRHHEER B
entity 30(d) 922 1,061
Interest on a quasi-loan MEBARIZEZE A A
equity contributed by a BRABRMERER
joint venture partner of a RIS
subsidiary 40(iv) - 13,423
Interest on loans from B E = H IR
independent third parties EFHIFE 30(e) 24,502 52,002
Interest on perpetual KA ESFIE
convertible bonds 31 2,227 1,500
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 16(b) 345 293
Total finance costs YIS ERRE 148,094 136,835
Less: Amount capitalised in B ERREYIHER
investment property EAR(EFIR
under construction (18,982) (389)
129,112 136,450
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

MAIRFIGIR

AEBOHAIEEE MG, (Ee) T

(crediting): BIE
2023 2022
—E-=F T
Notes HK$°000 HK$ 000
HiaF FET FEIT
Depreciation of property, W - BB RREITE
plant and equipment 14 880 937
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEETE
assets 16(a) 1,530 1,944
Amortisation of computer B
software 17 129 326
Write-off of property, plant WEEE -« B N RE
and equipment 14 193 8
Employee benefit expenses EERMNER (2
(including directors’ EEHM (M)
remuneration (note 9)):
Salaries, allowances and e RMMED
benefits in kind FZs 71,871 62,096
Equity-settled share option AR E R
expense FEAR R 34 6,579 -
Pension scheme RIKEFT SR
contributions 1,506 1,395
79,956 63,491
Auditor’s remuneration BTN & 2,250 2,180
Foreign exchange differences,  [E i, 8% 58
net (5,453) 13,559
Loss on remeasurement EIRIEMBER
of financial guarantee AHEE
contracts 29(b) 338 9,306
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEHM

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to BEBZATES EMAREN( ETHR
The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock B 1) ~ FBCRABED ) 5 383(1)(@@)
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(), (b), (c) and ©) ~ Q) ROIFARCARI(REEEH 0
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of BRDBODEHIFEN AN FEEES
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of BT

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Group
REE
2023 2022
—E-=HF T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FETT
Fees e 1,340 1,324
Other emoluments: E RN
Salaries, allowances and e EZBMNEYH G
benefits in kind - _
Pension scheme contributions BRIRESEEIHK 54 54
54 54
Total remuneration FrEN4aEE 1,394 1,378
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 0.

(continued)
An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named

EEFHMGR)

EEHFMOAERREE)DITIT

basis, is as follows:

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind contributions remuneration
& ERH Bike
ok BN BEEEN 230 P
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2023 BZ2-_E-=%H+_AH
=t-HLEE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Mr. We") ML ([5E4E]) 480 - 18 498
Mr. Sun Zhongmin (‘Mr. Sun”) BhEEE(TBEE]D) 500 - 18 518
Ms. Li Bing FETT - - - -
980 - 36 1,016
Independent non-executive directors: BV HH/TEE
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ENELLE 120 = 6 126
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HEEL+ 120 - 6 126
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming BT AE 120 - 6 126
360 - 18 378
Total At 1,340 - 54 1,304
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_E__F+_-8
=t+-HLLEE
Executive directors: HITEE .
Mr. Wei BiE 480 - 18 498
Mr. Sun FkAE 484 - 18 502
Ms. Li Bing TR+ - - - -
964 - 36 1,000
Independent non-executive directors: BV HEHTEE :
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric Epalipines 120 = 6 126
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HEEL+ 120 - 6 126
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming Re 120 - 6 126
360 - 18 378
Total = 1,324 - 54 1,378
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10.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(continued)

Note: There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2022:
Nil).

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two (2022: two) director, details of whose remuneration are
set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the
three (2022: three) non-director, highest paid employees for
the year are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E vt B

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

10.

EFHM(|)

Bfat ;. FREE SRR B DE E B
SRR (T4 &) -

IfEEFER

FN - AfiseFHEEFRBEEMA(Z
TToF  WB)ES  HFMFFR £
XHEF9 s FRN=%(ZF=__F : =
B)IFEENTEESHEEZHFHNFBN
T

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits He o R EYAZ=
in kind 3,965 3,856

Equity-settled share option VA4S Y

expenses AEARAE R 2 6,579 -
Pension scheme contributions RIS FT B 90 90
10,634 3,946
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

(continued)

The number of the non-director highest paid employees
whose remuneration (including share option expenses) fell
within the following bands is as follows:

10. hAfUEESHER (&)

HEH (B2 IEB RS ) EBRIA TEHE R
MFFEERSFHEBMHARNT :

Number of employees

EEA"

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-_F

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z21,000,000/5 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 8TE

1,500,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 7,500,00178 L&

8,000,000/ 7T 1 -

3 S

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year (2022: Nil).

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in countries/jurisdictions in which
the Group operates, based on the prevailing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

An analysis of the Group’s income tax charge/(credit) is as

11. FREMEH (&)
WAEESE + AR S N R A A
FBEAM SRR - B WiE
BEBFERERE( =
") o

HAbih 77 B RS A < AR REA
MRITEAR  RBRIES - HAKH
EEMERR RVERROBRITH R

= o
ZAr

AEREFREHER,(BR)DITAT -

follows:
2023 2022
—E-=HF T F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Current — Chinese Mainland B H— AR B KR 8,195 12,413
Current — UK EH— T 10,112 7,160
Deferred (note 32) BIE(H15#32) 41,053 (33,724)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year ERFIBER (#HHE)
ke 59,360 (14,151)
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11.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 11. FRSIREA (EB&R)(&)
(continued)
A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to RIBBERARA R M ERZHHE R A
profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory tax rates for the EEMMEHMA R EE SRS
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of (B EERERAELENHREER
its subsidiaries operate to the tax expense/(credit) at the () r EHIREERBRERAEHNTIIES
effective tax rates, and a recondiliation of the applicable tax B/ (R%)EER - AR ERT R (A
rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, EEMR)MEBERFARAERAOT -
are as follows:
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-B-_=F+-A=t+—-HLEE

Hong Kong Chinese Mainland Overseas Total
R HEAKE B fif
HK$°000 %  HK$'000 %  HKS$'000 %  HK$'000 %
FEr FE7 & FE7

Profit/{oss) before tax HiangR/ (B8) (1,788) 218,676 (286,835) (69,947)
Tax expense/(credt) at the statutory — EEH &atEH)

taxrate REBE/(F8) (295) 165 54672 %0 (12573) %3 (18,19) 2.0
Income not subject to tax BERHEHRA (3,636) >100 (3,512) (1.6) (3,418) 1.2 (10,566) 15.1
Expenses not deductible for tax TUENRENER 3,931 (>100) 1,180 0.5 82,199 (28.7) 87,310 (>100)
Adjustment in respect of current SEEERNDES

tax of previous periods HIB{EH AR - - - - 349 (01) 349 (0.5)
Tax losses utiised from BARLTEER

previous period - - (7,547) (3.5) - - (7,547) 10.8
Tax losses not recognised REAHIEER - - 304 0.1 7,706 @21 8,010 (11.5)
Tax expense at the Group's RASEERHRTEH

effective tax rate WEER - - 45,097 20.6 14,263 (5.0) 59,360 (84.9)
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 11. FRSIREA (EB®)(E\)
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZEZ-_—#+-_A=+—RHILEE
Hong Kong Chinese Mainland Overseas Total
&b N Ao G
HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FET T8 FET &7

Loss before tax il (30,091) (177,499) (126,691) (334,277)
Tax credit at the statutory REERETER

fax rate BEES (4,965) 165 (44374 %0 (25560 202 (74905) 24
Income not subject to ax BERBHRA ) 02 (6310 36 (409 32 (1038 31
Expenses not deductible for tax TAEARENER 5,012 (16.7) 6,343 (36) 42214 (333 53569 (16.0)
Adjustment in respect of current brg et alial

tax of previous periods HBfELRREE - - - - 1,967 (16) 1,967 08)
Tax losses utiised from HRREHARE

previous period - - (746) 04 - - (746) 02
Tax losses not recognised REAHBEE - - 10,088 6.7) 6,258 (5.0) 16,346 “9)
Tax expense/[credit] at the BREEERHREN

Group’s effective tax rate HEER/ (%) - - (34,999) 19.7 20,848 (16.5) (14,151) 42

12. DIVIDEND 12. KR

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final EERUITEERBE_S_=F+=

dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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13.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based
on the loss for the year attributable to shareholders of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
no adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented in respect of a dilution as the impact
of the perpetual convertible bonds and share options
outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per
share amounts presented.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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13.

F L FRREEBEREBGIR

BREBRNREARBRREIGEFAES
BRFADETERRMEFIEEE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IS SRR EE

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13. FLTFRRELTRESR
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (¥%8&)

(continued)

The calculations of the basic and diluted loss per share FIRERREEEBREU NEETE

amounts are based on the following data: /Y
Loss [ Fi=]
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to RETESRERREEER
shareholders of the Company, R A RO AN A 7]
used in the basic and diluted IR FE (G A E 1R
loss per share calculation (129,307) (320,126)

Number of ordinary shares

EERBE
2023 2022
—EC-=F —T--F
Weighted average number of ordinary R EEREAREE
shares in issue during the year, BERFRHAEE
used in the basic and diluted BEITL AR INETSH
loss per share calculation 3,199,373,986 3,199,373,986
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 ER R X

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. WX - BREREM

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HEWE &KW EEA
%€ BOERHE "E A%
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TEx FEx FEx
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-EC-=F
TZA=t-BLEE
At 1 January 2023: W-ZB-=£—f-}:
Cost R 1,281 6,639 2,339 10,259
Accumulated depreciation B E (752) (5,192) (2,224) (8,168)
Net carrying amount REFE 529 1,447 115 2,091
Net carrying amount: EEHE
At 1 January 2023 R-B-=£-f-H 529 1,447 115 2,091
Additions RE - 537 - 537
Depreciation provided during the year (note 8) - A& fssHas 2 (f:28) (219) (661) - (880)
Witeof s - (199 - (199
Exchange realignment [E o A% - (25) (1) (26)
At 31 December 2023 R-B_=F
+-A=+—-H 310 1,105 114 1,529
At 31 December 2023 WZE=Z=
+=ZA=1-A
Cost A 1,281 6,810 2,287 10,378
Accumulated depreciation Z:ITE (o71) (5,705) (2,173) (8,849)
Net carrying amount EEFE 310 1,105 114 1,529
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 9% - BMER&M(]8)

(continued)
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HENR & KEW \
B PAERE P BEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_E_—F
+ZA=t-HLEE
At 1 January 2022: R-E-—#—f—1:
Cost S 641 7,085 2,546 10,222
Accumulated depreciation S E (595) (4,921) (2,330) (7,846)
Net carrying amount EE%E 46 2,114 216 2,376
Net carrying amount: EHE -
At1 January 2022 RZE-_—_%#—H—H 46 2,114 216 2,376
Additions e 640 180 _ 820
Depreciation provided during the year (note 8) - 74 sH247 & (f:28) (157) (694) (86) (937)
Write-off s _ 3 _ 3
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36) HE—EHBAT
| (i) : 3 - 2
Exchange realignment [ E - (145) (15) (160)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F
+-A=t—H 529 1,447 115 2,091
At 31 December 2022: A S
+=A=1+-H:
Cost KR 1,281 6,639 2,339 10,259
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (752) (5,192) (2,224) (8,168)
Net carrying amount RmFE 529 1,447 115 2,001
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15.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A5 ER R X

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. BREYXE
Under
Completed construction Total
EER EESP &%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Ki5ta) (K1t p))
Carrying amount as at RZE-_—F
1 January 2022 —A—H/ERAE 5,166,586 300,917 5,467,503
Additions NE = 123,428 123,428
Net loss from fair N EREEED
value adjustments FEE (388,425) (7,527) (395,952)
Transfer from properties held for HBEEEELEmE
sale (note (c)) (K132 (c) 145,015 - 145,015
Exchange realignment M 7, 2 (404,383) (354) (404,737)
Carrying amount as at RZE—_—
31 December 2022 and +=—A=+—HK
1 January 2023 —EC=%F
—A—HHERAE 4,518,793 416,464 4,935,257
Additions NE - 133,174 133,174
Net loss from fair value adjustments A EFEEAR
FIEE (265,937) (50,186) (316,123)
Transfer from properties held for HEEARBEHEYE
sale (note (c)) (M) 571,426 = 571,426
Exchange realignment & H T (644) 265 (379)
Carrying amount as at N_E-_=F+_A1
31 December 2023 =t+—HERmEE 4,823,638 499,717 5,323,355
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023 —Z& ==

15.

#+=A=+—A

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The Group’s completed investment properties as at 31
December 2023 represented a commercial building located
in London, the UK; a commercial and residential complex
located in Santa Monica, the County of Los Angeles, State
of California, the USA (the “US Complex”); and a commercial
building located in Beijing, the PRC, which are leased to
third parties under operating leases, further summary details
of which are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

The Group’s investment property under construction as at
31 December 2023 and 2022 represented a parcel of land
located in Culver City, the USA (the “Culver City project”).

During the year, the use of certain units in the properties
held for sale has been changed upon the inception of
operating leases with external third parties. As a result, the
leased portion of the properties held for sale was transferred
to completed investment properties and a remeasurement
gain of HK$193,412,000 (2022: HK$51,175,000) was
recognised in profit or loss during the year.

Each year, the Group’s senior management decides which
external valuers to be appointed for the external valuations
of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include market
knowledge, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained.

The Group’s senior management has ongoing discussions
with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and results
when the valuations are performed. The Group’s investment
properties were revalued on 31 December 2023 based
on valuations performed by Vincorn Consulting and
Appraisal Limited and Cushman & Wakefield Western, Inc.,
independent professionally qualified valuers (2022: Colliers
International (Hong Kong) Limited, Colliers International
Property Consultant Limited and Cushman & Wakefield
Western, Inc.).
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15. REWEGR)

Hii -

(@)

R-EBE-_=%+_-_A=+—HAXE
BB EKBREMERURERE M
B —EEEETF - LR EE A
BEDMNEECHRELEERMMHEE
REME(ZREREME]D + kT
RPBIE R —EEETF - %2
FRELEMELRTFE=H ' &
—PBEFBRN B RERME
16 °

R-B_=FRK_ZF__F+_A
=t RAAREZERTREME

BUREXBRBAEMN 2 — R L
(I~@#HwEE ) -
RAFE  BINBE=DRITLZE

HER  BIELEMENITH BT
Z{EREAEEE) c AL RAFE
BIEHEEEVNHEL N EA
BEERIRE Y RN EE N TER
& 4 %5 A 193,412,0008 T (= &
— % : 51,175,000/ 7T) °

BF  AEERREEEREZRE
W—ZOMNEHEMEEAEEYE
BN {E - BURERIBIET IS A
B B R ERERBRRKE

$§%ﬁ&§1¥ﬁ1ﬁﬁﬁmﬁiﬁﬁ1ﬁ
LS Tirf”-iE'J‘uMEﬁTEfF““ RN
ZIREYERB L EEESERGER
Bhen AR EAERAR(ZE
F:ahEEMEBRRE(ES)BR
A 7] ~ Colliers International Property
Consultants Limited } Cushman &
Wakefield Western, Inc. ) i H &9 14 {&
RERETENGME -



15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A5 ER R X

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

Notes: (continued)

©)

15. EBEME(E)

et - (&)
(continued) (d) (&)
Fair value hierarchy disclosure AFEEBHREE
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, fair value measurements RIEBE_=FR T __F+=
of all of the Group’s investment properties are using A=+—8 KEEMEKREY
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 as defined in HKFRS ENRAFEFEHFEREKRNNA
13). During the year, there was no transfer into or out of BRg A ANBE(F-EBH) (xR
Level 3 (2022: Nil. ERMBHREERE135R) - 1
REE  HEBANENE=]E
FOAFEFE(ZE
') o
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and AR B AEERE G ERT
the key inputs to the valuation of the Group’s investment REAREERM R Em AE/
properties: e
Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range of input
fRER BARTHERAR BAEEE
2023 2022
—E-c=E —EoF
Completed investment properties
BENREME
A commercial building Income capitalisation ()  Equivalent yield 5.50% 4.93%
in UK (i) Unit market rent £48.00-£63.40 £66.34 per
per month per square foot of square foot of
gross floor area gross floor area
RIRE R EETF WAERA A ) FHBkamx 5.50% 4.93%
(i) BAENLTSEE SYFREBEER SYHREEEERE
48.00%63.405 85 66.34 585
The US Complex Income capitalisation () Capitalisation rate 4.75% 3.75%
(i) Unit market rent US$66-US$78 US$51-Us$78
per month per square foot of per square foot of
gross floor areaand  gross floor area and
US$5,619-US$6,021  US$4,487-US$8,171
per unit of bedroom  per unit of bedroom
or townhouse or townhouse
XBREME WAERA A ) BARfLE 4.75% 3.75%
(i) BAENLTSES SYFREBEE® SYHREEEEHE

66X TET8ETR 51XTET8ETLR

BEMNBER BEUEES
BHEE5619%ERE  WiHIT4 48752
6,021 7T 8171EL
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)  15. &M% (&)
Notes: (continued) Biat - (48)
(d) (continued) (@) (&
Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued) AFEEERIEE(E)
Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range of input
BRI EXTUBEEHAE BAEHE
2023 2022
iy - —Eo—fF
A commercial building Direct comparison ()  Sales comparison RMB35,600- RMB36,400-
in the PRC RMB43,600 RMB44,500
per square metre per square metre
for retail and for retail and
RMB44,712- RMB45,594-
RMB53,055 RMB50,496
per square metre per square metre
for office for office
RAEREEET HENEE i HEXR ZEEBTLK ZEBETAK
AK#35,6000F AR#36,4007t2
AR¥43,600T % AR 44,5007 K
BAEBFLK RREFGEHA
AR¥44,11270F AR 45,5042
AR¥53,0557T AR#50,4967T
Investment property under construction
EEHPREME
The Culver City project Direct comparison ()  Sales comparison US$661 Us$771
per square foot per square foot
of land area of land area
RERBIWIEE HEENEE i HEXR BRPARAEEERE STHIREEREDE
661% 7T TT1ETT
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15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

©)

(continued)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued)

The investment properties of the Group were valued using
the income capitalisation approach and direct comparison
approach. The income capitalisation approach is applied
based on net rental income that can be derived from
existing tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary
potential of the properties.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental
value in isolation would result in a significant increase/
(decrease) in the fair value of the investment properties. A
significant increase/(decrease) in the equivalent yield and
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the investment
properties. Generally, a change in the assumption made for
the estimated rental value is accompanied by a directionally
similar change in the rental value and an opposite change in
the equivalent yield and the capitalisation rate.

The direct comparison approach is applied based on
market price by referencing comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant markets. Market price is one of
the key inputs, taking into account the time, location and
individual factors, such as frontage and size, between the
comparables and the property.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the market price used
would result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s investment
properties were all pledged to secure financial guarantee
contracts (note 29(b)), banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 30(a)) and loans from financial institutions (note
30(b)).
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15. EBEME(E)

HEE
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DNRERERRE(F)
AEBHRENERARAER L
EREELBORETHE - RN
ABRMOEBDERASERER
ERFHESWA  XZRFTREH
MEREESREN -

BEMAAESEERNELA (T
&) @B EMEAFEKE LT
(TF) - EEREXREARERE
BAELA(THR)SEBIREY
ERFERETRE (L) - =K
s - stitatE S EEMMERRE
gHeatEEeEERRT R
PUARFEERRERENMERAR
TIRIREEE

BERLEOENERTIREMISER
W2 ERET S LA LRI E R
ST - MSERRIEBAELZ
—YEt R AT B R R R 2
- BN ERRRNEE LR

P2 AT 35 AR KR 3E 0, Oft 4>)
EEHREVENRAFEARL
T/ (TR o

RZEZ_=FR=_FT=__F+=A
=+—H AEEEARZIRED
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ZHER ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023

16.

—E =+ —_HA=+—H

LEASES

Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15)
consisting of a commercial property in the UK, one residential
and commercial property in the USA and one commercial
property in the PRC to third parties and related parties
in which two directors of the Company have beneficial
interests, under operating lease arrangements for terms
ranging between 1 and 15 years (2022: 1 and 15 years).
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the contract terms. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was HK$148,018,000 (2022:
HK$133,668,000), details of which are included in note 5 to
the financial statements.

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

16.

HE

EREESHBA
AEERBLEEHELHRE =F KA
UNSIER: 5/ ¥ oh gl Zad 0l z) s
AEBREME (K15 (BIEEERN
—IHEAYE  EEXBEN—BEEEDY
AYMEREHREN—IBEEAYWE) - H
ERIFEIF (2T 2F 155
166 )T E - ZEHEMBKRR—MEK
AP X HRES - WAl LAURES A5
THAERE - AEERAT ERERL
e U A A148,018,0008 L (— T - —
F : 133,668,000/ 7T) © HFF BT AN
TERFRMIZES ©

R-ZE-_=F+_A=1+—H KA&EH
BIEEEAERTN T AR E LM
& RARREBUWER AR ITIRBE R
s

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FEr

Within one year —F R 133,263 142,031
After one year but within two years —FRERFA 87,735 99,790
After two years but within three years MFEBREB=FA 50,694 61,012
After three years but within four years —FRRENFR 41,049 33,428
After four years but within five years MERERFA 34,909 31,199
After five years AF& 153,499 177,661
Total SHN 501,149 545,121

The Group’s operating lease receivables as at 31 December
20283 and 2022 are disclosed in note 21 to the financial
statements.
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16.

LEASES (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group has lease arrangements as a lessee for office
premises for use in its operations. Leases of office premises
have lease terms between 1 and 3 years. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group. All the lease contracts do not
include any extension and termination options and variable
lease payments.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E vt B

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

16.

HER)

TREESHEA
REBERABA  BEANEEKE
EMMAEYMEZMERY - PAE
XZHENHERARI1EIF - — KM
5 ARETARAKEAINALTE R
ROHEMEEE - MEHESNEHTE
SEREREZ DEREERATEHEEN

Eon
A °

(a)  Right-of-use assets (a EHREE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use AREBZFEREEE(HAYE)
assets (office premises) and the movements during EEmERANEEEZSHIT -
the year are as follows:
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET BT
As at 1 January n—A—H 4,094 2,925
Additions NE 275 3,110
Depreciation provided during REEFIRINE
the year (note 8) (#1:£8) (1,530) (1,944)
Exchange realignment B 3 SHEE 3 3
As at 31 December R+-—A=+—H 2,842 4,094
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

16. LEASES (continued) 16. HE(\)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
bank and other borrowings) and the movements
during the year are as follows:

FREESEBAAR)

(b) H#HEARF

HERBEZRAE(BRERTR
HA B RAFEEZHMT

2023 2022

—E-=E BT F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—BHEREE 4,323 3,045

New leases HHE 275 3,110
Accretion of interest recognised AFE BRI S 1218

during the year (note 7) (B13#7) 345 293

Payments 5K (1,861) 2,127)

Exchange realignment PEE 3 A 4 2

At 31 December (note 30) RNt+=—A=1+—H

(K1:230) 3,086 4,323

Portion classified as current liabilites D faARBIEEHD (1,633) (1,378)

Non-current portion JEBNEREE > 1,453 2,945

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 43 to the financial statements.

(c) Other lease information
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

HERENIIH A DM HERP B REK

MisFas o

(c) RUHEEH

HEERMNERARRNTE

leases are as follows: W
2023 2022
—E-=H T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HESEHNE 345 293
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (£ REEET& 1,530 1,944

Total amount recognised in I8z AERRIA

profit or loss ] 1,875 2,237

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note
37(c) to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IS SRR EE

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

17. COMPUTER SOFTWARE 17. EEEER4S
2023 2022
—EC=F B CfF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FET
At 1 January: KR—H—R:
Cost X 7R 1,490 1,632
Accumulated amortisation 5 (811) (556)
Net carrying amount BREFHE 679 976
Net carrying amount: AREVFE :
At 1 January K—HA—H8 679 976
Additions NE 428 102
Amortisation provided during the year REFFHREHE(A78)
(note 8) (129) (326)
Exchange realignment [E 51 SH%E 17 (73)
At 31 December RNt+=—A=1t—8 961 679
At 31 December: R+=—A=+—8:
Cost D% 1,709 1,490
Accumulated amortisation RFTE (748) (811)
Net carrying amount REFE 961 679

18. EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE 18. BRAFEARMZEIE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HERKRE

INCOME

Equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive AEBZAFET A2 E KRG E
income of the Group represented the listed equity investment HIRER FTMERIEE  ARERER
which was designated as financial asset at fair value BZREWIFEEERS - HHIET
through other comprehensive income as the management RERAFEGFARLMEERENSFE
considered the investment was not held for trading purpose. Ee
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IS SRR EE

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

19. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 19. FEHEYE
Properties held for sale of the Group as at 31 December AREBR B -_=FR T - —F+—
2023 and 2022 represented a certain portion of a A=+ —BZRBEHEWEELRT
commercial building located in Beijing, the PRC. It RH—BEEEFHE D -
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the properties held for R-_E-_=FK_FTE_-_—_%F+_H
sale were pledged to secure a financial guarantee contract =t+—8  xXEBEEFFELEDE
(note 29(b)) and a banking facility granted to the Group (note EARTAREBENTEERE L (M E
30(a). 29(b)) K 3R1TRE (PMEES0(a)) Z #E 1R °
20. INVENTORIES 20. &8
2023 2022
—E-=F —ToCF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Operating items for restaurant operations ~ ZEEAL & HIAS & 18 B 26 19
Repair and maintenance parts H1E MR BB 888 841
914 860
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21.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E vt B

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#+=-H=+—H

TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES 21. BEESRIEERR
2023 2022
—E-=HF B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables RN E SR 154,163 119,914
Lease receivables U SRR 51,260 42,330
Total gross trade and lease receivables  JEYE 5 M B ERER A% 205,423 162,244
Less: Impairment (note (b)) B ORME (b)) (35,390) (29,146)
170,033 133,098
Notes: Kiat -
(@) Trade and lease receivables are non-interest bearing and @ FEWE 5 KA E BRI T B KRR

arise from the provision of property management services,
leasing of investment properties. Tenants of the Group’s
managed properties are required to pay a calendar year’'s
property management service fees annually in advance.

The Group’s credit terms of its trade and lease receivables
are negotiated with and entered into under normal
commercial terms with tenants of the properties managed
by the Group and tenants of investment properties.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

Included in the Group’s trade and lease receivables as at
31 December 2023 are amounts of HK$94,957,000 (2022:
HK$65,312,000) in total due from companies controlled by
two directors of the Company, which are repayable within
60 days. Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun, both being the directors
of the Company, have beneficial interests in these related
parties.

As at 31 December 2023, certain lease receivables of
HK$48,031,000 (2022: HK$42,134,000) in total were
pledged to secure a banking facility granted to the Group
and a loan from a financial institution for refinancing of a
commercial building in London, the UK (note 30(a)) and
financing the development of the US Complex (note 30(b)).

RHUMEFEERYT  HEREME
REL HFPHEHAAEEEREZY
X ABFEN—ARFEZMEE
BIREER -

FEBEKE S RAERERNEE
GREERAEEEENYENER
MIRBEWMEEF IR —RE B IERE
PRI > AEBEY ERZLSF ﬁ%%’ﬁ%
B E R e E S I

AEBR B _=F+-A=+—
amﬁsuyﬁg&ﬁﬁgaﬁm@%ﬁ%uy
AR FIMEE RS R ZFRIA
.:/\94957000,%7&7777%
65,312,000/ 7C) + I FHMNE0KRAE
B RAEEREREIRARAIE
F)NZEWE I A B g o

F*?*:¢+*ﬂ:+fE'A
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21. TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(o) An ageing analysis of the trade and lease receivables, based
on the due date and net of impairment, is as follows:

21. BERESRIBERRGE)

Hii -

)

(%)

B AR EKRE S REERK
(EFNERRE) 2 BREC DT LA T

2023 2022

—EB-=H T4

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FrET

Current = HA 89,592 76,907
Past due: EaH -

Less than 1 year PR —F 47,612 47,000

1 year to 2 years —EWF 32,138 8,538

2 years to 3 years ME=F 691 653

170,033 133,098

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

RAFE  BKRESREERIN

trade and lease receivables during the year are as follows: EEERENZESHNT

2023 2022

—EBC=F - —fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

At 1 January K—RA—H 29,146 27,911
Impairment recognised, net EHERRE T8 6,892 8,122
Amounts written off as uncollectible WEH AT ARz &5 = (3,965)
Exchange realignment M 5 % (648) 2,922)
35,390 29,146

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on the average
of historical incurred credit loss experience on each
ageing group of trade and lease receivables. Generally,
trade and lease receivables are written off if they are not
considered recoverable by the Group and are not subject to
enforcement activity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E vt B

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES 21. BB REERME)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Kt - (&)
(b) (continued) (b) (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk ERAAEBE B REEETEAE
exposure on the Group’s trade and lease receivables using WESEEEREZINEERRER
a provision matrix: BT -
As at 31 December 2023 R-—E-_=%+=-—HA=+—H
Ageing based on due date
ERAEH AN ERE
Less than 1to 2to Over
Current 1 year 2 years 3years 3years Total
L SR-F —Z@WE WE=F ZENE Bt
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 0.23% 11.87% 15.12% 86.92% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BEmE#EE(FET) 89,803 54,026 37,862 5,281 18,451 205,423
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BEHEEER(FET) 211 6,414 5,724 4,500 18,451 35,390
As at 31 December 2022 R=-B-_—%+=-A=+—H
Ageing based on due date
g bl biali
Less than 1to 210 Over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
2H PR—5 —ERE WE=4F =ERE CH
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 0.25% 8.68% 33.69% 87.01% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BEmE#2E(FET) 77,100 51,470 12,875 5,026 15,773 162,244
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BEEEER(FET) 193 4,470 4,337 4,373 15,773 29,146

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22. Faf{i31g : iT& R EfthfE Ly

RECEIVABLES R
2023 2022
—E-=HF B4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
iz FET FET
Prepayments BT RIE 11,452 10,098
Deposits and other receivables =14 R EMFER IR 24,940 19,813
Loan receivables FEWE K @) 22,846 47,293
Due from related parties FE U RE B 5 k8 23(a) 132,374 107,128

Total prepayments, deposits and FENHIE T2k

other receivables H bW RIB B R 191,612 184,332
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31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22, FAfI#RIA - siI&€ R HEtE
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@)

Included in the loan receivables of the Group as at
31 December 2023 was an aggregate amount of
HK$22,846,000 (2022: HK$47,293,000) due from
independent third parties under the factoring business of the
Group carried in the PRC. These receivables bear interest
at fixed rates ranging from 0.5% to 2.2% per 45 days or
8.4% per annum (2022: 5% to 8.4% per annum) and are
repayable within 45 days to 1 year (2022: 6 months to 1
year). Each of these receivables is secured by an asset (a
receivable) owed by its debtor. Subsequent to the reporting
period, loan receivables of HK$6,446,000 was repaid by the
borrowers.

During the year, interest income of HK$2,653,000 (2022:
HK$4,072,000) was recognised in profit or loss in respect of
these loan receivables (note 6).

The financial asset included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default
and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal. No material
ECLs were recognised against these balances as, in the
opinion of the directors, the loss given default rate of each
of these balances is close to zero.
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31 December 2023

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E vt B

—E-——Ff—H=1+—H

23. BALANCE WITH RELATED PARTIES 23. HRABA IR
The balances with related parties are unsecured, interest- HEAE NS AEET - 8 BEE
free and repayable on demand. TEEFRE o
(a) Due from related parties and a shareholder (a) MEUXRABARIE
Amounts due from related parties, disclosed pursuant BRI EFECA FHEHIHEE383(1)(d)
to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong Companies BERAR(WBEEEMZzER)
Ordinance and Part 3 of the Companies (Disclosure 5170 a8 30T 58 1Y E U B BS: 5 3k
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, BERI N
are as follows:
Maximum At Maximum
amount 31 December amount
At outstanding 2022and  outstanding At
31December  duringthe 1 January during the 1 January
2023 current year 2023 prior year 2022
R=B==F
i t=A
b S -3 =t-AkK ok
tZh *EERE -Bo=F EESEs WIT_Z
Company name INGES =t-B KEELE -B-B KEELE —-f—-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T TAT TAT
Director-controlled related ~ EEiE4IMEE A+
parties*
Winluck Global Limited 355 355 355 355 355
FREHAEEREE FRES R EREE
ARAA BRAT 119,140 119,140 80,259 80,259 48415
FREEEEERAF FREEEXERAF
(‘Beijing Guolong’) (B ]) 5,004 5,004 3,515 4,081 4,281
Siky Apex Limited (“Silky Apex”) ~ Silky Apex Limited
(['Siky Apex]) 35 35 35 35 3
Gang Rui Intermational Investment &S Bl %4 (B7%) BB A
(HK) Limited (* Gang Rui")"* (I )~ 360 360 360 360 360
Guorui Property Development Bl Rt ER & 6 8 8 24,635 24,635
IRHBEARBER IRHREERNEER
ARAA BRAT 2,048 2,048 1,770 1,770 -
126,948 86,302 78,081
Other related parties b=ty 5,426 20,826 55,160
132,374 107,128 133,241
* Two directors of the Company, namely Mr. Wei and * AR MEBES(AREE
Mr. Sun, have beneficial interests in these related RIRFG &) R % E @5+
parties. HEES R -
* Gang Rui is a shareholder of the company who > BHARRNBRRIN=-F

holds a 25.49% shareholding in the company as at
31 December 2023 and 2022.

—T=EREBE-_—_F+=H4
=+ —HFBEARRF25.49%
AR B o
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31 December 2023

23.

24.

—E =+ —_HA=+—H

BALANCE WITH RELATED PARTIES

(continued)
(a) Due from related parties and a shareholder

(continued)

There were no recent history of default and past due
amounts for the amounts due from related parties,
and therefore as at 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

(b) Due to related parties and a shareholder
The balances as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
mainly represented short term advances from (i)
related parties in which Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun have
beneficial interests and (i) Gang Rui. These balances
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms
of repayment.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represent
principal-protected investment deposits made with a
creditworthy bank in the PRC which has provided banking
facilities to the Group. These investment deposits have been
placed as securities for a bank borrowing (note 30(a)). It is
mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as its contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest.

The fair values of principal-protected investment deposits
are determined with reference to market observable inputs
currently available for investments with similar terms and
credit risk. The carrying amounts of principal-protected
investment deposits are the same as their fair values.
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25.

26.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E vt B

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

RESTRICTED CASH 25. SZRFIRE
2023 2022
—EC=E T F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
HiaF FET FET
Restricted cash for a bank loan IRITERH IR SR @) 8,496 4,324
Restricted cash for a loan froma 4 Bl B8 = R (b)
financial institution Re 176,197 -
184,693 4,324
Notes: Kiat -
(@) The restricted cash represents a deposit placed in a (@) ZRHIR ST RRIEERITHT
designated bank as part of the security given to secure a K ERAEBERS —MRRBITER
general banking facility granted to the Group. B —E D LR o
(b) The restricted cash represents cash drawn under a (b) ZRHIIRE IR EEE RIRRA
construction loan which can only be used to pay relevant e HETRARIMNRRHBMIEA
costs of the Culver City project. B BURERARCR ©
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. Be&RBaFERY
2023 2022
—EBE=HF —E-HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total cash and bank balances IR & RIRITAESR B ER 490,249 353,506
Less: Restricted cash (note 25) o ZREIIRE (A E2s) (184,693) (4,324)
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 305,556 349,182
Notes: Bt -
(@) At 31 December 2023, the cash and bank balances of the (@) RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H &

Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$111,292,000
(2022: HK$103,980,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Chinese Mainland’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

SERAREINENER S RRITLE
#R3E111,292,0008 0(Z T = —F :
103,980,000/ 70 ) ° @& & AR T
BEEEMEBEHRLE  BERE
AR B K e ) SN BE B R (1) IR A
EERMNEEERTE - AEEAN
BBBEETINEEBRIRITEA
REEH AP H M EHE -

(b) RITEFRES B RITERA HE

BN EREFE - |RITBRER
AT B SRR 40 FCER T ELSEAVERTT

3R 2023 BHEEERAT 237
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27. TRADE PAYABLES 27. BEfFIEZIRH
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and the average BNESERERTEE - B THEEHR
credit period is 60 days. 60K °
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the RIFZHZHE - PRefEHR  AEERE
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as NESIRFHERR DI T -
follows:
2023 2022
—E=HF B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Within 3 months =@AR 29,808 66,476
4 to 6 months POz 7 & B 10,639 8,788
7 to 12 months +Z+—1@H 22,657 8,858
Over 1 year —FNE 4,159 4,637
67,263 88,759
28. RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE 28. TRAUGFRIA
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Contract liabilities BHBE 39,222 37,016
Other receipts in advance H {th 38 W FIE 36,606 35,791
75,828 72,807
Notes: Kt -
(@) The Group’s receipts in advance represented (i) (@) 5= B A TE MR R IR B () ) 78 P U ER &Y
prepayments of property management fees received from YEEBBBMNRIE » Ri)ARNEE
tenants; and (i) rentals received in advance from tenants of RIEEYERFERNES -

the Group’s investment properties.

(b) The Group’s contract liabilities as at 1 January 2022 (o) RAEER-_Z-_—_F—A—HHE
amounted to HK$49,620,000. #98 1&7549,620,00078 7T ©
The decrease in contract liabilities in 2022 was mainly due AHEBER=ZS__FRIDHEE
to the decrease in property management fees received in ARFEANTERMESEERRD
advance during that year. There was no material change W RFABESAEE) -

during the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E vt B

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 20. HtEEFIRRAREHRH
2023 2022
—E-=F =B
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaF FET FET
Other payables E AR (@) 88,084 82,654
Accrued staff costs FEEH B TR AN 7,506 4,639
Other accruals Hmigie &R 6,071 4,516
Financial guarantee contract BITSIEIRA 4 (o) 12,989 12,936
Due to a shareholder JEAS A% B RN IE 23 1,428 1,339
Due to related parties JE 1S BBt 77 SRR 23 129,877 141,068
245,955 247,152
Notes: Kt
(@) The Group’s other payables as at 31 December 2023 and (@) RZE—=FR=_FT=_—F+=A
2022 included, inter alia, the following: =+—H  AEEHEMEMSRE
FE(EABE)ATEE :
) amounts of HK$15,982,000 (2022: HK$14,618,000) () R BTk R RE
in total payables to water, heating and electricity FE R 5B A $£15,982,0007%
suppliers in respect of public utility fees collected JL (ZZZZF 114,618,000
from tenants on behalf of public utility suppliers; and BL) - BEANREEERAT)
RAARMEHERRES K
B R
(ii) refundable rental, decoration, property management (ii) ATREMES K& WE
service fee and other deposits of HK$63,488,000 EERBEEMEMITSA T
(2022: HK$57,140,000) in total received from 63,488,000 L (=T = =
tenants of a commercial building and residential F 1 57,140,000/8 L) * A
properties managed by the Group. Rl M —IE R AEEE
BrRA¥XRKERTEDNEZ
FAPULER
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b

The financial guarantee contracts represent guarantees
given by two subsidiaries of the Group to banks in the PRC
in connection with facilities granted to 1t R T ik 15 £ &
BMR/A7) (“BCEG Road and Bridge Construction Group
Co., Ltd.”or “BCEG”, an independent third party which is a
general property development contractor of the Group) and
details of which are as follows:

a guarantee given by Kaipeng Technology, an
indirect 99.9% owned subsidiary of the Company,
to a bank in the PRC in connection with a facility
granted to BCEG pursuant to a guarantee
agreement between Kaipeng Technology and
BCEG during the year ended 31 December 2022.
The banking facility of BCEG granted by the bank
was RMB800,000,000 and RMB770,000,000
was utilised by BCEG as at 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB790,000,000). Kaipeng Technology
provided a guarantee in favour of BCEG by
pledging its properties to the bank (notes 15(ge) and
19). In return, Kaipeng Technology shall receive
from BCEG a guarantee fee of 1% per annum of
the actual drawdown amount by BCEG under
the banking facility. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over
the guarantee. Further details are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 15 March 2022
and circular dated 25 April 2022; and
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

)

(continued)

(i)

a guarantee given by Beijing Wangangtong
Technology Development to a bank in the PRC
in connection with a facility granted to BCEG
pursuant to a guarantee agreement between
Beijing Wangangtong Technology Development
and BCEG during the year ended 31 December
2022. The banking facility of BCEG granted by
the bank was RMB300 million and the amount
of RMB269,973,000 was utilised by BCEG as at
31 December 2023 (2022: RMB299,970,000).
Beijing Wangangtong Technology Development
provided a guarantee in favour of BCEG by (a)
pledging its properties to the bank (note 15(e));
(b) pledging its rights to receive rental income and
corresponding lease receivables arising from the
pledged properties to the bank; and (c) providing
a joint liability guarantee for the repayment by
BCEG. In return, Beijing Wangangtong Technology
Development shall receive from BCEG a guarantee
fee of 1% per annum of the actual drawdown
amount by BCEG under the banking facility. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over the guarantee. Further details
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
7 October 2022.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E vt B

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

20. HtEFHRRARER (&)

Hst . ()
(o) (%)

(i) g BRI ER AT
B — R THE LA IEIR -
HEmdb T REEE
REE-_ZE_—_F+=
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BB ER It FE
TRBEERE R ER
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B EES —MRITIRGE
RIERTTRLE B A REE300
BET YN -T_=%F
+-A=+—HALR
EIRKBEBEHAA
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TT(ZEZ=F : ARK
299,970,000 75 ) ° it X
BAEBRHTERE N @FH
PG T 2R (T
15(e)) + (o) U BN FE & U
ARIREF KR EE B
By R SRR
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FRIRBEEZ(EEM
= REESEEERERN
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— = —

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b

(continued)

The Group recognised financial guarantee income of
HK$11,109,000 in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: HK$11,112,000) (note 6).

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except
for the above. All guarantees are approved by the board of
directors of the Company.

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher
of the ECLs allowance and the amount initially recognised
less the cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECLs
allowance is measured by estimating the cash shortfalls,
which are based on the expected payments to reimburse
the holders (i.e., the banks) for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the debtor (i.e., BCEG). During the year, ECLs allowance of
HK$338,000 (2022: HK$9,306,000) was provided (note 8).

The credit exposure of the financial guarantee contracts
is classified as stage 1. During the year, there were no
transfers between stages (2022: Nil).
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E vt B

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

30. RITR H AR

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mz FET FEr
Bank loans, secured RITER(EEA) (@ 1,572,637 1,573,973
Other loans: HiE0
Loans from financial institutions, secured & i EIRENER(BHER) (b) 568,788 252,201
Loan from a shareholder of the Company, ~ ANAF]—&IREIRENER
unsecured (EIIF) (© 89,129 87,505
Loans from director-controlled entities, BRI ERIRENER
unsecured () (d) 77,637 81,027
Loans from independent third parties, BB = IR E R (EET)
unsecured (e 339,551 329,481
1,075,105 750,214
Lease liabilities HEEE 16(b) 3,086 4,323
Total bank and other borrowings RITREAMBERAR 2,650,828 2,328,510
Analysed into: DITIE -
Bank loans repayable: FEEEBIRITER :
Within one year or on demand —FRHIREK 732,881 22,533
In the second year FEF 16,520 24,413
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BE-ZFENF(BEEREMF) 49,559 719,100
Beyond five years RFE% 773,677 807,927
1,572,637 1,573,973
Other loans repayable: HiEEEER
Within one year —FR 5,381 84,535
In the second year E_F 284,128 92,882
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE-EFENF(BEEEMT) 245,936 348,580
Beyond five years L& 539,660 224217
1,075,105 750,214
Lease liabilities repayable: EEEHERE
Within one year —FR 1,633 1,378
In the second year EF 586 1,494
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EFRF(BREEENTF) 867 1,451
3,086 4,323
Total bank and other borrowings RITREMEREFT 2,650,828 2,328,510
Portion classified as current liabilities DERRBEENE D (739,895) (108,446)
Non-current portion FEREE S 1,910,933 2,220,064
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E v B

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes:

(@)

The Group’s bank loans as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
were obtained for operation and financing the purchase
and construction of the Group’s investment properties.
The bank loans bear interests at floating rates with effective
interest rates ranging from 5% to 7.34% per annum (2022:
floating rates with effective interest rates ranging from 5% to
5.58% per annum). The bank loans are secured by certain
investment properties (note 15(e)), properties held for sale
(note 19) and lease receivables (note 21(a)) of the Group.

Included in the interest-bearing bank borrowings was a
bank loan of HK$721,147,000, which includes a financial
covenant stipulated in the facility agreement relating to
the valuation of an investment property and the valuation
is subject to regular reviews by the bank. Based on the
fair value of the investment property as included in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group may not
comply with the aforesaid financial covenant, but the
valuation is subject to further review by the bank. The Group
has classified the aforesaid bank loan as current liability due
to the possible non-compliance of financial covenant.

The expected repayment dates of the aforesaid bank loan,
with reference to schedule of repayments set out in the
facility agreement, are as follows:

30. SRITRHEMERE)

Hii -

(@)

REBWR-_ZE-_=FK_-_T_—
TZA=+—BZRITERAE
ERABEREEAEENIREY
EMER - ZFRTERREFE
BF RN 5% 2 7.34%H) )2 B) B K
TE(ZE=F : SFERAEN
TB5%ZE5.58%FFENEE) o ZFiIR
TEXBAEEE THREMZE (M=
15()) * FF{EH E W (HIFE19) K fE
WA E R FR AR (BT E21(a)) ©

FERITERBE—%£721,147,000
BITEHRITER - HP R ERER
HFTFTRRREEE M EEEABO Y
R - M EERRTE S
BiZ o ARG EMBRERMBINE
MENATFE AEEAJREER £
MBS R 5E - EEEALRITE—
WE - BRI EEE R ISR -
NEBEH LBRITIERDEAR
HEE -

BEEMABAFRERSHE
% BRIRTTIEROERERE B
T

2023
—EC-=HE
HK$’000
FET

Within one year

In the second year
In the third to fifth years, inclusive

—FR
F—F
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8,008
8,008
705,131

721,147




30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(@)

(continued)

In addition, there is a banking facility that required the
Group to maintain a minimum amount of RMB10 million in
specific bank accounts including (i) a principal-protected
investment deposit classified as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss (note 24) and (i) a bank deposit of
HK$8,496,000 (2022: HK$4,324,000) classified as restricted
cash (note 25) as at 31 December 2023. This banking facility
is also guaranteed by Mr. Wei and his spouse and 1t 5 55
PR B BR A A (“Beijing Guorui Holdings Company Limited”,
a related company which is indirectly owned by Mr. Wei and
Mr. Sun).

The loans from financial institutions were obtained to finance
the operation of US Complex and the construction of the
Culver City project. The loans bear interests at a floating rate
with an effective interest rate of 9.32% per annum (2022:
7.76% per annum) and at a fixed rate of 3.65% per annum;
are guaranteed by a Group’s subsidiary; and are secured by
certain investment properties (note 15(e)); lease receivables
(note 21(a)) over the US Complex; and rights to future lease
receivables over the Culver City project.
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30. MITRHMMERRE)

HEE

(@)

(%)
(%)
o R B -—=F+—-"f=+—

B —EETHEERAEEAR
BFERITRESFERERERIEA
REA0EBL  BEPEREA
FEFABENSEEENRAR
B (HisE24) K)o B RZ R
IR & /Y8R 1777 708,496,000 7T ( =
T~ 4 1 4,324,000 ) (M5
25) o SZIRITREA IR ER oL A R AL BT
BARIL RESERERAT (A
FRAE AR - BREERKELER
BERA)ER -

CRIMERUNER I RERES
M EE R NRBIMIEE EH&
BEMER - 22 ERIRTFEERT
RO (ZE-—F : HFE7.76%)
/5 B I K [ & £ 3.65% K & 7 Fl|
KB BASENE R RS
R UHERGAEYEHETRE
P2 (FMisE15(e)) ~ FEIAE &5k (B
iI21(a))  REREBHEMIBEEER
PR FE W AE B AR SR R VAR o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IS SRR EE

31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

©

Pursuant to a shareholder’s loan agreement dated 1
January 2019 entered into between the Company and
Gang Rui, Gang Rui granted a shareholder’s loan facility of
HK$200,000,000 (or its equivalent in US$25,644,000) to the
Company, of which HK$89,129,000 (2022: HK$87,505,000)
had been utilised as at 31 December 2023.

The shareholder’s loan is unsecured, bears interest
at a fixed rate of 2% per annum, and is repayable in 3
years from 21 March 2019, which is the first drawdown
date of the principal. During the year, the repayment of
shareholder’s loan had been extended. The maturity date
of the shareholder’s loan is 31 December 2027 (2022: 31
December 2024).

During the year, interest paid and payable to Gang Rui in
respect of the shareholder’s loan of HK$1,624,000 (2022:
HK$1,624,000) was recognised as finance costs for the
year (note 7).

This related party transaction constitutes an exempted
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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30. RITR H KR (HE)

wist -

(©

(&)

BRIBEARABEBHAEI LB A=
T-hAF—A—BHNREEZ®D
= B A R F#% 200,000,000
7 7T (X S {E /) 25,644,0003 7T ) H)
RERERRE - H 89,129,000
T(=—F =~ —4 : 87,505,000/ T)
BER-E_=F+_A=+—H#E
£/ -

ZERREFREER  REESF
FE2%:tE - WAB - T—NF=
AZ+—H(AASHERRRZ
A)E3FAEE - R - RREXK
EFERY - BRRERIHAR=
TotF+-A=+—H(=ZT==
F B MFEF—A=+—H) -

FR - RREEREN REREHR
B B 51,624,000 T (2 ==
F 1,624,000/ 70) FER B AT E
HERKET) -

ZE T X SRR E TR BIE14AE
FRFVE < R RBIER 5 -



30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(d) The loans from director-controlled entities represented loans
from related parties in which Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun have
beneficial interests, details of which are as follows:

(i) a loan of RMB21,700,000 which is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable in 2028 (2022: repayable
in 2023).

During the year, the maturity date of the loan was
extended from 2023 to 2028, which resulted
in a modification of existing financial liability by
derecognising the original liability and recognising a
new one, and the gain of RMB4,035,000 (equivalent
to HK$4,459,000) was recognised in profit or loss.

In addition, imputed interest on the loan of
HK$922,000 (2022: HK$1,061,000) was recognised
as finance costs during the year (note 7).

(ii) loans with an aggregate amount of RMB50,000,000
which are unsecured, carried an interest at floating
rates with effective interest rates of 3.65% per
annum and repayable in 2025.

During the year, interest paid and payable of these
loans of HK$2,017,000 (2022: HK$727,000) was
recognised as finance costs for the year (note 7).

This related party transaction constitutes an exempted
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

BEE

©)
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30. fRITRHEMERE)

(%)

EEEHIERRANETIEHRRS
E&%%E%“ﬁ%ﬁ’\%ﬁﬁﬁ’]?wﬁ
REMWER - FBEOT

0] B % A R ¥ 21,700,000 7T
REER  RERANR-T
“NFEE(ZT
AR_ZT_=FEE) -

RAEE  BEREHSHAH=
T FREREZZT =N
F - EBYERRIEERR
EEEBERERTEBEMBS
HBESHEBE  mlkxE
AR#4,035,0007T (B E R
4,459,000/ 7T ) E R Bz
ﬁgwu ©

o BERBMEEF B
922,000 (=T ==
1,061,000/ 70 ) E R AR
FEMBER(MTET) -

(i) B3 4% A R % 50,000,000
TL . AEIKE - RF A
Rt B BBREMNRA
3.65% ' BR=-_T_hHFE

RAFE  FEFZEM
&FEHfF'J £.2,017, oooﬁ&m

EEEWZ%$¢EEMK;%E?H
(M7E7) -

ZEM T X S5BX ETHRRAF14AE
FRSE 2 R REER S -
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31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 30. SBTTR MR (M)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Biat - (48)
© The details of loans from independent third parties are as ) BUE=FRENEFRFENOT
follows:

0] a loan of US$16,000,000 for financing the 0] B 716,000,0003 7t AR &
construction of the Culver City project, which is RRBWIER MERRRE
unsecured, bear an interest at a fixed rate of 12.5% © o ZEXASEER  ZE
per annum and is repayable in 2026. TEFFEA25%FE » AR

T RFEE -

During the year, interest paid and payable of the RAFE  ENRENER
loan of HK$17,909,000 (2022: HK$13,767,000) F 817,909,000/ L (=&
was recognised as finance costs for the year (note — = : 13,767,0007% 7T )
7). EHRRBEAFENBER
(FfiE7) ©
(i) a loan of RMB110,780,000 obtained from an entity (i) MBEERREER_-F
formerly controlled by Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun with —NFRIHER B m A Al
beneficial interests before 2019 for financing the ZHIEENESHNERARE
daily operation and new investments of the Group 110,780,000 *+ AR A A
in the PRC, which is unsecured, bear an interest at SERNFREEN R FEERT
a floating rate with an effective interest rate of 3.65% KERBEES  ZERAE
per annum and is repayable in 2025. IR REBFEGFE - &

BREFIR 5365% 0 B
TREEE -

During the year, interest paid and payable of the NAEE  BNLRENE
loan of HK$4,469,000 (2022: HK$5,291,000) was A 84,469,000/ T (= F
recognised as finance costs for the year (note 7). Z % : 5,291,000/ 7T) B
BRRAFEMGER (MM
T*7) e
In addition, during the year ended 31 December AN REE T ==
2022, an interest-free loan of RMB284,250,000 had +ZA=+—HILFE " A
been early repaid and accordingly, imputed interest R ¥ 284,250,000 7T A9 & &
of HK$52,871,000 (including accelerated imputed EXERFEE Al
interest recognised upon early repayment of R 852,871,000 7T (B
HK$25,291,000) was recognised as finance costs FERIRE(ERE TR FERR
for that year (note 7). hniR 1k & F) 825,291,000
TIEHERBRANFEMBE

FA(PHEET)
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(e) The details of loans from independent third parties are as
follows: (continued)

(i)

a loan of RMB50,000,000 obtained from an entity
formerly controlled by Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun with
beneficial interests before 2019 for financing the
daily operation of the Group in the PRC, which is
unsecured, interest free and repayable in 2028
(2022: repayable in 2023).

During the year, the maturity date of the loan was
extended from 2023 to 2028, which resulted
in a modification of existing financial liability by
derecognising the original liability and recognising a
new one, and the gain of RMB9,297,000 (equivalent
to HK$10,275,000) was recognised in profit or loss.

In addition, imputed interest on the loan of
HK$2,124,000 (2022: HK$2,445,000) was
recognised as finance costs during the year (note 7).

() The Group’s secured bank and other loans are secured by

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E vt B

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

30. fRITRHEMERE)

Hst . ()

© BUE=FRENERFEBET :
(%)
(iii MBEERBREERZ
—ﬂiﬁuﬁ‘é*ﬁ B E’]H
THEBNSNERARE

50,000,0007z AR AAE
l%#ﬂ%ﬁ%%@% tE
C RERAEER BB
MF_;_AE@@L_
To-FARZT=F
EIR) °

RARFE ,\TA@JHH HeE=
T FERE-_ZT =N
F %i&aﬁ;@%ztﬁﬁwﬁﬁ
BERERTBEMESER
femasE  mREARE
AR #9,297,0007T (1 & 7
10,275,000 70 ) B R B &
PR ©

o - BEREEEF B

21240008 L (=T ==
% : 2,445,000/ 7T) R
BAFEVISER(ME7) °

y AEBWBERMRTREMERT)

the following assets: HUTEEFEER
2023 2022
—EB-=F - —F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k3 FET FET
Investment properties REWE 15(e) 5,323,355 3,806,975
Properties held for sale BIEHEmE 19 160,026 550,111
Lease receivables FEUCH EARFK 21(a) 48,031 42,134

Financial assets at fair value through BAFETABZ

profit or loss HEmEE 24 11,261 11,496
Restricted cash ZIR IR 25 8,496 4,324
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(9) The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

30. SRITRHEMERE)

Hiet - (&)

(©) AREEBRTT R E A S KA R B A
THEBFHE

Carrying amount

IREE

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FAET

£ HgE 716,361 681,594
us$ ET 730,914 398,632
RMB AR 1,111,338 1,158,630
HK$ BT 92,215 89,494
2,650,828 2,328,350

31. PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS 31. KATMEEH

The Company had two batches of perpetual convertible
bonds outstanding during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022, the summary information of which is set out

BHE-_Z - —FR-_ZT-_—F+-F=1—
BILFE - AAREEMALAREERKATR
BRES - HEBRERER T

as follows:
Batch one Batch two
E—#t EFit
Issuance date ZITAHEA 17 August 2018 31 December 2021
—E-NFENATLEAR B —%+=ZRA=+—H
Maturity date Z|HIH No maturity date No maturity date
EIHH EIH A
Original principal amount RIS RE HK$1,102,993,200 HK$77,066,000
1,102,993,200/% 7T 77,066,000/ 7T
Coupon rate ZEA = 1% per annum and will 1% per annum and will cease
cease to bear any to bear any coupon after the
coupon after the fifth fifth anniversary of the date
anniversary of the date of issue
of issue
FF1%WHEREFTEHE  SHE1%EERETAEH
ERIBFEIR I ASE FRIBFRIZIEESE
ERIES FRIEL
Conversion price per RATEHREBK 0.80 0.80
ordinary share of the 2 HEGET)

Company (HK$)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IS SRR EE

31 December 20283 —ZE_—=#F+_-_H=+—H

PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS 31. KATERES (&)
(continued)

These perpetual convertible bonds were bifurcated into a ?f@ STRIBME @ ZS KA R ES
liability component and an equity component for accounting DEABERY MERILD  E—FFEE
purposes, as further described in the accounting policy RSB 51 2.4 P& [ kK A AT HA AR (&
for “Perpetual convertible bonds” set out in note 2.4 to FIMETREREM - TRBEARER
the financial statements. The following tables summarise TECEFERCE - —F+ - RA=+—
the movements in the principal amounts, the number BIFFEEARRB KA ES 2 RS
of conversion rights outstanding, the liability and equity B ORTTEZHBEH B AR ERE
components of the Company’s perpetual convertible bonds wmabd 2 EE

during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Principal amount outstanding KREEZELT
Batch one Batch two Total
F—#t HEHE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAET
(note (a)) (note (b))
(K15t (a)) (K15t b))
At 1 January 2022, NR-ZE-_—_F—H—H -
31 December 2022, —E-__F+=-A1
1 January 2023 and =+—H- :Z@:Ei
31 December 2023 —A—BRERZE==%F
+ZA=+—8H 1,090,993 77,066 1,168,059
Number of conversion rights outstanding (TEZRIBERE
Batch one Batch two Total
F—H#t £t 5t
(note (a)) (note (b))
(K15t (a)) (K15 (b))
At 1 January 2022, WR-_T__%—H—8H"
31 December 2022, —E-—F+—-8
1 January 2023 and =+—8 -ZZT=-=F
31 December 2023 —HA—BR=-Z-_=F
+=—RA=+—H 1,363,741,500 96,332,500 1,460,074,000
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31.

PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(continued)

31. KARMEKERSF (&)

Liability component AEEHY
Batch one Batch two Total
=it it et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET FEIT
(note (a)) (note (b))
(B15t(a) (Kiztb))
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE_—_F—HF—H 52,476 3,269 55,745
Interest expense (note 7) FERZ(MaE7) 1,313 187 1,500
At 31 December 2022 and RZEZ=F+=A
1 January 2023 =t+—BR-ZE_=F
—H—H 53,789 3,456 57,245
Modification (note (d)) & (H1iE()) (13,069) (1,120) (14,189)
Interest expense (note 7) MEFZ(Ha27) 2,077 150 2,227
At 31 December 2023 NI _=%F
+=—A=+—8 42,797 2,486 45,283
Equity component L E=3
Batch one Batch two Total
E—iit Eit st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET FHET
(note (a)) (note (b))
(K15 @) (Kiztb))
At 1 January 2022, R-ZTE-—_F—H—H
31 December 2022, B4R
1 January 2023 and =t+—H8 -ZF_=%F
31 December 2023 —HA—BRZZ=%F
+—-A=+—8 1,078,217 94,027 1,172,244
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31. PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(continued)
Notes:
() Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement entered

into with Winluck Global and Silky Apex Limited (the
“Vendors”) on 30 May 2018, the Company issued a total
of 451,576,000 ordinary shares and a batch of perpetual
convertible bonds to the Vendors on 17 August 2018
as partial consideration for the acquisition of a 95%
equity interest in Wise Expert Investment Limited (“Wise
Expert”). Further details of the acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 30 May 2018 and 17
August 2018, and a circular dated 20 July 2018.

For accounting purposes, the fair value of the perpetual
convertible bonds issued as consideration for the acquisition
of Wise Expert as at the date of completion of the
acquisition amounted to HK$1,130,568,000.

Further details of the terms of these perpetual convertible
bonds are set out in the Company’s circular dated 20 July
2018.

(b) Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement entered
into with the Vendors on 30 May 2018, the Company
further issued a batch of perpetual convertible bonds to
the Vendors on 31 December 2021 as consideration for
the acquisition of a remaining 5% equity interest in Wise
Expert. Further details of the acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 31 December 2021, and
a circular dated 20 July 2018.

For accounting purposes, the fair value of the perpetual
convertible bonds issued as consideration for the acquisition
of Wise Expert as at the date of completion of the acquisition
on 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$97,296,000.

Further details of the terms of these perpetual convertible
bonds are set out in the Company’s circular dated 20 July
2018.

(c) The conversion of the perpetual convertible bonds is subject
to, amongst others, the condition that any conversion will
not result in the public float of the Company’s shares being
less than 25% of the total issued shares of the Company.
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31. KATERES (&)

HEE

(@)

1R ¥ % 1% 3R Bk £2 Silky Apex Limited
TEFDR==—N\FHRA=1+H
AV EEBEWMSZ  ARAR_E
—NENA+LtBREFETEL
451,576,000% & 38 A% K —#E K A AT
BRES - ERKIER Wise Expert
Investment Limited ([ Wise Expert ] )
M95% AR #E 2 HBARE - BREZK
BEHE2E-SPFBEARAAAA
HE-_T—N\FRA=ZTHR=-ZT
—N\NENATtRZA A RBEHA
—E-NFLAZtBHZEX-

REHEEMS © N WEAR
HA 4F /& Uk B Wise Expert 2 X &
BIIKARBRRESF 2 AFER
1,130,568,000/ T °

B B 5% K A R BB S R RO
—SHBERARAAHS-F
—NFLAZTBZBEH -

BERZZE—N\FRA=+HHE
FAIVHEEmZ  AAARZE
T F+ZA=t+—HREBEAHE—
HETT —BOR AT BRBRES - 1F
AU BE A Wise Expertfs T~ 5% % HE 89
RE - FANEEENEZFER
RARRBYHA-—_T-_—F+_#
=+—HHAMERAHAEZZT—N
FEAZTHREBK -

REFEHNME RKBEET
AP (ZE-_—F+-_A=+—
B) - AWK EWise ExperttI R (B
BITHKAABRRBRESFHNAFES
97,296,000/ 7T °

B B S K A R BB 5 B0 R 1 Y
FZFBHERARABHRR_-F
—NFLAZTBHEH -

HEOK A RRESFBZ (AT
B EER TS ER AR R RRD A
ABEFHERELRARR D EITRG
HRER25% B R ITFFTHRBR ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 —ZE—-—=#F+_-H=+—H

31. PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS 31.

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(d) On 28 March 2023, the due date of accumulated coupon
payment was extended from 5 years to 10 years, which
resulted in a modification of existing financial liability by
derecognising the original liability and recognising a new
one, and the gain of HK$14,190,000 was recognised in
profit or loss.

32. DEFERRED TAX 32.

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

KA B R (48)

Hiet - (&)

(d) RZZEZ=F=A=+ B (3
B) ZEIXNAAFERE+TE
BREBRIEERAREBERER
maBHRASREERETER
i U %5 14,190,0007%8 7T B R B

B SETR IR

RERE P BRRAREREERIREE
REBEFEMT -

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Deferred tax assets BIERIEE E = 13,786
Deferred tax liabilities FRIEFIAAE (175,616) (159,694)
(175,616) (145,908)

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) of the
Group are as follows:

NTRAEMBEEHELE,/(8E)H
SR -

Arising from revaluation of
investment properties

EEEREVEEMR
2023 2022
—E_-= —E - _F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FHET
At 1 January n—H—H (145,908) (214,374)
Net deferred tax charged/(credited)  AGEEIBzE%
to profit or loss during the year (FE ) BYEE B I8 558
(note 11) (KiaE11) (41,053) 33,724
Exchange realignment M 5, B 11,345 34,742
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H (175,616) (145,908)
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32. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Notes:

(@)

At 31 December 2023, deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of unutilised tax losses of
HK$314,618,000 (2022: HK$255,875,000) as they have
arisen in the Company and certain subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not probable
that taxable profits will be available against which such tax
losses can be utilised. Out of this amount, tax losses of
HK$7,065,000 (2022: HK$7,012,000) will expire in one to
five years.

Pursuant to income tax laws of the PRC, the UK and the
USA, withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in these countries. Lower withholding tax
rates may be applied if there is a tax treaty between these
countries and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The
Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends
declared by the subsidiaries established in these countries.

The withholding tax rates applicable to the Group are as
follows:

Entities established in Chinese Mainland
Entities established in the UK
Entities established in the USA

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding
taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland, the UK and the USA (2022: Nil). In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland and
the USA for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised was HK$136,102,000 (2022: HK$75,479,000)
in aggregate as at 31 December 2023.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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32. RIEMRIA(HE)

HEE

(@)

AP BIARER LAY
REBEKIZE
REBKIHEEE

}

sm
B2

R-E-_=%+-A=+—H " &
RBEEEBEBOARQRIRETHEBR
AIEEIE—BREM - MBI ET
RAREEAARIEHEE AR IEERE
B FERBOE A - B b3 R 3h R F A
i 18 518 314,618,000 70 (= &
: 255,875,000 7 7T ) HE R
BIETRIBEE - EZ B+ - HIE
E5187,065,000 L (Z T == 4F :
7,012,000 70) 8RN — 2 AFNE
HA o

RiHE - ZERXBEMREHE -
RZEERKIZWINEREDER
FHMREE T IR S AR TAH
B o fin ik F B R EITIMRE EH A
FEERFARBGL - AER
BEMBHHRE - At - AEEA
HRZERRKILNMERARAE
IRERR S AN TR

FARAEENENHRENT -

HEE 5%-10%
20%
30%

NR-ZZTE-_=F+=-—A=+—08 ' #
ERATREARE  HEREBEKT
EHMTEMB RSB E QAN
RIE B #R 00 FE N FE H B T R SR AT
MEERIB(Z T _—F : &) - &
ERE - EARRK  ZSHEBA
AITKAEED R EFERASR - RZF
—=FE+-A=+—8  HKAER
EIEF A BN B AR R ER
MBARRENERZE2RTAH
136,102,000/ T (=T ==
75,479,000 #&7T) ©

R A IRER B9 R B AT S B
@,
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33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. B&E
Shares B fn
2023 2022
—EBE-=F —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FrET
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAE :
3,199,373,986 ordinary shares 3,199,373,986%
el 3,152,571 3,152,571
A summary of a movement in the Company’s share capital BHE T -_=FKR-_ZT-_—_F+=A8
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is as = t+—HIFE  ZXARBRERNEBH
follows: FEAAR
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
21T
BRONEE [N
HK$°000
FET
At 1 January 2022, R-_T__F—H—H8"
31 December 2022, T F+H
1 January 2023 and =t+—H ZEB=-=%F
31 December 2023 —B—BRZZE-_=%F
+=A=+—8H 3,199,373,986 3,152,571
Share options {02
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the BEAR QRN ERER B RREZATE
share options issued under the scheme are included in note TR AR RE S 1B S BT 75 TR i 5
34 to the financial statements. 34 -
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34.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
on 7 November 2016 (the “Adoption Date”) for the primary
purpose of (i) incentivising and rewarding those who
have contributed or may contribute to the development
of the Group; and (i) attracting and retaining skilled and
experienced personnel (“Eligible Participants”) and motivating
them to strive for the future development of the Group by
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company thereby linking their interest with
that of the Group. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for a period of ten years commencing on the Adoption
Date and shall expire on 6 November 2026, subject to
early termination provisions contained in the Share Option
Scheme. The board of directors of the Company may grant
options to Eligible Participants to subscribe for shares in the
Company subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted at any time under the Share Option Scheme is
not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the Adoption Date, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders. Further, the total maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. Options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director, or to any of their respective associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange at the date
of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

34.
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ZI([BEETE ) EERA 25
BBRHESAAREERENKE
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T—ARBER  EXRNEREE
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FORBT - ARFEZRITMAER
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EARBARABRRBAMENBERT -
R IR AE AR AE 5T 51 1] RE R B 5 1 A HE A A
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FIRIR I AT 8 R AN R AR E A i
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A EE BB AR H AR ERE
AEZEREERH A 8128 B R BE
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BEE(UBIAR L BRELNEH
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 34, FRRRIEETRICGAE)
The following share options were outstanding under the WNANEE - BIREETZITE T AT ER
Share Option Scheme during the year: BERSREAN T -
2023 2023 2022 2022
—EBC-=E —EC=E —E-= B S
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price Number of  exercise price Number of
(HK$ per share) options  (HK$ per share) options
T TS
iR BB
(BR#ET) BRES R (BRETT) BREZE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
At 1 January »—HB—8 - - _ _
Granted during the year FRRE 0.922 30,000,000 - -
At 31 December ®“+=-A=1+—~H 0.922 30,000,000 - -

30,000,000 share options were granted to an employee
of the Company on 28 March 2023 with 1 year vesting
period under the Share Option Scheme with an original
exercise price of HK$0.922 per share. The fair value of the
share options granted during the year was HK$ 9,709,000
(HK$0.3236 each), HK$6,579,000 was recognised as a
share option expense in profit or loss during the year.

The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted
during the year was estimated as at the date of grant using
the Binomial Tree model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%)

Expected volatility (%) TR HAIR 18 (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) ERERFE(%)

Expected life of options (year)

Forfeiture rate LS
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P B s 2R (%)

FBREEMFEH(F)

30,000,00017 i I 1 E AR & BB AR 5T &)
RZE_=F=ZA -+ N NHETFEARAH
—%E8  BBEHA—F R1IFEEAR
FR0.9228 7T - FRRTLERE A
{8 &£ 9,709,000% JT (& 15 0.3236 %8
JC) ' 6,579,000/8 LI F N B R A
PR -

FARBZ AEREERERE A FE
Ty B A A = RS -
At R BB 2 R R G - RS
PR R M B A BUR ¢

2023
—E-=F
0%
52.63%
3.21%

0%




34.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The expected life of the options is the time to maturity of
the options granted under the Share Option Scheme. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

At 31 December 2023, the Company had 30,000,000 (2022:
Nil) share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme with weighted average exercise price of HK$0.922
per share (2022: Nil). The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 30,000,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital
of HK$27,660,000 before any issue expenses and without
taking into account any transfer of the share option reserve
to the share capital account.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
share options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme
represented approximately 0.9% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.
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RRBR AR B (48)

R M T A F A R R AR AT BU R
HIRBRRAE 2 B - TEEDRIBRIR T
ELRIBERRIBEIRR - TIRIL

BENT—E2ERE

AEAFERHEIALGD ROER
EHEE -

R-BE-_=F+-"A=+—H  &ARQA
AR 4% B8 A% 4 5181745 30,000,00015 (==
T ) RARTTEEARAE - IEF
HITFEEAER022BT(—E - —
FE)  RIEAQRFHRITRAZE
o BEITEMRITEBRES SR
X A EBSNEE1730,000,000 0% 3 8 I K B8
HNIE AR 27,660,000 7T ( A 1 Bk 1T 7] 3%
TS BT RAEMEEBRERES
AEARER) o

RELEZFHBRER B - BEER S
BT RATTRNBREGARBNZA
HIE BTN 490.9% °
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35. RESERVES

(@)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current year and the prior
year are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

Capital reserve mainly arose from (i) deemed
contributions from non-controlling shareholders of the
Company as a result of certain liabilities of the Group
being waived by two shareholders of the Company in
prior year; and (i) the difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests acquired and
the cost of acquisition (fair value of consideration
paid).

Merger reserve represented the difference between
(i) the amounts at which the assets and liabilities
are recorded under a business combination under
common control, net of any reserves of the acquired
entities; and (i) the cost of acquisition (fair value of
consideration paid).

The PRC statutory reserve is the reserve set aside
in accordance with the PRC Companies Law as
applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries established in
Mainland China. None of the Group’s PRC statutory
reserve as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was
distributable in the form of cash dividends.
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36. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 36. HERBELTR
In January 2022, pursuant to a sale and purchase RZZZ_F—R  REFAEEE-HHRE
agreement entered into between the Group and a related REFETERNBB AR OB T -
company in which Mr. Sun is the director of the related AEEUARBITHREAENET —MA
company, the Group disposed of the entire equity interest of IR 2 ) 22 ERASRE - PRS- AR EROM
a subsidiary for a cash consideration of RMB1. At the time BARHERYRER -
of disposal, the Group’s subsidiary was engaged in property
management.
2022
—E-—F
Notes HK$'000
izt FAET
Net assets/(liabilities) disposed of: BHERE (AE)FE
Property, plant and equipment I EN YN 14 5
Prepayments, deposits and other TENFRIE « e REAM
receivables FEW IR 1,391
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 753
Other payables and accruals HAb BRI R EETIAR (805)
Due to related parties JE RS 5 508 (6,462)
Other tax payables HAb S TIA (64)
(4,182)
Exchange fluctuation reserve bE 5 R BN 373
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — IR B A R E 6 3,809
Satisfied by: AT A RER -
Cash Re =
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36. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) 36. HEMEBAT ()

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents HEERBARAENACRIREEE
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: R R oW
2022
—E-F
HK$’000
FET
Cash consideration ReERE =
Cash and bank balances disposed of BEHERE MIRTTH (753)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEEHE AR AR
respect of the disposal of HeRReEEY
a subsidiary T FRE (753)
* Less than HK$1,000 * DF1,00078 7T
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

37.

— = —

—

E vt B

—F+=A=+—H

& B &k 8 RMHEE

Major non-cash transactions (@ EXEREXH
Save as disclosed in notes 15, 16 and 19 to the MG IB I ER EEER TR
financial statements regarding the transfer from é MERAEFEREEENLHE
a portion of certain properties held for sale to EaBENEBHRERMES - 16
investment properties and additions of right-of- )3219)5)?%)32?5)%  REEREE
use assets and lease liabilities, the Group has no B =ENE - —F+— A
other major non-cash transactions of investing =+ —HIEFEWEEMRIZE
and financing activities during the years ended 31 EaEEe T ETH TR IR S
December 2023 and 2022. 5o
Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) EXERFTIHNABEH
activities
Due to related Bank and
parties and other
a shareholder* borrowings
PR A & HRITR
RERFRIE HAthfF R
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—F—HF—H 124,670 2,110,409
Changes from financing cash flows gt &R &R & 26,046 248,419
Interest expense FERE = 135,335
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36) HEWB AR (A7£36) (5,462) =
New lease (note 16) SHE(Haz16) = 3,110
Exchange realignment PE 5 % (2,847) (168,763)
At 31 December 2022 and P S—
1 January 2023 +-—A=+—HB8K
—E-_=F—HF—H 142,407 2,328,510
Changes from financing cash flows gt &R &R & (10,086) 183,786
Interest expense FERE = 145,867
Modification of financial liabilities TRAEERT
(notes 30(d)(), 30(e)(iii) (B1330(a)() ~ 30(e)(ii)) - (14,734)
New lease (note 16) FHEHE16) = 275
Exchange realignment b i, A (1,016) 7,124
At 31 December 2023 RZE—=F
+=A=+—H 131,305 2,650,828
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 37.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases within financing
activities included in the consolidated statement of
cash flows is HK$1,861,000 during the year (2022:
HK$2,127,000).

* Due to related parties and a shareholder are
included in other payables and accruals in note 29
to the financial statement.

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITY 38.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).

39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39.

The Group had the following capital commitments as at the
end of the reporting period:

ReBeNERMEE)

(c) HEMNRKRHAR
FARFESEAEESRERR
BEBHAMNEERS AL BAE
41,861,000 t(ZF ==
2,127,000/ 7C) °

© RN RREREEA
5202 At 3408 A
IR

BRAR
R-BE-_=F+-_A=+—08 ' K&
EEIMEARRBE( T =

=) o

BEAIE
RBERR - AREELATEAK
1

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$°000 HK$000
FETT FHET
Contracted, but not provided for: BETAERFHREE
Construction in progress for KEMERNEEERE
an investment property 70,301 169,279
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40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

40. FABEH R

(a)  The Group had the following material transactions (a) AEBEERFEAHBENTEARR
with related parties during the year: Z
2023 2022
—E-=F - S
Company name Nature of transactions Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
DR EH XHME Wizt FHET FET
Directors - controlled
entities:
E=EAER
Guorui Property Property management fee income 0] 25,814 24,807
Development
B 854 5 $h EE A 3 MEEEEIA
Heat supply and maintenance fee i 1,763 3,217
income
IR REEE WA
Car park management fee income 0] 2,843 656
FESEEERA
Service fee (ii) 77 81
R E
Beijing Guolong Property management fee income i 1,521 2,263
LR ERE WMEEBBIA
Heat supply and maintenance fee 0] 1,466 2,120
income
HEE R BEEERA
Gang Rui Interest paid and payable 7,30(c) 1,624 1,624
B BRI RERTE
IEREH/ N EEK Interest paid and payable 7 = =
BRATF BRI RERTHIE
IEREHNEER Rental income (i) 767 805
BRAR] AN
Vendors Interest paid and payable 7,31 2,227 1,500
(as defined in note 31(a))
E7 (E&AHMES1(@) BRI RERTFIE
It REREBERIREREAR  Rental income (i) 868 912

NG

T RHBRMBERAR

A7

HEWA
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—E =+ —_HA=+—H

40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

40. BABRSIEE(E)

(continued)
(a)  (continued) (@ (&)
2023 2022
—E-=F —Z-fF
Company name Nature of transactions Notes HK$°000 HK$000
NGRS XHE Kzt FET BT
Joint venture partner of a
subsidiary
HWRARZEEDRAEBA
Kunlun Trust Co., Ltd Interest paid and payable (iv) - 13,423
BRETEERAEERT B RERFE
Notes: Hfat -

U]

The Group provides property management services
to landlords of certain properties managed by the
Group, in which two directors of the Company
have beneficial interests. In return, the Group
receives property management service fees, heat
supply and maintenance service fees and car park
management service fees which were charged at
rates mutually agreed between the Group and the
landlords. During the year, the total fees received
by the Group from landlords in respect of these
services amounted to HK$33,407,000 (2022:
HK$25,558,000). These related party transactions
constitute continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Rental expense was charged to this related parties
for the lease of office premises at RMB1,480,000
(equivalent to HK$1,635,000) (2022: RMB1,480,000
(equivalent to HK$1,717,000)) during the year, on
a mutually agreed basis, which, in the opinion of
the directors, approximated to market rates. This
related party transaction constitutes an exempted
continuing connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(a)

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

(iv)

Service fee was charged to this related party for the
provision of rental related services at RMB66,000
(equivalent to HK$77,000) (2022: RMB66,000
(equivalent to HK$81,000)) during the year, on a
mutually agreed basis, which, in the opinion of
the directors, approximated to market rates. This
related party transaction constitutes an exempted
continuing connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In 2021, the Group accounted for the capital
injected by a joint venture partner into a fund
as a quasi-equity loan. During the year ended
31 December 2022, relevant quasi-equity loan
injected by the joint venture partner amounted to
RMB473,000,000 which bore interest at a fixed rate
of 8.9% per annum, the loan was fully repaid by the
Group during that year and the interest paid and
payable to a quasi-equity loan from a joint venture
partner of HK$13,423,000 was recognised as
finance costs for that year (note 7).

This related party transaction does not constitute
connected transactions of the Group as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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(iii FAKE S BHZEE S
BEHE 4L T = A8 B AR 7% M I
A R#66,0007T (HE %
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& TS EEEE o 2R
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R e

(iv) RZTZ—F AEEKE
ERRIEBANESEAN
BT RAEREER - &
E_EF4+HA=1—
HIEFE - 68 RRIEBA
EARMEBEREETRAA
R # 473,000,000 7C * % &
EFEFELI%TE » % E
HEBEANEERZFEEH
B mENfkENEEA
AlEB ANEREERRF L
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40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties
Save as disclosed above and the balances detailed
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had
no other material outstanding balances with related
parties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(c) Key management personnel of the Group are
directors of the Company, whose emoluments are
included in note 9 to the financial statements.

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

Other than equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss as disclosed at notes 18 and 24 to
the financial statements, respectively, all financial asset
and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and
2022 were financial asset and financial liabilities stated at
amortised cost, respectively.
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42.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 approximated to their fair
values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and lease
receivables, trade payables, financial asset included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables and other
assets, due to related parties, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals and the current portion of bank
and other borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial asset and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the
Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2023 were
assessed to be insignificant. The fair value of the liability
portion of the perpetual convertible bonds is estimated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using an
equivalent market interest rate for a similar convertible bond
with consideration of the Group’s own non-performance risk.
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 42, EMIAMLTFERLFE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL Bk (&)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy DFEBER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRETAESEeHTENATENZ
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: FA
Assets measured at fair value: BRATEFENEE :
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using
ATEHERA

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

REED S EXABE EBATTER

HBE BARE BARE

(B-%) (E=8R) (B=R) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Equity investment at fair value A FER ARt 2 E A
through other comprehensive  #Z1K% &
income 18,117 - - 18,117
Aprincipal-protected investment 1R A BT ABHHRREE
deposit at fair value through IEE
profit or loss - 11,261 - 11,261
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 42. EMIAMLTFERLTFE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL Bk ()

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) DFEEEBR(E)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued) BAFEFENEE  (B)

As at 31 December 2022 R-ZB-=H+=-A=+—8

Fair value measurement using
APEHREA

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

REBRMS EXUBE EATTER

NRE BWARE BARE

(E-R) (E=R) (B=R) H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET T THET TET
Aprincipal-protected investment 1A F(E ABFHR AR E
deposit at fair value through PEE N
profit or loss - 11,496 - 11,496
The details of the valuation technique and the inputs used AR A EET ABRZN S REEE
in the fair value measurement of financial asset at fair value N ET B E RN R A BUREEES
through profit or loss have been disclosed in note 24 to the BB SRR M 24 5 5E o
financial statement.
During the year, there was no transfers of fair value RAEE  HEepmidENLRSRABER
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers = F—HEE—_HAFEESEZEY
into or out of Level 3 for both financial asset and financial WM FonEEASE(-F
liabilities (2022: Nil). T ) o
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43.

—E-—=Ff—-H=1+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and bank balances, equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, bank and other borrowings and
perpetual convertible bonds. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial asset and liabilities such as
trade and lease receivables, deposits and other receivables,
trade payables, other payables, receipts in advance and
amounts due from/(to) related parties.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below:

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates. Since HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group
does not have significant foreign exchange risk in respect of
its operations in the USA. However, owing to its significant
investments and operations in Mainland China and the UK,
the Group’s financial position and operating performance
can be affected significantly by movements in the RMB/HK$
and £/HK$ exchange rates.
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43.

31 December 2023

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bl IS ER R B R
—E-——Ff—H=1+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. MERBEEEREHERBEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#8)
Foreign currency risk (continued) SpeEmBE ()
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end TRHFEPERHEHRE = ERET
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in B O mMARERDEERHIBESER Y
the RMB and £ exchange rates, with all other variables held RENERT - NREER A RN (EE
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (arising from RMB BARBREFEAFENSR T E)HK
and £ denominated financial instruments). ENHY UK ©

Increase/

(decrease) (Increase)/ (Increase)/
in foreign decrease decrease
exchange in loss in loss

rate before tax before tax
SRR BiAIEE WA A
TH(FRE) (8BS g,/ md
2023 2022
—EBC=HE “E-F
% HK$’°000 HK$000
FET &
Year ended 31 December BEZE+t-A=1t—-HILEE

If HK$ weakens against RMB WEBTEARERE 5 (43,077) (24,606)
If HK$ strengthens against RMB WEBTEAREAE (5) 43,077 24,606
If HK$ weakens against £ BB BERE 5 (31,134) (30,089)
If HK$ strengthens against £ e BT EEAE () 31,134 30,089

Credit risk {5 A BS

Credit risk arises from the potential failure of the Group’s
counterparties to meet their obligations under property
management service agreements and rental agreements.
Credit risk exposure is minimised by undertaking transactions
with a large number of counterparties and conducting credit
reviews on prospective tenants. In addition, the Group
regularly reviews the recoverable amount of trade and lease
receivables to ensure that adequate provision for impairment
losses is made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

ERRREAEE 2R 5T AIBEREE
BITRENYEE IR RS W2 LKL %
& NZEEIMEL - AEBEEREAE
RGHUTETR G MY BERPETE
REE - BERARREE&E © 1o
AEBENEHELE S RBERRZ
AJ Ui 00 < B8 DA RE AR B4 1 A IR B S BE AT 1
RABERBERE - ~AKETFEEKR
S ERREREE -
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. MERBEEREEHERBER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#8)
Credit risk (continued) SRR (&)
With respect to credit risk arising from other financial AEFEMEMEETZRER® LR
asset of the Group, which mainly comprise cash and bank TEG N EMEWTIE  AEEABX
balances and other receivables, the Group’s exposure to EeMEENERRREERARZSEH
credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a B RARRBOENZETAENE
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these EE -
instruments.
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRIRERKREF ZERENE=ZEE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, EZENFTEHENSAEERM  FTEER
which is mainly based on past due information unless other AEHEN (RIFHEMEN A EDAEE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and TN BRASENRIER T ES) KR
year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2023 and —EC=EFRE_F+ZA=1+—
2022. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts of BRFEREREDE - FIZVINEEA
financial asset and the exposure to credit risk for the financial TREEMNEAMAENVEERE N
guarantee contracts. FERE -
As at 31 December 2023 R=-B-=F+=-H=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
TZEARE
HEEFE FERAREERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-Ka BoRE EE A% &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#7n TE7n TE7n T#7n TE7n
Trade and lease receivables ElE 5 RAERR - - - 170,033 170,033
Financial asset included in STATBE - iT& R E el
prepayments, deposits and TERSREE
other receivables 180,160 - - - 180,160
Restricted cash SREES 184,693 - - - 184,693
Cash and cash equivalents, not yet ~ B&RESZEN (k@)
past due 305,556 - - - 305,556
Guarantees given to banks in SRR THRESEER RN
connection with facilities granted to ~ BY& T 5 B TRENER
and drawn by BCEG - Not yet past ~ — & #ER
due 1,145,343 - - - 1,145,343
1,815,752 - - 170033 1,985,785
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

43. MERREEBRREE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#8)
Credit risk (continued) SR (|)
As at 31 December 2022 HR—EE-_—_F+=-HA=+—AH
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=faR%k
BEEESE FENRBREEES
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FlR& FoRE F-RRE Blea ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
Trade and lease receivables FWE 7 REERSN - - - 162,244 162,244
Financial asset included in STABNE « ;T2 REmER
prepayments, deposits and FENERAE
other receivables 174,234 - - - 174,234
Restricted cash RRHRE 4,324 - - - 4,324
Cash and cash equivalents, notyet ~ B4 RELZEM(HARE)
past due 349,182 - - - 349,182
Guarantees given to banks in T FETREEEER RIRIA
connection with faciities granted to ~ §E& T 5 MR TRERER
and drawn by BOEG - Not yet past ~ — R /AR
due 1,227,339 - - - 1,227,339
1,755,079 g - 16244 1917303

For trade and lease receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment, information is
disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial asset included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the financial
asset had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial asset, which
comprise amounts due from related parties and other
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and cash and bank balances, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments.

AR ERB BT AR RERN B
B RHEERRME @ BRENEER
FATsRaR I RE21

EATEN IR « ] & M E MR KR IER
eRMEENEELRYRAY  AYE
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—E-—=Ff—-H=1+—H

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. MERBEEREEHERBER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#8)
Liquidity risk i Bh R B

In light of the future business expansion of the Group, the
Group ensures that it maintains sufficient cash and credit
lines to meet its liquidity requirements and the estimated
future construction cost of the development of a parcel
of land in Culver City, the USA. The Group’s objective is
to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and
flexibility through cash receipts from the issue of shares, as
well as the strict control over its daily operating expenses.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, proceeds
from a share placement obtained, capital contributed
by shareholders and financing from a shareholder and
related parties by means of cash during the prior year
and the current year, respectively to finance certain of the
abovementioned planned development is expected to be

ENASBERREBR IR - AEERER
HUERSRANERE S MEE  LURRER
HECTFENNERRBIBMRE—5%
Tt 2 EETARRGRIER AR - AEBMHE
12258 A B TR (0 PTURER A0 38 & DA K2 Bk
BIEFIE A BEERATURERE NS
BUHEBEIENTE - A2FEER
B REBFERAFERMDESHE
FTi830E « BEITE K —B IR &k
FEBHRS A NETHRED B AAE
EREMAEN TS —FRRTHNET
MmErEIFEREES - At - AEETE
Higes RMNESTRRUREAEEK
BEBREELNREEERBESR

fulfilled by the Group after 2022. Accordingly, the Group i
expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the
Group’s operations and manage its liquidity position.

RERR - RBEREITRB A R
B AKESRAGENIHBRMA M

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows: ™
On demand
or within Over
1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total
RER
—F R —ZRE BBEF =5
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=&
+=A=+-H
Trade payables B S ENFIA 63,104 4,159 = 67,263
Other payables (excluding financial HiEANR (T eE
guarantee contracts) BITSEIRAHY) 219,389 - - 219,389
Bank and other borrowings AT R EALER
(excluding lease liabilities) (TREHERR) 926,731 1,097,807 1,269,665 3,294,203
Lease liabilities HEaRE 1,875 1,687 - 3,562
Liability component of perpetual KA B EHD
convertible bonds BEHs - - 59,003 59,003
Guarantees given to banks in Mt RETRESEEE
connection with facilities granted RHRE TS MRTT
to BCEG AR 1,145,343 - - 1,145,343
2,356,442 1,103,653 1,328,668 4,788,763
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. MHGEPREE B R RBR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#8)
Liquidity risk (continued) v n B (48 )
On demand
or within Over
1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total
RER,
—ELR —ERF [ =H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2022 R-EZZF
+=B=+—H
Trade payables B 5N FUR 88,759 - = 88,759
Other payables (excluding financial HihEMR (T
guarantee contracts) MBEREL) 225,061 = = 225,061
Bank and other borrowings RITREA BT
(excluding lease liabilities) (TEEHEEAR) 179,949 1,456,614 1,364,379 3,000,942
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,700 3,404 - 5,104
Liability component of perpetual KARBIREHH
convertible bonds BEHD - - 58,478 58,478
Guarantees given to banks in Mt RETREEEE
connection with facilities granted RHBE M E MiRTT
to BCEG REEER 1,227,339 - - 1,227,339
1,722,808 1,460,018 1,422,857 4,605,683
Capital management BXER

The primary objectives of the Group’ s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

AEBEAEENTIERBARELRE
BABRSERERELENGEN - I
HRRIEZNEARLLE - UXFEER M
EEEMBIRER -

AEBEBHEEARE  IRLOEBR
FIEEENRRISBRE B EL AR
BT AR EALLER  AEEEE
PR AR E - MRREREE
ARk BITHIGD - NEBEAZ E[SHN
RAIEZESERNR - REBE=ZT
TEFR-E-F+-RA=+—HI
FE - BEEERNER  BURERE
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by the adjusted capital. The Group’s policy is
to maintain a healthy ratio. Net debt includes trade payables,
bank and other borrowings, other payables and accruals,
less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes perpetual
convertible bonds and equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:

43. MEERREEBRRBE

(%)

BFEH(E)
AEEEREERFELRERELR - &
ERELRDREGFERAEARE
AETE - AEENBOR S EERFRED
b= - ERFEBEENESRR - R
TREMEREEMENRRARE
A REASRASEEY - EABRE
KA B 75 B AN A A IR FE A5
& o RIMEHRNEERBELRMT

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Trade payables e S IR 67,263 88,759

Bank and other borrowings IRITREHALE R 2,650,828 2,328,510

Other payables and accruals HiEN R RTEIRE A 245,955 247,152

Less: Cash and cash equivalents B REMREEEY (305,556) (349,182)

Net debt BT 558 2,658,490 2,315,239
Equity attributable to shareholders 782 R FE(G 25

of the Company 3,102,292 3,248,629

Liability component of perpetual KA A HRTE A

convertible bonds BEHD 45,283 57,245

Adjusted capital 4R JH BRI 3,147,575 3,305,874

Gearing ratio BEEBEX 84.5% 70.0%

44. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 44. LB E®E#E

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation and disclosures.
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45.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

31 December 2023

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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45. FLATHMBIK AR

BRAARRNREHRNTBAREKRD

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BRI
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment YE - BB MEE 321 558
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,166 2,203
Interests in subsidiaries AR IEPNGIL L 1,125,304 1,125,587
Due from subsidiaries R lEVNGIE e 180,490 180,490
Equity investment at fair value BRAFEFAEMEER
through other comprehensive WasrEm R &
income 18,117 -
Total non-current assets IEMEN B E R 1,325,398 1,308,838
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Loans to subsidiaries REFHBRIINERK 454,284 454,284
Due from subsidiaries FEURB B A Rl FIE 837,103 748,931
Due from related parties JE Lk S 75 SRR 457 457
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTFIE - AT R EA
receivables FEUW R IE 1,764 1,782
Cash and cash equivalents HEeRBEEEY 76,182 126,969
Total current assets BN EEBRE 1,369,790 1,332,423
CURRENT LIABILITIES REARS
Other payables and accruals EAEN SRR TERRE R 972 2,698
Due to a shareholder e — R EFIE 1,374 1,353
Due to a subsidiary AL NG 318 318
Other borrowings HAbEK 1,123 1,068
Total current liabilities mEaEaET 3,787 5,437
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 1,366,003 1,326,986
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT ¥EEAERREBEE
LIABILITIES 2,691,401 2,635,824
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45.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 45.

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

F LT MBI R (])

2023 2022
—E_=fF T CF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Due to subsidiaries FERTB B A R IE 30,730 30,738
Other borrowings EAhfEmR 89,274 88,773
Liability component of perpetual KA R PE S
convertible bonds BEHD 46,823 57,245
Total non-current liabilities EREEEREE 166,827 176,756
Net assets BEFR 2,524,574 2,459,068
EQUITY =
Share capital &4 3,152,571 3,152,571
Equity component of perpetual KA AR E A
convertible bonds D 1,172,244 1,172,244
Reserves (note) (M az) (1,800,241) (1,865,747)
Total equity AR 2,524,574 2,459,068

Wei Chunxian

e

Director

EF
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Director
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31 December 2023

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

46.

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IS SRR EE

—E-——Ff—H=1+—H

45. ERTFRIMBIRAER(8)

Bfat - ARAEEMELT

Share
Capital option Investment  Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve losses Total
ERfHE BRERE RERRE ZitER &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tir T FiEr FiEr
A 1 January 2022 R-Z-—%£-F-A (625,499) - - {47178 (1,72676)
Loss for the year and total AEEFBRAEREE
comprehensive loss for the year ERGE = = = (93,071) (98,071)
At 31 December 2022 and RZZ-ZF+-A=+-8Rk
1 January 2023 —E-=f-f-H (625,498) - - (1,240,249) (1,865,747)
Profit for the year EERF - - - 60,938 60,938
Other comprehensive loss for the year:  AEEEMPEEE
Change in fair value of equity BAHE AR M2AREN
investment at fair value through BRRANTEED
other comprehensive income - - (2,011) - (2,011)
Total comprehensive income AERRENAESE
for the year - - (2,011) 60,938 58,927
Equity-settled share option agresment b IE A E R R R - 6,579 - - 6,579
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+-f=1—-H (625,498) 6,579 (2,011) (1,179,311) (1,800,241)
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 46. RI¥EiRFTAOHLHE

STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024.

ZEVBHREN_Z_MF=A=+N

HRESRBELHERM -
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

Y =31

Location

i B

Use

5ik:S

Lease term

HEHY

Attributable
interest of the
Group

EER
AEENER

Completed investment properties

EEMRENE

Juxon House

100 St Pauls Churchyard
LLondon, EC4M 8BU

the United Kingdom

Portion of Building

No. 2 of Kingdom Guorui

No. 1 Ronghua South Road
Beijing Economic Technological
Development Area

Beijing

the PRC

LR

BRI R

RER K196

BiH o« ©TEAE2IEMNES

2300-2320 Wilshire Blvd.
Santa Monica

CA 90403

the USA

Investment properties under construction

EEPREWE

10375 Washington
Redevelopment Site

10375 Washington Boulevard
Culver City, Los Angeles Country
CA 90232

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

CES

Residential/
Commercial

ERVE-ES

Residential/
Commercial
(ERV e
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Long term lease
REIEL

Medium term lease

R ERREAY

Not applicable
iR

Not Applicable
NiE R

100%

100%

100%

100%



FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFEMBRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and total equity x5 [E38 & A (@ B E &4 @ B TR M E R
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the  REEZIABRERES - BE - BENERS
published annual report and audited financial statements, is set out ~ A5tAYHEL | :

below:
RESULTS Rim
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
TR T T ZTCTF —T-NF
HK$000 HK$'000  HK$000  HKE000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue g A 352,640 352,276 1,180 322,026 373,327
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR REERF (FE)
THE YEAR (129,307)  (320,126) 208,427 680 98,082
Attributable to: HER
Shareholders of the Company RARRE (129,307)  (320,126) 207,625 552 98,599
Non-controliing interests IR - - 802 128 (517)

(129,307) (320,126) 208,427 680 98,082
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AEMBHE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND TOTAL EQUITY

BE  ARMERSH

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

—ECZE —E--F —T-F —T-TFE —T-NE

HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000

FET FET FET BT FET

Total assets BEBE 6,412,623 6,240,058 6,894,934 6,702,004 6,306,456

Total liabilities BfEEH (3,310,331) (2,991,429) (3,031,360) (3,112,688) (2,869,659)

NET ASSETS EEFE 3,102,292 3,248,629 3,863,574 3,589,316 3,436,797
Equity attributable to: BN NS a0

Shareholders of the Company ZAN/NET[ 3 3,102,292 3,248,629 3,863,574 3,565,947 3,414,919

Non-controlling interests Elaiyr Ty - - - 23,369 21,878

TOTAL EQUITY A 3,102,292 3248629 3,863,574 3,589,316 3,436,797
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